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Millions, except per share amounts  2006  2005 % change

Sales and Earnings Sales $ 1,230 $ 1,181 4%
 Operating income before gain on sale of 
    New Zealand timber assets  222  183 21%
 Operating income  230  220 5%
 Income from continuing operations  171  208 -18%
 Net income  176  183 -4%

Financial Condition Total assets $ 1,963 $ 1,839 7%
 Total debt  659  559 18%
 Book value  916  892 3%

Cash Flow Cash provided by operating activities $ 307 $ 254 21%
 Capital expenditures  105  85 24%
 Adjusted EBITDA  370  353 5%
 Cash available for distribution  178  169 5%
 Dividends  144  129 12%

Outstanding Shares of Common Stock   76.9  76.1 1%

Per Share Income from continuing operations $ 2.19 $ 2.68 -18%
 Net income  2.26  2.36 -4%
 Book value  11.92  11.72 2%

Performance Ratios Operating income to sales  19%  19% 
 Return on equity  19%  25% 
 Return on assets  9%  11% 
 Debt to capital  42%  39% 
 Debt to market capital  17%  16% 

Financial Highlights
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 Founded in 1926, Rayonier is a leading international forest products company with three core 

businesses: Timber, Real Estate and Performance Fibers. 

We own, lease or manage nearly 2.7 million acres of timber and land in the U.S., New Zealand and 

Australia. The company’s holdings include 200,000 acres of real estate with residential and commercial 

development potential in the rapidly growing coastal counties along the Interstate 95 corridor between 

Savannah, Georgia, and Daytona Beach, Florida. Our Performance Fibers business is the world’s 

leading producer of high-value specialty cellulose fi bers. Approximately 40 percent of Rayonier’s sales 

are outside the U.S. to customers in 50 countries. The company is structured as a Real Estate 

Investment Trust (REIT). As a timber REIT, the taxable portion of our dividend is treated as a long-

term capital gain.

About Rayonier
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To Our Shareholders  From the Chairman:

On March 1, 2007, Lee Thomas succeeded me as President 

and CEO, and will also assume the Chairman’s role when 

I retire from the Board June 30, 2007. As the President 

and COO of Georgia-Pacifi c until its acquisition by Koch 

Industries in December 2005, and as the former 

Administrator of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 

Lee has a wealth of high-level management experience. 

We were delighted when he joined our Board in June 2006 

and even more pleased when he agreed to lead Rayonier. 

Since 2006 was on my watch, let me review highlights of 

the year and the strategies we implemented to help position 

the company for the future. Lee Thomas will follow with a 

few thoughts.

Rayonier prides itself on producing consistently strong 

earnings and cash fl ow, and 2006 was no exception. Once 

again, we had a very good year, with improved results 

from each of our three core businesses – Timber, Real Estate 

and Performance Fibers. We also took steps to further 

strengthen our company:

• In Timber, we increased our geographic footprint with the 

purchase of 230,000 acres in six states and are now the 5th 

largest private timberland holder in the U.S. 

• In Real Estate, as part of our strategy to continue moving 

up the value chain, we entered into our fi rst “participa-

tion” arrangements with two premier regional developers in 

Northeast Florida.

Once again, we had a very good 

year with strong earnings and 

cash fl ow as well as improved 

results from each of our three core 

businesses. We expect 2007 to 

be another strong year.
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2002     2003     2004    2005    2006

Operating
Income*

$130

$106

$173
$183

$222

(dollars in millions)

Continued strong demand and
higher prices in all our core
businesses translated into strong 
operating results.

* Excludes gains on sale of New Zealand
timber assets in 2005 and 2006.

2002     2003     2004    2005    2006

Earnings per Share from
Continuing Operations

$0.85 $0.82

$2.09

$2.68

$2.19

(dollars per share)

EPS decreased 18 percent due primarily 
to the absence of the gain on sale of 
New Zealand timberlands and income
tax benefits realized in 2005. 

2002     2003     2004    2005    2006

Adjusted
EBITDA

$307

$265

$330
$353

$370

(dollars in millions)

Adjusted EBITDA has risen steadily 
since 2003. This non-GAAP measure
is defined and reconciled on pages
18 and 19. 

• In Performance Fibers, capitalizing on continued very 

strong markets for our technically superior, high-value 

specialty cellulose fi bers, we secured contracts into 2011 for 

approximately 2 million tons worth more than $2 billion.  

Operations Overview

Net income was $1.99 per share compared to $1.57 in 

2005 (excluding special items). Cash provided by operating 

activities of $307 million was $53 million above that of 

2005 due to higher operating income and reduced working 

capital. Cash Available for Distribution (CAD) increased $9 

million to $178 million, easily covering our 2006 dividend 

payout of $144 million, or 81 percent of CAD. Our timber-

land acquisitions increased debt $100 million to $659 million 

and our debt-to-capital ratio to 41.8 percent from 38.5 

percent. 

The lone negative in our operating results was Wood Prod-

ucts which, after several strong years, suffered a small loss 

due to extremely poor markets. 

Strength and Balance

Our consistently strong earnings and cash fl ow are driven 

by the mix of our core businesses. Each profi t center 

has unique features which provide strength, economic 

stability and balance to our fi nancial performance. 

As examples, with 2.7 million acres owned or under 

management in the U.S. South, Northwest, New York, New 

Zealand and Australia, our Timber business operates in 

geographically and economically diverse markets. Despite a 

national slowdown in housing, our Real Estate business 

continues to benefi t from the sheer volume, quality and 

location of our properties in markets that are more stable 

than most. And, our Performance Fibers business has 

always benefi ted from its position as the world’s leading 

supplier to the stable high-margin niche market for specialty 

cellulose fi bers.

Timber

By adding high-quality properties in 2006 to our tax-effi cient 

REIT structure, we expanded our geographic diversity and 

harvest fl exibility and increased cash fl ow. All of our timber 

holdings are carefully managed to ensure sustainability and 

improve per-acre yields. Last year, our Georgia nursery cel-

ebrated its 50th anniversary and the production of nearly 1 

billion tree seedlings. Fifty years ago, our forests yielded 2.5 

tons of fi ber per acre/year. Thanks to advances in forestry 

and genetics, seedlings planted today will produce 6 tons 

per acre/year. 

In New Zealand, we partially monetized our timber 

investment by reducing our ownership in a 351,000-acre 

joint venture from 49.7 percent to 40 percent, realizing 

$22 million in net cash proceeds. However, we continue to 

be the principal owner and manage the timberland.

While we will continue to opportunistically pursue timber-

land, our near-term focus is on assimilating the acreage we 

acquired in 2006. 

Real Estate 

Our timber purchases last year also provided signifi cant 

“like-kind-exchange” benefi ts that enabled us to tax-

effi ciently build our real estate subsidiary with properties 

that have become more valuable for development than for 



2002     2003     2004    2005    2006

Cash Available for
Distribution per Share

$2.65

$1.46

$2.47
$2.22 $2.31

(dollars per share)

Cash available for distribution remained
robust, reflecting strong operating results.
This non-GAAP measure is defined and
reconciled on pages 18 and 19. 

2002     2003     2004    2005    2006

Return
on Equity

7.6% 7.5%

21.1%

24.5%

18.9%

(percent)

Return on equity continues to be
well above the industry average.

2002     2003     2004    2005    2006

Regular
Dividend

$40 $44

$111

$129

$144

(dollars in millions)

Dividends increased $15 million due to a 
10 percent rise in the annual per share 
dividend to $1.88, up from $1.71 in 2005. 

2004 was our first year as a REIT. 
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growing timber. With approximately 200,000 acres in the 

high-growth coastal counties between Savannah, Georgia, 

and Daytona Beach, Florida, we do not believe any other 

private landowner in the region has our quantity and quality 

of higher-value properties. 

As noted earlier, in 2006 we entered into our fi rst “participa-

tion” agreements with premier regional developers on two 

projects in Northeast Florida. These transactions not only 

provided immediate revenues, but enable us to participate in 

future proceeds from sales of building lots and homes. 

Our strategy is to increase our participation in these types of 

arrangements to further improve shareholder value and the 

predictability of our earnings. 

Performance Fibers  

Markets in 2006 continued to be robust, particularly for 

our high-value, technically demanding Cellulose Special-

ties grades, providing strong earnings and cash fl ow. This 

demand, along with our highly regarded customer support 

services, enabled us to obtain unprecedented long-term 

contracts into 2011 with the world’s largest producers 

of acetate-based products and other key customers for 80 

percent of that production. These agreements represent 

approximately 2 million metric tons and more than $2 

billion in revenues.  

In 2006, Cellulose Specialties accounted for 74 percent of 

Performance Fibers revenues, while sales volume rose to 64 

percent, up from 55 percent in 2000. Our focus is on 

further enhancing product mix through innovative process 

improvements and aggressively driving down costs. Since 

2004, for example, employees at our two mills have 

identifi ed and completed 59 separate projects with annual 

savings exceeding $50 million.

Looking Ahead 

We expect 2007 to be another strong year. While the 

housing slowdown has put near-term pressure on real 

estate markets and to some extent on timber, the impact 

should be offset by the strength of our Performance Fibers 

business – once again demonstrating the balance our core 

businesses provide.

On a personal note, after 40 years with Rayonier, it is hard 

for me to realize that the company soon will no longer be 

part of my daily routine – although I will remain a very inter-

ested shareholder. It has been my privilege to have served 

as President since 1996 and as Chairman, President and 

CEO since 1999. While I am very proud of Rayonier’s 

performance during my leadership years, I know that our 

success is due to a culture of quality and excellence that 

dates to our founding in 1926 and to a team of creative 

and committed employees who embrace that culture. I am 

confi dent this combination of company culture and talented 

employees will ensure a seamless transition to Lee 

Thomas and that under his guidance Rayonier will continue 

to consistently deliver superior returns to shareholders.

W. L. Nutter 

Chairman

March 15, 2007
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From the President and CEO:

When I was invited to join Rayonier’s Board of Directors in 

June 2006, I enthusiastically accepted because I was 

familiar with Rayonier’s long-held reputation as one 

of the top-performing companies in the forest products 

industry. 

Since joining the Board, my admiration for Rayonier has only 

grown. I have had the opportunity to review the company’s 

strategic plans, visit operations, and interact with many 

of our highly professional and dedicated employees. I am 

impressed with Rayonier’s results-driven culture developed 

over its 80-year history, its innovative timber REIT structure 

and strategic focus on three strong core businesses. The 

company’s record of success is a real tribute to Lee Nutter 

and the entire Rayonier team.

What I have learned about Rayonier in my short time 

with the company gives me great confi dence in the future. 

I am truly honored and excited to have been given the 

opportunity to lead a company so highly regarded by its 

investors and peers in the forest products and REIT 

industries and which has so much potential. 

Lee M. Thomas

President and Chief Executive Offi cer

March 15, 2007

I am truly honored and excited 

to have been given the opportunity 

to lead a company so highly 

regarded by its investors and 

peers in the forest products and 

REIT industries and which has 

so much potential. 



Strength And Balance

Rayonier’s strategic focus on three well-positioned core businesses, coupled with 

our structure as a Real Estate Investment Trust, provides strength and balance throughout 

the economic cycle.

Real Estate

6
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Rayonier’s unique mix of core businesses 

consistently yields solid earnings and strong cash 

fl ow. Well-positioned with quality products that 

serve geographically diverse markets, these three 

somewhat counter-cyclical businesses provide 

strength, stability and balance over the economic 

cycle. 

The foundation of Rayonier is our Timber 

business. The vast acreage we own, lease or 

manage in nine U.S. states, New Zealand and 

Australia encompasses a diversity of softwood 

and hardwood tree species and end markets. 

Prospects for our Real Estate business are very 

bright due to the large quantity, high quality 

and exceptional location of our properties in the 

rapidly growing coastal counties of Northeast 

Florida and Southeast Georgia. 

The continuing strength of our Performance 

Fibers business comes from our long-held 

position as the world’s leading supplier of the 

highest value and most technically demanding 

specialty cellulose fi bers. Nearly two-thirds 

of our production now goes into these stable 

markets. 

Further contributing to our strength and success 

is the tax-effi cient REIT structure we converted 

to in 2004 which enhances our ability to grow and 

continue delivering superior value to 

shareholders.

Performance Fibers
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Timber

The foundation of Rayonier is our extensive 

timber holdings. To maximize returns, we 

manage our timberlands as a standalone profi t 

center, selling harvestable timber at auction. 

This business model, supported by an intensive 

research and forest management program to 

continually increase per-acre yields, results in 

consistently strong cash fl ow and earnings. As 

a REIT, the income from timber sales is not taxed 

at the corporate level, enabling us to distribute 

larger dividends to shareholders.

In 2006, to grow this business, we purchased 

230,000 acres in six states and are now the 5th 

largest U.S. timberland owner with approximately 

2.2 million acres in nine states. In addition to 

increasing our geographic footprint and market 

diversity, these acquisitions provided signifi cant 

like-kind-exchange tax benefi ts allowing us to 

tax-effi ciently stock our real estate subsidiary 

with properties that have become more valuable 

for development than for growing timber.

We will continue to pursue growth opportunities 

prudently. Our near-term focus is on integrating 

into our operations the high-quality timberlands 

we purchased last year. 

After acquiring 230,000 acres in 2006, Rayonier is now the 5th largest 

timberland owner in the U.S with approximately 2.2 million acres 

in nine states. 
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Rayonier’s U.S. forests have 

been certifi ed by Bureau 

Veritas Quality International 

as being managed in a way 

that ensures sustainability and 

protects water and wildlife. 

Strength And Balance
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Real Estate

Changing demographics, particularly in the 

Southeast U.S., continue to make thousands of 

acres of Rayonier’s extensive timberland far 

more valuable for residential and commercial 

development, recreation, conservation or for public 

infrastructure than for growing timber. In fact, we 

have a remarkable 200,000 acres in the rapidly 

growing coastal counties along the Interstate 95 

corridor between Savannah, Georgia, and 

Daytona Beach, Florida. These high-value 

properties are increasingly in demand by develop-

ers, conservation groups and public agencies.

Our real estate subsidiary, TerraPointe, is focused 

on acquiring these well-located parcels and 

adding further value through property entitlements 

or partnering with premier developers. In 

2006, as part of our strategy to move up the 

real estate value chain, we entered into our fi rst 

partnerships with two highly regarded regional 

developers. In addition to receiving partial 

payment for our property at closing, we also 

have the opportunity to share in future revenues 

from home and lot sales. Going forward, we 

expect to aggressively pursue similar 

arrangements, as they not only unlock value 

and enhance shareholder returns, but also 

provide greater earnings stability.

Rayonier owns 200,000 acres of high-value properties in the rapidly 

developing coastal counties along the Interstate 95 corridor between 

Savannah, Georgia, and Daytona Beach, Florida.
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As part of our strategy to 

move up the real estate 

value chain and maximize 

shareholder returns, we 

intend to enter into additional 

partnerships with premier 

regional developers.

Strength And Balance
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Performance Fibers

As the world’s leading supplier of high-value, 

technically demanding specialty cellulose fi bers, 

our Performance Fibers segment provides strong 

cash fl ow and stability of earnings enjoyed by 

few others in our industry. Due to very strong 

demand, last year we secured long-term 

contracts into 2011 for approximately 80 percent 

of our premium Cellulose Specialties production, 

representing nearly 2 million metric tons and 

more than $2 billion in revenues.

We continue to focus on process effi ciencies to 

expand production of our highest value products.  

Since 2000, we have creatively and cost-

effectively increased Cellulose Specialties produc-

tion by 85,000 tons, or 22 percent, and these 

products now account for 64 percent of 

Performance Fibers volume and 74 percent of 

sales. We also continue to target our capital 

expenditures on high-return cost-reduction 

opportunities. At year-end our Fernandina (FL) 

mill brought online a $29 million environmentally 

friendly boiler that uses biomass instead of fossil 

fuels. This project eliminates the use of 

approximately 200,000 barrels of oil per year and 

reduces overall costs by $13 million annually. 

Since 2004, teams of employees at our two mills 

have implemented 59 separate projects that 

provide annual savings of $50 million. 

In 2006, we secured long-term contracts into 2011 for 80 percent of 

our most valuable production, specialty cellulose fi bers, representing 

approximately 2 million tons and more than $2 billion in revenue.
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Our specialty cellulose fi bers 

are used by customers in 

approximately 50 countries 

to make LCD screens for 

televisions and computers, 

pharmaceuticals, paints, 

cosmetics, textiles, cigarette 

fi lters, impact-resistant 

plastics and food products.

Strength And Balance  
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Rayonier at a Glance
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 Rayonier owns, leases or manages nearly 2.7 million 
acres in the U.S., New Zealand and Australia. 
We grow and sell timber for use in a wide variety of 
markets, including pulp, paper, lumber and other 
wood products. Included in the total are long-term 
agreements to provide forest management and 
marketing services to timber owners of 114,000 acres 
in Australia and New Zealand. 

 Location Holdings
Southern U.S. 1,693,000 acres of 
 Southern pine and 
 hardwood
Northwest U.S. 370,000 acres of Western
 hemlock and Douglas fi r
New York 75,000 acres of hardwood
New Zealand* 351,000 acres of primarily
 radiata pine

Timber

 Some of our timberlands in the Southeast U.S. 
have become much more valuable for development, 
recreation or conservation than for timber production, 
especially along the rapidly growing coastal corridor 
between Savannah, Georgia, and Daytona Beach, 
Florida, where we own 200,000 acres. Our real estate 

subsidiary, TerraPointe LLC, is focused on acquiring 
additional blocks of Rayonier timberland and 
maximizing the value of these properties through 
entitlements, infrastructure additions and joint 
development opportunities.

Real Estate

 We manufacture high-value Performance Fibers for 
customers around the world. Rayonier is the 
leading manufacturer of cellulose specialty fi bers used 
in products such as textiles, digital display screens, 
cigarette fi lters, paints, impact-resistant plastics, fi lm, 
pharmaceuticals, cosmetics and food products. 
Our absorbent material fi bers are used in a wide 
variety of disposables such as diapers, feminine care 
and incontinence products.      

 Mills Capacity
Jesup, GA 590,000 Metric Tons
Fernandina  150,000 Metric Tons
   Beach, FL 
 

Performance
Fibers

 We produce and sell lumber products 
to domestic and export markets. 

 Lumber Mills Capacity
Baxley, GA 180 Million Board Feet
Swainsboro, GA 120 Million Board Feet
Eatonton, GA   90 Million Board Feet

Other
Businesses

 Rayonier is a trader of softwood logs, with particular 
expertise in Pacifi c Rim markets.

Areas of sourcing are North America, New Zealand, 
Australia and Chile.

Wood
Products

Trading

15     

43%
Southeast U.S. 

53%
Northwest U.S. 

4%
New Zealand 

64%
Development 

33%
Rural 

3%
Other

42% U.S./Canada

25% Europe

13% Japan

10% China

5% Other Asia

4% Latin America

1% Other

Real Estate
Revenues

Performance
Fibers Sales
by Destination

Timber
Revenues

*  Rayonier has a 40 percent equity interest in this 
joint venture and manages the timberlands.
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Richard D. Kincaid, 45, is 
the former President, Chief 
Executive Officer and a trustee 
of Equity Office Properties Trust, 
the nation’s largest real estate 
investment trust. Previously, 
Mr. Kincaid was Senior Vice 
President of Finance for Equity 
Group Investments, Inc. and 
also held positions with Barclays 
Bank PLC and The First National 
Bank of Chicago. Mr. Kincaid 
serves as a director of Vail 
Resorts, Inc. He is a graduate 
of Wichita State University and 
the University of Texas Graduate 
School of Business.

Paul G. Kirk, Jr., 69, is 
affiliated with the law firm of 
Sullivan & Worcester. Mr. Kirk 
is Chairman, President and a 
director of Kirk & Associates, 
Inc. and Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of the John F. 
Kennedy Library Foundation. 
He served as Chairman of the 
Democratic National Committee 
from 1985 to 1989. Mr. Kirk also 
serves as Co-Chairman of the 
Commission on Presidential 
Debates and is a director 
of The  Hartford Financial 
Services Group, Inc., and Cedar 
Shopping Centers, Inc. He is a 
graduate of Harvard College and 
Harvard Law School. 

James H. Hance, Jr., 62, is 
the retired Vice Chairman and 
director of Bank of America 
Corporation, where he served as 
the Chief Financial Officer until 
2004. He is a member of the 
Boards of Directors of Cousins 
Properties Incorporated, 
Sprint Nextel Corporation and 
Duke Energy Corporation. 
He is a graduate of Westminster 
College and the Washington 
University Graduate School of 
Business.

Thomas I. Morgan, 53, is 
the retired President and Chief 
Executive Officer of Hughes 
Supply, Inc., a diversified 
wholesale distributor of 
construction and industrial 
materials. He joined Hughes 
in 2001 as President and 
Chief Operating Officer and 
was appointed President 
and Chief Executive Officer 
in 2003. Previously, Mr. 
Morgan was Chief Executive 
Officer of EnfoTrust Network, 
Value America and US Office 
Products. He serves as a 
director of ITT Educational 
Services, Inc., Waste 
Management, Inc. and Tech 
Data Corporation. Mr. Morgan 
is a graduate of the University of 
Tennessee.

C. David Brown, II, 55, is 
Chairman of the Florida law firm 
Broad and Cassel. He joined 
Broad and Cassel in 1980 and 
has been Chairman since 2000. 
Mr. Brown is on the Board of 
Directors of Caremark Rx, Inc. 
and is also a member of the 
University of Florida Board of 
Trustees.  He is a graduate of 
the University of Florida and the 
University of Florida College 
of Law. 

Ronald M. Gross, 73, is 
Chairman Emeritus and former 
Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer. He joined Rayonier in 
1978 as President and Chief 
Operating Officer and a director 
and was elected Chief Executive 
Officer in 1981 and Chairman in 
1984. Upon his retirement, he 
was named Chairman Emeritus. 
Mr. Gross is a graduate of Ohio 
State University and the Harvard 
University Graduate School of 
Business Administration.

Carl E. Kraus, 59
Senior Vice President, Finance, 
Rayonier; 
Chief Investment Officer, 
TerraPointe (1)

Charles Margiotta, 54
Senior Vice President, 
Business Development, 
Rayonier; 
President, TerraPointe (30)

Hans E. Vanden Noort, 48
Senior Vice President and 
Chief Accounting Officer (5)

Board of Directors

W. Lee Nutter, 63
Chairman (39)

Lee M. Thomas, 62
President and Chief 
Executive Officer (*)

Paul G. Boynton, 42
Senior Vice President, 
Performance Fibers (8)

Timothy H. Brannon, 59
Senior Vice President, 
Forest Resources and 
Wood Products (34)

W. Edwin Frazier, III, 49
Senior Vice President, 
Administration and Corporate 
Secretary (8)

Corporate Officers
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Lee M. Thomas, 62, was 
elected President and Chief 
Executive Officer effective March 
1, 2007. He was President 
and Chief Operating Officer of 
Georgia-Pacific from 2002 until 
his retirement in 2005. Prior to 
joining Georgia-Pacific in 1993, 
Mr. Thomas was Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer of 
Law Companies Environmental 
Group Inc. from 1989-1993 
and Administrator of the U.S. 
Environmental Protection 
Agency from 1985-1989. He 
serves on the boards of Airgas 
Inc., the Regal Entertainment 
Group, the Federal Reserve 
Bank of Atlanta, the National 
Merit Scholarship Corporation 
and the World Resource 
Institute. Mr. Thomas is a 
graduate of the University of 
the South and the University of 
South Carolina Graduate School 
of Education. 

Ronald Townsend, 65, is a 
communications consultant 
and retired President of Gannett 
Television Group. Mr. Townsend 
currently serves as a director 
of ALLTEL Corporation. He 
attended The City University of 
New York, Bernard Baruch.

Katherine D. Ortega, 72, 
is the former Treasurer of the 
United States. Ms. Ortega 
currently serves on the Boards 
of Directors of The Kroger 
Co., the Washington Mutual 
Investors Fund and JP Morgan 
Value Opportunities Fund and 
as a trustee of The American 
Funds Tax-Exempt Series I. She 
is a graduate of Eastern New 
Mexico University. 

Carl S. Sloane, 70, served as 
Co-Chairman of AlixPartners 
Holdings and Questor Partners 
Holdings. He is Professor 
Emeritus, Harvard University 
Graduate School of Business 
Administration and a trustee of 
Beth Israel Deaconess Medical 
Center. He is a director of 
The Brinks Company. He is a 
graduate of Harvard College 
and the Harvard University 
Graduate School of Business 
Administration. 

Board Committees

Audit Committee
Katherine D. Ortega, Chair 
C. David Brown, II
James H. Hance, Jr.
Thomas I. Morgan 
Carl S. Sloane 
Ronald Townsend

Finance Committee
James H. Hance, Jr., Chair 
Ronald M. Gross
Richard D. Kincaid
W. Lee Nutter 
Lee M. Thomas

Compensation and 
Management Development 
Committee
Thomas I. Morgan, Chair
Richard D. Kincaid
Paul G. Kirk, Jr.
Katherine D. Ortega

Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committee
   Carl S. Sloane, Chair
C. David Brown, II
Ronald M. Gross
Paul G. Kirk, Jr.
Ronald Townsend

W. Lee Nutter, 63, will serve 
as Chairman until his retirement 
from the Board June 30, 2007. 
He joined Rayonier in 1967 and 
was elected Vice President in 
1984, Senior Vice President in 
1986, Executive Vice President 
in 1987, and President and 
Chief Operating Officer and a 
director in 1996. He served as 
Chairman, President and Chief 
Executive Officer from 1999 
until March 1, 2007, when he 
became Chairman. Mr. Nutter 
serves on the Board of Directors 
of Republic Services, Inc., the 
J.M. Huber Corporation and is 
a member of the North Florida 
Regional Board of SunTrust 
Bank. He is a graduate of 
the University of Washington 
and the Harvard University 
Graduate School of Business 
Administration Advanced 
Management Program.

Jack M. Kriesel, 52
Vice President, Marketing and 
Strategic Sourcing (28)

Macdonald Auguste, 58
Treasurer (31)

Jay A. Fredericksen, 61
Vice President, 
Corporate Relations (30)

Michael R. Herman, 44
Vice President and 
General Counsel (4)

H. Edwin Kiker, 50
Vice President, 
Internal Audit (4)

( ) Years of service with Rayonier
Average length of service: 16 
years

(*) Less than one year

Parag Bhansali, 45
Vice President, 
Investor Relations (7)

William M. Burch, 46
Vice President and 
General Manager, 
Jesup Performance Fibers Mill 
(15)
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Eleven-Year Summary Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries

Dollar amounts in millions  2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Profitability
Sales  $1,230 $1,181 $1,163 $1,060 $1,080 $1,088 $1,196 $1,080 $1,051 $1,196 $1,271
Operating income before gain 
 on sale of New Zealand 
 timber assets  222 183 173 106 130 149 189 137 125 168 34
Operating income  230 220 173 106 130 149 189 137 125 168 34
Provision for dispositions  — (3) — — (3) — (15) — — — (125)a
Income from continuing 
 operationsb  171 208 160 53 54 55 78 69 63 87 —
Discontinued operations  5 (25) (3) (3) — 3 — — 1 — (98)c
Net income (loss)b  176 183 157 50 54 58 78 69 64 87 (98)
Common shares outstanding
 in thousands  76,880 76,093 74,966 73,528 62,364 61,527 60,986 61,667 62,477 63,638 65,886
Diluted net income (loss) 
 per shareb  2.26 2.36 2.05 0.77 0.86 0.93 1.25 1.09 0.99 1.32 (1.49)
Financial Condition
Total assets  $1,963 $1,839 $1,944 $1,840 $1,889 $2,040 $2,181 $2,302 $1,625 $1,623 $1,628
Total debt  659 559 659 618 653 865 991 1,158 514 453 464
Book value  916 892 803 711 710 709 680 656 641 633 623
Working capital  105 184 123 169 135 165 71 74 106 101 126
Current ratio  1.54 2.08 1.50 2.12 1.77 2.04 1.35 1.38 1.60 1.48 1.56
Cash Flow
Cash provided by operating 
 activities  $   307 $   254 $   292 $   201 $   246 $   222 $   287 $   218 $   143 $   241 $   236
Total capital expenditures  105 85 88 84 77 74 87 92 92 137 218
Depreciation, depletion
 and amortization  136 147 146 151 158 166 174 103 100 102 97
Cash dividends paid  144 129 111 105 40 39 39 36 35 35 34
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adjusted EBITDAc  $   370 $   353 $   330 $   265 $   307 $   329 $   380 $   249 $   232 $   251 $   111
Cash available for distributiond  178 169 185 107 165 154 196 — — — —
Performance Ratios
Operating income to sales  19% 19% 15% 10% 12% 14% 16% 13% 12% 14% 3%
Return on equitye  19% 25% 21% 7% 8% 8% 12% 11% 10% 14% —
Return on assetse  9% 11% 8% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 4% 5% —
Debt to capital  42% 39% 45% 47% 48% 55% 59% 64% 45% 42% 43%
Other
Number of employees  2,000 2,000 2,100 2,200 2,200 2,300 2,300 2,300 2,300 2,500 2,700
Timberlands and real estate, 
 in thousands of acres 
 (owned, leased or managed)  2,681 2,473 2,155 2,107 2,151 2,267 2,331 2,422 1,447 1,452 1,462

a) Includes a charge of $125 million ($79 million after tax) related to the closure of the Port Angeles pulp mill and write-off of other non-strategic assets. 
b)  Includes special items. See Form 10-K, Item 6, note (9) on page 20. 
c)  Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings from continuing operations before interest, taxes, depreciation, depletion, amortization, and the non-cash cost of real estate sold. 

See page 19 for reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure.
d)  Cash Available for Distribution (CAD) is defined as cash provided by operating activities less capital spending, adjusted for equity based compensation amounts, the tax benefit 

associated with certain strategic acquisitions, the change in committed cash and the proceeds from matured energy forward contracts. See page 19 for reconciliation of this non-
GAAP measure.

e)  Return on equity is calculated by dividing income from continuing operations by the average of the opening (1/1/xx) and ending (12/31/xx) shareholder’s equity for each 
period presented. Return on assets is calculated by dividing income from continuing operations by the average of the opening (1/1/xx) and ending (12/31/xx) total assets. 
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Dollar amounts in millions  2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Adjusted EBITDAa

Cash provided by operating 
 activities  $ 307 $ 254 $292 $201 $246 $222 $287 $218 $143 $241 $236
 Income tax 
  (benefit) expense  19 (17) (33) 6 16 26 29 29 26 33 (13)
 Interest, net  39 39 44 46 60 68 84 41 35 26 26
 Working capital (decreases) 
  increases  (2) 16 (37) 20 (10) 3 3 (38) 23 (28) (45)
 Other balance sheet 
  changes  7 61  64 (8) (5) 10 (23) (1) 5 (21) (93)

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 370 $ 353 $330 $265 $307 $329 $380 $249 $232 $251 $111

Cash Available for Distributionb

Cash provided by operating 
 activities  $ 307 $ 254 $292 $201 $246 $222 $287    
Capital spending, net  (105) (85) (88) (84) (76) (74) (86)   
Purchase of assets previously 
 leased  — — — (5) — — —    
Proceeds from matured forward 
 energy contracts  — 4 — — — — —
Change in committed cash  (19) 2 (4) — (2) 7 (5)     
Equity based compensation 
 adjustment/other  — (3) (4) (5) (2) (1) —     
LKE tax benefits on third
 party real estate sales*  (5) (3) (11) — (1) — —     

Cash Available for Distribution  $ 178 $ 169 $185 $107 $165 $154 $196 
Outstanding shares
 in thousands  76,880 76,093 74,966 73,528 62,364 61,527 60,986 
Cash Available for Distribution
 per share  $ 2.31 $2.22 $2.47 $1.46 $2.65 $2.50 $3.21 

    Performance  Wood   Corporate and   
Adjusted EBITDA by Segment  Timber Real Estate Fibers Products Other Eliminations Total

2002
Cash provided by operating activities    $     138  $   72  $    118  $     (4) $     11  $    (89) $    246 
Income tax expense     —    —     —     —     —    16      16 
Interest, net     —    —     —     —     —    60      60 
Working capital increases (decreases)     3    —    (13)    —      (8)     8    (10)
Other balance sheet changes      (3)   —      13    1      (3)    (13)     (5)

Adjusted EBITDA   $    138  $   72  $    118  $     (3) $     —  $    (18) $    307 

2003
Cash provided by operating activities    $    128  $    103  $     73  $    5  $     —  $    (108) $    201 
Income tax expense     —    —     —     —     —      6     6 
Interest, net     —    —     —     —     —    46      46 
Working capital (decreases) increases       (16)   (1)    3    2    2    30      20 
Other balance sheet changes      (3)   —     1     —      (1)   (5)     (8)

Adjusted EBITDA   $    109  $    102  $     77  $    7  $    1  $    (31) $    265 

2004
Cash provided by operating activities    $    126  $   84  $    126  $    22  $     18  $    (84) $    292 
Income tax benefit     —    —     —     —     —     (33)   (33)
Interest, net     —    —     —     —     —    44      44 
Working capital (decreases) increases      (6)    3      (3)    —    (10)    (21)   (37)
Other balance sheet changes     8     3     2     —      (1)   52      64 

Adjusted EBITDA   $    128  $   90  $    125  $    22  $    7  $    (42) $   330 

2005
Cash provided by operating activities    $  165  $  81 $  132 $  22  $ (4) $  (142) $   254 
Income tax benefit     —    —     —     —     —     (17)   (17)
Interest, net     —    —     —     —     —    39      39 
Working capital (decreases) increases      (4)   5  (2)   1    5   11  16
Other balance sheet changes      (14)   (7)   —    —    2   80  61

Adjusted EBITDA   $   147 $  79  $   130  $  23  $   3  $   (29) $   353 

2006
Cash provided by operating activities    $  158 $ 103 $  127 $ 6 $ 14 $  (101) $ 307 
Income tax expense     —    —     —   —     —   19  19
Interest, net        —    —     —   —     —   39  39 
Working capital (decreases) increases       (11)   —   25  (2)  (11)  (3)  (2)
Other balance sheet changes     (4)   —   1  —  (1)  11  7

Adjusted EBITDA    $    143 $ 103 $ 153 $ 4 $ 2 $ (35) $ 370

  *  Represents taxes that would have been paid if the company had not completed LKE transactions.

a)  Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of operating cash generating capacity of the company. 2006 and 2005 exclude the gain on sale of New Zealand timber assets.
b)  Cash Available for Distribution is a non-GAAP measure of cash generated during a period that is available for dividend distribution, repurchase of the company’s common shares, 

debt reduction and for strategic acquisitions net of associated financing.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures Rayonier Inc. and Subsidiaries
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Selected Financial Information

Performance Fibers
Price by Product Line 

20062005200420032002

$863

$555 $560 $604 $640 $612

$869
$925 $954

$1,053

(per metric ton) 

Cellulose Specialties 
Absorbent Materials 

Prices for our high-value cellulose
specialties rose for the fourth 
consecutive year, while absorbent 
material prices declined due to 
the sale of our EAM line. 

Cash Provided by
Operating Activities 

20062005200420032002

$246

$307

$201

$292

$254

(dollars in millions) 

Our core businesses consistently
generate strong cash flow. 

Cash Available for
Distribution 

20062005200420032002

$165
$178

$107

$185
$169

(dollars in millions) 

Cash Available for Distribution
reflected continued strong results
in our core businesses. 

Debt to Capital 

20062005200420032002

48%

42%

47%
45%

39%

(percent)

Debt increased in 2006 due to 
timberland acquisitions. 

Performance Fibers
Product Mix Sales
Volume 

20062005200420032002

435

271 273 266 276 272

435 453 470 474

(thousands of metric tons) 

Cellulose Specialties  
Absorbent Materials 

Volume remained the same while 
mix improved, increasing our 
high-value cellulose specialties 
to 64% of total volume.
 

Northwest U.S. Timber 
Price/Volume

20062005200420032002

$242

252
225

285
263 274

$248
$282

$371
$386

(dollars) 

Price per thousand board feet 
Volume in million board feet

Results improved due to 
higher demand.

Southeast U.S. Timber 
Price/Volume

20062005200420032002

$17.59

4881
4524 4291

4832 4740

$16.52
$17.89 $17.83 $18.55

(dollars) 

Price per short green ton 
Volume in thousand short
green tons

Volume decreased due to 
weak lumber markets while 
prices increased.

Performance Fibers
Operating Income and
Adjusted EBITDA 

20062005200420032002

$36

($3)

$47 $53

$80

(dollars in millions) 

Operating Income (loss) 
Adjusted EBITDA 

Improved mix and strong demand 
more than offset higher costs. 

$118

$77

$130

$153

$125

Timber Operating
Income and Adjusted
EBITDA

20062005200420032002

$76

$138

$109

$128

$147 $143

$52

$72
$87 $90

(dollars in millions) 

Operating Income 
Adjusted EBITDA 

Demand for our timber remained
strong and U.S. prices improved, 
producing higher operating income.
However, costs increased resulting 
in slightly lower Adjusted EBITDA.
 

Real Estate Operating
Income and Adjusted
EBITDA 

20062005200420032002

$47

$103

$87

$75$72

$90

$102

$79

$64

$89

(dollars in millions) 

Operating Income
Adjusted EBITDA 

Demand for our development 
properties was very strong. 
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PART I

When we refer to “we”, “us”, “our”, “the Company”, or “Rayonier”, we mean Rayonier Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries. References herein to “Notes to Financial Statements” refer to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of
Rayonier Inc. included in Item 8 of this Report.

Except for historical information, the statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are “forward-looking
statements” made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and other
federal securities laws. These forward-looking statements, which may include statements regarding anticipated earnings,
revenues, volumes, pricing, costs and other statements relating to Rayonier’s financial and operational performance and
business strategies, in some cases are identified by the use of words such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “expect”, “estimate”,
“believe”, “anticipate” and other similar language. The following important factors, among others, could cause actual results
to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements contained in this release; changes in global market
trends and world events; interest rate and currency movements; changes in key management personnel; fluctuations in demand
for, or supply of, cellulose specialty products, absorbent materials, timber, wood products or real estate and entry of new
competitors into these markets; adverse weather conditions affecting products or performance fibers, particularly for raw
materials such as wood, energy and chemicals; unexpected delays in the entry into or closing of real estate sale transactions;
changes in law, policy or political environment that might condition, limit or restrict the development of real estate; the ability
of the company to identify and complete timberland and higher-value real estate acquisitions; the company’s ability to continue
to qualify as a REIT; the ability of the company to complete tax-efficient exchanges of real estate; and implementation or
revision of governmental policies, laws and regulations affecting the environment, endangered species, timber harvesting,
import and export controls or taxes, including changes in tax laws that could reduce the benefits associated with REIT status.
For additional factors that could impact future results, please see Item 1A-Risk Factors. Rayonier assumes no obligation to
update these statements except as may be required by law. You are advised, however, to review any further disclosures we make
on related subjects in our Form 10-Q and Form 8-K reports to the SEC.

Item 1. BUSINESS

General

We are a leading international forest products company primarily engaged in activities associated with timberland
management, the sale and development of real estate, and the production and sale of high value specialty cellulose fibers. We
own, lease or manage approximately 2.7 million acres of timberland and real estate located in the United States, New Zealand
and Australia. We believe that Rayonier is the fifth largest private timberland owner in the U.S. Included in this property is over
200,000 acres of high value real estate located primarily along the coastal corridor from Savannah, Georgia to Daytona Beach,
Florida. We often refer to this as the “coastal corridor.” We also own and operate two specialty cellulose mills in the United
States. Our corporate strategy is to pursue strategic growth opportunities in our Timber segment, further develop the Real Estate
segment, and strengthen our position as a premier worldwide supplier of high value specialty cellulose products in the
Performance Fibers segment primarily through cost reduction investments and product enhancements. In addition, we
manufacture lumber in three sawmills in Georgia and engage in the trading of logs and wood products. For information on sales,
operating income and identifiable assets by reportable segment, see Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 3 — Segment and Geographical Information.

We originated as the Rainier Pulp & Paper Company founded in Shelton, WA in 1926. In 1937, we became “Rayonier
Incorporated,” a public company traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), until 1968 when we became a wholly-
owned subsidiary of ITT Corporation (ITT). On February 28, 1994, Rayonier again became an independent public company
after ITT distributed all of Rayonier’s Common Shares to ITT stockholders. Our shares are publicly traded on the NYSE under
the symbol RYN. We are a North Carolina corporation with executive offices located at 50 North Laura Street, Jacksonville, FL
32202. Our telephone number is (904) 357-9100.

Effective January 1, 2004, we restructured the Company as a real estate investment trust (REIT). Under this structure, we
are generally not required to pay federal income taxes on our earnings from timber harvest operations and other REIT-
qualifying activities contingent upon meeting applicable distribution, income, asset, shareholder and other tests. However, we
are subject to corporate taxes on built-in gains (the excess of fair market value over tax basis at January 1, 2004) on taxable
sales of property by our REIT during the first ten years following our election to be taxed as a REIT. Our principal businesses
are conducted through two entities. Our U.S. timber operations are conducted by a wholly-owned REIT subsidiary, Rayonier
Forest Resources, L.P. (RFR). Our non REIT-qualifying operations, which continue to pay corporate-level tax on earnings, are
held under our wholly-owned taxable subsidiary, Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. (TRS). These operations include our Performance
Fibers, Wood Products and trading businesses, as well as the sale and development of high value real estate (referred to as
higher and better use, or “HBU properties”).
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A significant portion of our acreage has become, or is emerging as, more valuable for development, recreational or
conservation purposes than for growing timber. To maximize the value of these properties, we expanded our focus from sales of
medium and large tracts of land to include more value-added activities such as seeking entitlements in participation with other
developers. Our real estate operations are considered a separate operating and reportable business segment.

In 2006, we acquired 228,000 acres of timberland in six states for an aggregate $272 million, which increased our
geographic footprint and species mix.

In 2005, we entered into a joint venture (JV) with RREEF Infrastructure, the global infrastructure investing arm of
Deutsche Asset Management, under which the JV purchased approximately 354,000 acres of New Zealand timberlands,
including 118,000 acres from Rayonier. Our initial investment of approximately $122 million, representing a 49.7 percent
equity interest, was made primarily by our REIT. In June 2006, AMP Capital Investors Limited, a subsidiary of the Australian
corporation AMP Limited, purchased a total interest in the JV of 35 percent, of which 9.7 percent was from Rayonier and the
remainder from RREEF, thereby reducing our investment in the JV from 49.7 percent to 40 percent. The JV’s timber harvest
operations are subject to New Zealand income taxes; however, they are REIT-qualifying and therefore we will generally not be
required to pay U.S. federal income taxes on our equity earnings. In addition to having an equity investment in the JV, we
manage its timberlands for which we receive a management fee.

Timber

Our Timber segment owns, leases or manages approximately 2.6 million acres of timberlands, sells standing timber
(primarily at auction to third parties) and delivered logs. See chart in Item 2 – Properties for additional information.

Timberland purchases in 2006 expanded our Southern U.S. timberland holdings to 1.7 million acres in Georgia, Florida,
Alabama, Oklahoma, Arkansas, Texas and Louisiana. Their proximity to pulp, paper and wood products facilities results in
significant demand for our timber. Approximately 50 percent of the timber harvest represents high-value timber sold primarily
to lumber and plywood mills. The balance is used for making pulp, paper, and oriented strand board. Softwoods are the
predominant species on our Southern U.S. timberlands and include loblolly and slash pine. Hardwoods on our Southern U.S.
timberlands include red oak, sweet gum, black gum, red maple, cypress, green ash, and black cherry.

In 2006, we also acquired approximately 75,000 acres of timberland in New York State, located within the boundaries of
the Adirondack State Park. The timber on this property is predominantly (90 percent) hardwood, including high-value black
cherry, sugar maple sawtimber and a variety of other species. Spruce, fir and hemlock are the predominant softwood species on
the property which are intermingled with the hardwood trees.

Our Northwestern U.S. timberlands are approximately 370,000 acres of primarily softwood second growth timber on the
Olympic Peninsula in Western Washington State with approximately 60 percent hemlock and the remainder Douglas fir,
western red cedar and spruce. Our hardwood timber stands consist principally of red alder and maple.

On June 30, 2006, we reduced the investment in our New Zealand JV from 49.7 percent to 40 percent. In addition to the
New Zealand JV, our New Zealand subsidiary also manages a 114,000 acre 50/50 softwood joint venture estate in Tasmania,
Australia owned by Forestry Tasmania and GMO, a U.S. based Timber Investment Management Organization (TIMO).

We use advanced forest management practices to maximize the value of our timberlands. The average rotation (harvest)
age for timber from the Southern U.S. (primarily Southern pine), is between 21 to 24 years. Our Southern U.S. timber is
primarily a mix of sawtimber and pulpwood with a higher concentration of sawtimber due to the 2006 timberland acquisitions.
The average harvest age for timber from the Northwestern U.S. (primarily hemlock and Douglas fir) is 50 years with a target
age of 40 years. Timber in the Northwest is primarily sawtimber. The average harvest age for the New York timberlands is
estimated to be between 60 to 80 years and is comprised of both pulpwood and sawtimber.

We manage timberlands in conformity with the requirements of the Sustainable Forestry Initiative® (SFI) program. A key
to success is the application of our extensive stand level silvicultural expertise for species selection, soil preparation,
fertilization, herbaceous weed control, pruning of selected species, and careful timing of the harvest, all of which are designed
to maximize value while complying with environmental requirements. Through such practices, we have increased volume per
acre of managed timber available for harvest from our Southern U.S. timberlands which has been a primary factor behind an
increasing pine harvest trend over the past 15 years.
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Below is a table that sets forth timberland acres (in thousands) as of December 31, 2006, by region and by timber
classification. Non-Forest acres include those acres unavailable for commercial timberland use and are primarily comprised of
roads, regulatory restricted riparian management zones and wetlands.

Location
Softwood

Plantations
Hardwood

Lands Non-Forest Total

Southern U.S.* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,152 492 49 1,693
Northwest U.S. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 283 — 87 370
New Zealand ** . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 346 5 — 351
Australia *** . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 114 — — 114
New York . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 68 7 75

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,895 565 143 2,603

* Excludes approximately 38 thousand leased acres that are held for sale at December 31, 2006.
** Acres under Rayonier management, owned and leased by the New Zealand JV.
*** Acres under Rayonier management.

Softwood merchantable timber inventory is an estimate of timber volume based on the earliest economically harvestable
age. Hardwood inventory is an estimate of timber volume available for harvest. Estimates are based on an inventory system that
continually involves periodic statistical sampling. Adjustments are made on the basis of growth estimates, harvest information,
environmental restrictions and market conditions. Timber located in swamplands, restricted or environmentally sensitive areas
is not included in the merchantable inventory shown below.

Effective January 1, 2007, Rayonier’s Northwest timber business unit decreased the age at which it moves timber into its
merchantable timber pool from 41 to 35 years. This change added 338 million board feet (36 percent) of timber to the
merchantable pool. The anticipated impact of this change on 2007 depletion expense is an increase of $0.5 million.

The following table sets forth the estimated volumes of merchantable timber by location and type, as of December 31,
2006:

Location Softwood Hardwood Total*

Equivalent total,
in thousands of
short green tons %

Southern, in thousands of short green tons . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33,490 19,229 52,719 52,719 80
Northwest, in millions of board feet . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,200 89 1,289 9,281 14
New York, in thousands of short green tons . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 369 3,340 3,709 3,709 6

65,709 100

* Excludes merchantable standing timber on acres held for sale as of December 31, 2006.

Real Estate

Our HBU real estate holdings are primarily in the Southern U.S. We segregate these real estate holdings into two groups:
development and rural properties. Development properties are predominantly located in the eleven coastal counties between
Savannah, GA and Daytona Beach, FL, while the rural properties essentially include the balance of our ownership in the South.
Our real estate holdings in the Northwest comprise the Other category in the following table.

In 2006, TerraPointe LLC (TerraPointe), our real estate development subsidiary closed two “participation” transactions
implementing our strategy to increase value by partnering with developers and participating in the downstream revenues of
property development. For the first transaction, the Company received $10 million in cash at closing and has the option to
receive $17.5 million when the property is entitled, or at that time, to convert the balance ($17.5 million) to a participation
arrangement where Rayonier would receive a percentage of gross revenue from the sales of home lots. The second transaction
was for $28.3 million, of which $22.6 million was received at closing and the remaining $5.7 million will be earned when the
purchaser builds and sells homes to third parties. Both of these transactions involved approximately 2,000 acres in North Florida
and were with southeastern U.S. developers.
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Sales for the three years ended December 31, 2006, are summarized in the following table:
2006 2005 2004

Acres
Sold

Average
Price/Acre

Acres
Sold

Average
Price/Acre

Acres
Sold

Average
Price/Acre

Development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,377 $7,713 6,036 $6,943 4,786 $5,110
Rural . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,099 $2,297 23,587 $1,797 29,282 $2,278
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 775 $3,510 403 $3,805 1,838 $2,661

Total Acres Sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,251 30,026 35,906

Performance Fibers

We are a leading manufacturer of high value specialty cellulose fibers with production facilities in Jesup, GA and
Fernandina Beach, FL, which have a combined annual capacity of approximately 740,000 metric tons. To meet customers’
needs, these facilities are capable of manufacturing more than 25 different grades of performance fibers. The Jesup facility can
produce approximately 590,000 metric tons, or 80 percent of our total capacity and the Fernandina Beach facility can produce
approximately 150,000 metric tons, or 20 percent of our total capacity. Sixty-one percent of Performance Fibers sales are
exported, primarily to customers in Asia, Europe and Latin America. Eighty-nine percent of Performance Fibers sales are made
directly by Rayonier personnel, with the remainder through independent sales agents. In July 2006, we entered into long-term
contracts with the world’s largest manufacturers of acetate-based products and other key customers that extend into 2011 and
represent nearly 80 percent of our high value cellulose specialties production.

This segment includes two major product lines — Cellulose Specialties and Absorbent Materials.

Cellulose Specialties — We are one of the world’s leading producers of specialty cellulose products, most of which
are used in dissolving chemical applications that require a highly purified form to produce cellulose acetate and ethers that
create high value, technologically demanding products. Our products are used in a wide variety of end uses such as: acetate
textile fibers, cigarette filters, rigid packaging, liquid crystal display (LCD) screens, photographic film, impact-resistant
plastics, high-tenacity rayon yarn for tires and industrial hoses, pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, detergents, food casings, food
products, thickeners for oil well-drilling muds, lacquers, paints, printing inks, and explosives. In addition, cellulose
specialties include high value specialty paper applications used for decorative laminates, automotive air and oil filters, shoe
innersoles, battery separators, circuit boards and filter media for the food industry.

Absorbent Materials — We are a producer of performance fibers for absorbent hygiene products. These fibers are
typically referred to as fluff fibers and are used as an absorbent medium in products such as disposable baby diapers,
feminine hygiene products, incontinence pads, convalescent bed pads, industrial towels and wipes and non-woven fabrics.

Wood Products

Our Wood Products business segment manufactures and sells dimension lumber. We operate three lumber manufacturing
facilities in the U.S. that produce Southern pine lumber, which is generally used for residential and industrial construction.
Located in Baxley, Swainsboro and Eatonton, GA, the mills have a combined annual capacity of approximately 390 million
board feet of lumber and 750,000 tons of wood chips. Lumber sales are primarily made by Rayonier personnel to customers in
the Southeastern U.S. Approximately 75 percent of our lumber mills’ wood chip production is sold at market prices to our
Jesup, GA performance fibers facility. In 2006, these purchases represented approximately 16 percent of that facility’s total
wood consumption.

On August 28, 2005, we completed the sale of our MDF business to Dongwha Hong Kong International Limited for
approximately $40 million. As a result, the Wood Products segment has been restated to exclude the operations and assets of
MDF in all periods presented.

Other

The primary business of our Other segment is trading logs, lumber and wood panel products. We operate domestic and
export log trading businesses in the Northwest U.S., New Zealand and Chile. All of the sales from our Northwest U.S. and New
Zealand log trading operations are sourced externally. Our Chilean log trading activity includes domestic purchases and sales.
We also purchase and trade lumber and wood products in both domestic and export markets. The Other segment has historically
included royalty income from coal mining activity on our timberlands in Lewis County, Washington. In 2006, the amount of
royalty income included in this segment totaled $3.0 million. Effective November 2006, TransAlta, the third party operator of
the mine, ceased their operations in Lewis County; therefore, future periods will not include royalty income.
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Discontinued Operations and Dispositions

Discontinued operations include our MDF business sold in 2005. The Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income and the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and the related Notes have been reclassified to present
the results of these operations as discontinued operations.

Dispositions and other discontinued operations include our Port Angeles, WA performance fibers mill that was closed in
1997; our wholly-owned subsidiary, Southern Wood Piedmont Company (SWP), which ceased operations other than
environmental remediation activities in 1989; our Eastern Research Division (ERD), which ceased operations in 1981; and other
miscellaneous assets held for disposition. See Note 15 — Reserves for Dispositions and Discontinued Operations for additional
information.

Foreign Sales and Operations

Sales by geographical destination for the three years ended December 31, 2006 were as follows (in millions):
Sales by Destination

2006 % 2005 % 2004 %

United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 777 63 $ 739 63 $ 736 63
Europe . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 167 14 161 14 134 11
Japan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 88 7 72 6 80 7
China . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 79 6 61 5 66 6
Other Asia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37 3 52 4 54 5
Latin America . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30 2 37 3 31 3
New Zealand . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21 2 30 2 30 2
Canada . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 1 20 2 20 2
All other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 2 9 1 12 1

$1,230 100 $1,181 100 $1,163 100

A large majority of sales to foreign countries are denominated in U.S. dollars. Sales from non-U.S. operations comprised
approximately 4 percent of total 2006 sales. See Note 3 — Segment and Geographical Information for additional information.

Intellectual Property

We own numerous patents, trade secrets and know-how, particularly relating to our Performance Fibers business. We
intend to continue to take such steps as are necessary to protect our products and processes, including filing patent applications
for future inventions that are deemed important to our business operations. Our U.S. patents have a duration of 20 years from
the date of filing.

Competition

Our timberlands are located in three major timber-growing regions (the Northwest, Northeast and Southern U.S.), where
timber markets are fragmented. In the Northwest, The Campbell Group, Hancock Timber Resource Group, Green Diamond
Resource Company, Weyerhaeuser, Longview Fibre, Port Blakely Tree Farms, and Washington State (Department of Natural
Resources) are significant competitive suppliers. Other competition in the Northwest arises from log imports from Canada. In
the Southern region, we compete with Plum Creek Timber Company, Weyerhaeuser, TIMOs such as Timberstar and Resource
Management Services, who purchased large portions of the timberland sold by International Paper in 2006, and many small,
non-industrial land owners. In all markets, price is the principal method of competition.

In Performance Fibers, we market high purity, specialty cellulose fibers worldwide against strong competition from
domestic and foreign producers. Major competitors include Buckeye Technologies Inc., Borregaard, and Sappi Saiccor. Pricing,
product performance, and technical service are principal methods of competition. During 2005, Sappi Saiccor announced a
200,000 ton per year expansion at one of its cellulose specialty pulp mills in South Africa, and Sateri International announced
construction of a 360,000 ton per year cellulose specialty pulp mill in Bahia, Brazil. The status of these projects is currently
unclear, although it is possible that one or both of them could be producing product in 2007. In May 2006, Neucel Specialty
Cellulose Ltd. restarted a 160,000 ton cellulose specialty mill located in Port Alice, British Columbia. In September 2006,
Weyerhauser closed its 155,000 metric ton cellulose specialty pulp mill located in Cosmopolis, Washington; however, in
January 2007 they announced a potential sale of the mill to private investors which, if consummated, could return the mill to
cellulose specialty production. The aggregate impact of facility closures and potential new market capacity is not expected to
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adversely affect the results of our Performance Fibers segment in 2007; however, it is likely that these market dynamics will
impact our business in 2008 and beyond.

Our Wood Products business competes with a number of lumber producers throughout the U.S. and Canada, but
particularly with sawmills throughout Georgia and Florida. Our lumber business represents less than one-half of one percent of
North American capacity.

Customers

In 2006, a group of customers under the common control of Eastman Chemical Company and its affiliates represented
approximately 20 percent of the Performance Fibers segment’s sales and 11 percent of our consolidated sales. Another customer
of the Performance Fibers segment comprised 12 percent of the segment’s sales. In the Wood Products segment, one customer
comprised 11 percent of segment sales and in the Trading segment, 18 percent of its sales were to a single customer. The loss of
any of these customers could have a material adverse effect on these segments’ results of operations.

Backlogged Orders

We do not consider backlog to be a significant indicator of the level of future Performance Fibers sales. We manufacture
our products based on existing orders as well as projections of future orders. Therefore, we believe that backlog information is
not material to understanding our overall business and should not be considered an indicator of our ability to achieve any
particular level of revenue.

Seasonality

Our Timber segment sales are generally lower in the third quarter due to greater availability of non-Rayonier timber during
the drier summer harvesting period, particularly in the Northwestern U.S. Our Wood Products segment may experience higher
seasonal demand in the second quarter primarily due to increased new housing construction. Our Performance Fibers and Real
Estate segments’ results are normally not impacted by seasonal changes.

Environmental Matters

See Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Environmental
Regulation and Note 16 — Contingencies.

Raw Materials

The manufacture of our performance fibers products and lumber requires significant amounts of wood. Timber harvesting
can be restricted by adverse weather conditions, legal challenges and pressure from various environmental groups. The supply
of timber is directly affected by price and demand fluctuations in wood products and in pulp and paper markets.

In 2006, hardwood pricing decreased modestly from 2005 levels, primarily due to ample supply caused by favorable
weather conditions. Our Performance Fibers and lumber mills obtain their logs through open market purchases made by our
wood procurement organization, which negotiates prices and volumes with independent third party suppliers who deliver to our
facilities. In some cases, third party logging contractors may have purchased timber cutting rights from our timberlands in
Georgia and Florida (generally through a sealed bid process).

Performance Fibers manufacturing also requires significant amounts of fuel oil and natural gas. These raw materials are
subject to significant changes in prices and availability, which could adversely impact our future operating results. With the
recent surge in energy prices, we initiated a number of capital projects to reduce fossil fuel consumption, including a recently
completed power boiler replacement which is expected to consume primarily wood waste and will significantly reduce oil
usage. We continually pursue reductions in usage and costs of other key raw materials, supplies and contract services at our
Performance Fibers and lumber mills and do not foresee any material constraints in the near term from pricing or availability.

Research and Development

In Jesup, GA, at our research and development facility, our research and development efforts are directed primarily at
further developing existing core products and technologies, improving the quality of cellulose fiber grades, absorbent materials
and related products, improving manufacturing efficiency and environmental controls, and reducing fossil fuel consumption.

The research and development activities of our timber operations include genetic tree improvement and applied
silvicultural programs to identify management practices that will improve financial returns from our timber assets.

6



Our research and development expenditures were approximately $6 million in both 2006 and 2005, and $7 million in 2004.

Employee Relations

We currently employ approximately 2,000 people, of whom approximately 1,900 are in the United States. Approximately
900 of our hourly Performance Fibers employees are covered by labor contracts. The majority of our hourly employees are
represented by one of several labor unions. We believe relations with our employees are satisfactory.

In August and December 2001, labor agreements covering approximately 660 hourly employees at our Jesup mill were
extended through June 30, 2008. In December of 2005, two labor unions representing approximately 220 hourly employees at
our Fernandina mill approved a four-year contract, which expires on April 30, 2010. There were no changes to our labor
contracts in 2006.

Sustainable Forestry

While it is our objective to maximize future wood supply through forest management programs that increase timberland
productivity, we have a longstanding commitment to meet the highest levels of forest stewardship and to promote sustainable
forestry practices throughout the industry. As a member of the American Forest and Paper Association, we subscribe to the SFI
program, a comprehensive system of environmental principles, objectives and performance measures that combines the
perpetual growing and harvesting of trees with the protection of wildlife, plants, soil and water quality. Most of our U.S.
timberlands and wood procurement practices have been audited and certified by an independent third party under the SFI
program. The recently purchased properties in Texas, Louisiana, Oklahoma, Arkansas, Alabama and New York have been
managed to be compliant with SFI standards by the prior owners, but were not audited or certified under the SFI program. It is
our intent, and efforts are currently underway, to have these properties audited and certified by an independent third party under
the SFI program by the end of 2007. The independent certification verifies that we meet strict requirements for growing and
harvesting trees in an environmentally responsible manner that protects natural resources, renews forests, creates biological
diversity, and enhances wildlife protection. In addition, our New Zealand JV participates in various environmental initiatives
such as the Forest Owners Association, the New Zealand Forest Accord and the Forest Stewardship Council.

Availability of Reports and Other Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements and
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) or 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are
made available to the public free of charge in the Investor Relations section of our website (www.rayonier.com), shortly after
we electronically file such material with, or furnish them to, the SEC. Our corporate governance guidelines and charters of all
Committees of our Board of Directors are also available on our website. These documents are also available in print, free of
charge, to any investor upon request to: Investor Relations Department, Rayonier Inc., 50 North Laura Street, Jacksonville,
Florida 32202.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our operations are subject to a number of risks, including those listed below. When considering an investment in our
securities, you should carefully read and consider these risks, together with all other information in this report. If any of the
events described in the following risk factors actually occur, our business, financial condition or operating results, as well as
the market price of our securities, could be materially adversely affected.

Business and Operating Risks

The cyclical nature of our businesses could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our financial performance is affected by the cyclical nature of the forest products and real estate industries. The
markets for timber, real estate, performance fibers and wood products are influenced by a variety of factors beyond our
control. For example, the demand for real estate can be affected by changes in interest rates, local economic conditions,
population growth and demographics. The demand for sawtimber is primarily affected by the level of new residential and
commercial construction activity. The supply of timber and logs has historically increased during favorable pricing
environments, which then causes downward pressure on prices.

The forest products and real estate industries are highly competitive.

Many of our competitors in the forest products businesses have substantially greater financial and operating resources
and own more timberlands than we do. Some of our forest products competitors may also be lower-cost producers in some
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of the businesses in which we operate. In addition, wood products are subject to significant competition from a variety of
non-wood and engineered wood products. We are also subject to competition from various forest products, including logs,
imported from foreign countries to the United States as well as to the export markets served by us. To the extent there is a
significant increase in competitive pressures from substitute products or other domestic or foreign suppliers, our business
could be substantially adversely affected. With respect to our real estate business, we are continuing the transition from a
bulk land seller to engaging in value-added real estate development activities, including obtaining entitlements and entering
into joint venture, participation and other development-related arrangements. Many of our competitors in this segment have
greater experience in real estate development than we do.

Changes in energy and raw materials prices could impact our operating results and financial condition.

Energy and raw material costs, such as oil, natural gas, wood, and chemicals are a significant operating expense,
particularly for the Performance Fibers and Wood Products businesses. The prices of raw materials and energy can be
volatile and are susceptible to rapid and substantial increases due to factors beyond our control such as changing economic
conditions, political unrest and instability in energy-producing nations, and supply and demand considerations. For
example, oil and natural gas costs have increased substantially in recent years and we have experienced, at times, a limited
availability of hardwood which has resulted in increased production costs for some Performance Fibers products. Increases
in production costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in global market trends and world events could impact customer demand.

The global reach of our business, particularly the Performance Fibers business and our interest in the New Zealand
JV, causes us to be subject to unexpected, uncontrollable and rapidly changing events and circumstances in addition to
those experienced in the U.S. Adverse changes in the following factors, among others, could have a negative impact on our
business and results of operations:

• effects of exposure to currencies other than the United States dollar;

• regulatory, social, political, labor or economic conditions in a specific country or region; and

• trade protection laws, policies and measures and other regulatory requirements affecting trade and investment,
including loss or modification of exemptions for taxes and tariffs, and import and export licensing requirements.

Our businesses are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations that may restrict or adversely impact our
ability to conduct our business.

If regulatory and environmental permits are delayed, restricted or rejected, a variety of operations could be delayed
or restricted. In connection with a variety of operations on our properties, we are required to seek permission from
agencies in the states and countries in which we operate to perform certain activities. Any of these agencies could delay
review of, or reject, any of our filings. In our Timber business, any delay associated with a filing could result in a delay or
restriction in replanting, thinning, insect control, fire control or harvesting, any of which could have an adverse effect on
our operating results. For example, in Washington State, we are required to file a Forest Practice Application for each unit
of timberland to be harvested. These applications may be denied, conditioned or restricted by the regulatory agency or
appealed by other parties, including citizen groups. Appeals or actions of the regulatory agencies could delay or restrict
timber harvest activities pursuant to these permits. Delays or harvest restrictions on a significant number of applications
could have an adverse effect on our operating results. In our Performance Fibers and Wood Products businesses, many
modifications and capital projects at our manufacturing facilities require an environmental permit, or an amendment to an
existing permit. Delays in obtaining these permits could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Environmental groups and interested individuals may seek to delay or prevent a variety of operations. We expect that
environmental groups and interested individuals will intervene with increasing frequency in the regulatory processes in the
states and countries where we own, lease or manage timberlands, and operate mills. For example, in Washington State,
environmental groups and interested individuals may appeal individual forest practice applications or file petitions with the
Forest Practices Board to challenge the regulations under which forest practices are approved. These and other challenges
could materially delay or prevent operations on our properties. Delays or restrictions due to the intervention of
environmental groups or interested individuals could adversely affect our operating results. In addition to intervention in
regulatory proceedings, interested groups and individuals may file or threaten to file lawsuits that seek to prevent us from
obtaining permits or implementing capital improvements or our operating plans. Any lawsuit or even a threatened lawsuit
could delay harvesting on our timberlands. Among the remedies that could be enforced in a lawsuit is a judgment
preventing or restricting harvesting on a portion of our timberlands, or adversely affecting the projected operating benefits
or cost of capital projects at our mills.
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The impact of existing regulatory restrictions on future harvesting activities may be significant. Federal, state and
local laws and regulations, as well as those of other countries, which are intended to protect threatened and endangered
species, as well as waterways and wetlands, limit and may prevent timber harvesting, road building and other activities on
our timberlands. The threatened and endangered species restrictions apply to activities that would adversely impact a
protected species or significantly degrade its habitat. The size of the area subject to restriction will vary depending on the
protected species at issue, the time of year and other factors, but can range from less than one to several thousand acres. A
number of species that naturally live on or near our timberlands, including the northern spotted owl, marbled murrelet, bald
eagle, several species of salmon and trout in the Northwest, and the red cockaded woodpecker, bald eagle, wood stork, red
hill salamander, and flatwoods salamander in the Southeast, are protected under the Federal Endangered Species Act or
similar state laws. As we gain additional information regarding the presence of threatened or endangered species on our
timberlands, or if regulations become more restrictive, the amount of our timberlands subject to harvest restrictions could
increase.

Our manufacturing operations, and in particular our Performance Fibers and Wood Products mills, are subject to
stringent environmental laws and regulations concerning air emissions, wastewater discharge, water usage and waste
handling and disposal. Many of our operations are subject to stringent environmental laws and regulations and permits
which contain conditions that govern how we operate our facilities and, in many cases, how much product we can produce.
These laws, regulations and permits, now and in the future, may restrict our current production and limit our ability to
increase production, and impose significant costs on our operations with respect to environmental compliance. It is
expected that, overall, these costs will likely increase over time as environmental laws, regulations and permit conditions
become more stringent, and as the expectations of the communities in which we operate become more demanding.

We currently own or may acquire properties which may require environmental remediation or otherwise be subject to
environmental and other liabilities. We currently own, or formerly operated, manufacturing facilities and discontinued
operations, or may acquire timberlands and other properties, which are subject to environmental liabilities, such as cleanup
of hazardous material contamination and other existing or potential liabilities of which we are not currently aware. The cost
of investigation and remediation of contaminated properties could increase operating costs and adversely affect financial
results. Although we believe we have adequate reserves for the investigation and remediation of our current properties,
there can be no assurance that actual expenditures will not exceed our expectations.

Environmental laws and regulations are constantly changing, and are generally becoming more restrictive. Laws,
regulations and related judicial decisions and administrative interpretations affecting our business are subject to change and
new laws and regulations that may affect our business are frequently enacted. These changes may adversely affect our
ability to harvest and sell timber, operate our manufacturing facilities and/or develop real estate. These laws and
regulations may relate to, among other things, the protection of timberlands, endangered species, timber harvesting
practices, recreation and aesthetics, protection and restoration of natural resources, air and water quality, and remedial
standards for contaminated property and groundwater. Over time, the complexity and stringency of these laws and
regulations have increased markedly and the enforcement of these laws and regulations has intensified. We believe that
these laws and regulations will continue to become more restrictive and over time could adversely affect our operating
results.

Development of real estate entails a lengthy, uncertain and costly approval process.

Development of real estate entails extensive approval processes involving multiple regulatory jurisdictions. It is
common for a project to require various approvals, permits and consents from federal, state and local governing and
regulatory bodies. For example, in Florida, real estate projects must generally comply with the provisions of the Local
Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act (the “Growth Management Act”) and local
land use and development regulations. In addition, in Florida, development projects that exceed certain specified regulatory
thresholds require approval of a comprehensive Development of Regional Impact (DRI) application. Compliance with the
Growth Management Act, local land development regulations and the DRI process is usually lengthy and costly and
significant conditions can be imposed on a developer with respect to a particular project. In addition, development of
properties containing delineated wetlands may require one or more permits from the federal government. Any of these
issues can materially affect the cost and timing of our real estate development activities.

The real estate development and entitlement process is frequently a political one, which involves uncertainty and often
extensive negotiation and concessions in order to secure the necessary approvals and permits. A significant amount of our
development property is located in counties in which local governments face challenging issues relating to growth and
development, including zoning and future land use, public services, infrastructure and funding for same, and the
requirements of state law, especially in the case of Florida under the Growth Management Act and DRI process.
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Other issues affecting real estate development include the availability of potable water for new development projects.
For example, in Georgia, the Legislature recently enacted the Comprehensive Statewide Watershed Management Planning
Act (the “Watershed Management Act”), which, among other things, created a governmental entity called the Georgia
Water Council which is charged with preparing a comprehensive water management plan for the state and presenting it to
the Georgia Legislature for adoption no later than 2008. It is unclear at this time what this plan will provide or how it will
affect the cost and timing of real estate development along the I-95 coastal corridor in southern Georgia, where the
Company has significant real estate holdings.

Changes in the interpretation or enforcement of these laws, the enactment of new laws regarding the use and
development of real estate, changes in the political composition of state and local governmental bodies, and the
identification of new facts regarding our properties could lead to new or greater costs, delays and liabilities that could
materially adversely affect our business, profitability or financial condition.

Changes in demand for our real estate and delays in the timing of real estate transactions may affect our revenues and
operating results.

A number of factors, including changes in demographics, and a slowing of commercial or residential real estate
development, particularly along the I-95 coastal corridor in Florida and Georgia, could reduce the demand for such
properties and negatively affect our results of operations.

In addition, there are inherent uncertainties in the timing of real estate transactions that could adversely affect our
operating results. Delays in the completion of transactions or the termination of potential transactions can be caused by
factors beyond our control. These events have in the past and may in the future adversely affect our operating results.

Our joint venture partners may have interests that differ from ours and may take actions that adversely affect us.

We participate in a joint venture in New Zealand, and may enter into other joint venture projects; for example, as part
of our real estate development strategy. A joint venture involves potential risks such as:

• not having voting control over the joint venture;

• the venture partner at any time may have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours;

• the venture partner may take actions contrary to our instructions or requests, or contrary to our policies or
objectives with respect to the investment; and

• the venture partner could experience financial difficulties.

Actions by our venture partners may subject property owned by the joint venture to liabilities greater than those
contemplated by the joint venture agreement or have other adverse consequences.

We may be unsuccessful in carrying out, our acquisition strategy.

We intend to pursue acquisitions of strategic timberland and real estate properties. Our timberland and real estate
acquisitions may not perform in accordance with our expectations. We anticipate financing any such acquisitions through
cash from operations, borrowings under our credit facilities, proceeds from equity or debt offerings or proceeds from asset
dispositions, or any combination thereof. The failure of any acquisitions to perform to our expectations could adversely
affect our operating results.

Our failure to maintain satisfactory labor relations could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Approximately 45 percent of our work force is unionized. These workers are almost exclusively in our Performance
Fibers business. As a result, we are required to negotiate the wages, benefits and other terms with many of our employees
collectively. Our financial results could be adversely affected if labor negotiations were to restrict the efficiency of our
operations. Our inability to negotiate acceptable contracts with any of these unions as existing agreements expire could
result in strikes or work stoppages by the affected workers. If the unionized employees were to engage in a strike or other
work stoppage, or other employees were to become unionized, we could experience a significant disruption of our
operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Weather and other natural conditions may limit our timber harvest and sales.

Weather conditions, timber growth cycles and restrictions on access may limit harvesting of our timberlands, as may
other factors, including damage by fire, insect infestation, disease, prolonged drought and natural disasters.
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We do not insure against losses of timber from any causes, including fire.

The volume and value of timber that can be harvested from our timberlands may be reduced by fire, insect infestation,
severe weather, disease, natural disasters, and other causes beyond our control. A reduction in our timber inventory could
adversely affect our financial results and cash flows. As is typical in the industry, we do not maintain insurance for any loss
to our timber, including losses due to these causes.

A significant portion of the timberland that we own, lease or manage is concentrated in limited geographic areas.

We own, lease or manage approximately 2.7 million acres of timberland and real estate located primarily in the United
States and New Zealand. Approximately 1.7 million acres are located in Georgia, Florida, Alabama, Arkansas, Louisiana,
Texas and Oklahoma. Accordingly, if the level of production from these forests substantially declines, or if the demand for
timber in those regions declines, it could have a material adverse effect on our overall production levels and our revenues.

We are dependent upon attracting and retaining key personnel.

We believe that our success depends, to a significant extent, upon our ability to attract and retain key senior
management and operations management personnel. Our failure to recruit and retain these key personnel could adversely
affect our financial condition or results of operations. Our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, W. Lee Nutter
has publicly announced his plan to retire in 2007. Although a search is currently underway for Mr. Nutter’s successor, no
assurances can be given to the effect his replacement will have on our results of operations, financial condition, or stock
price.

Market interest rates may influence the price of our common shares.

One of the factors that may influence the price of our common shares will be the annual dividend yield as compared to
yields on other financial instruments. Thus, an increase in market interest rates will result in higher yields on other
financial instruments, which could adversely affect the price of our common shares.

We have a significant amount of debt and the capacity to incur significant additional debt.

As of December 31, 2006, we had $661 million of debt outstanding. See Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Contractual Financial Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet
Arrangements for the payment schedule of our long-term debt obligations. We expect that existing cash, cash equivalents,
marketable securities, cash provided from operations, and our bank credit facilities will be sufficient to meet ongoing cash
requirements. Moreover, we have the borrowing capacity to incur significant additional debt and may do so if we enter into
one or more strategic, merger, acquisition or other corporate or investment opportunities, or otherwise invest capital in one
or more of our businesses. However, failure to generate sufficient cash as our debt becomes due, or to renew credit lines
prior to their expiration, may adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results, and cash flow.

REIT and Tax-Related Risks

If we fail to qualify as a REIT or fail to remain qualified as a REIT, we will have reduced funds available for
distribution to our shareholders because our income will be subject to taxation at regular corporate rates.

We intend to operate in accordance with REIT qualifications under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Code”). As a REIT, we generally will not pay corporate-level tax on income we distribute to our shareholders (other
than the income of TRS) as long as we distribute at least 90 percent of our REIT taxable income (determined without
regard to the dividends paid deduction and by excluding net capital gain). Qualification as a REIT involves the application
of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code, which are subject to change, perhaps retroactively, and which are
not entirely within our control. We cannot assure that we will qualify as a REIT or be able to remain so qualified or that
new legislation, U.S. Treasury regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions will not significantly affect our
ability to qualify as a REIT or the federal income tax consequences of such qualification.

If in any taxable year we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will suffer the following negative results:

• we will not be allowed a deduction for dividends paid to shareholders in computing our taxable income; and

• we will be subject to federal income tax on our REIT taxable income at regular corporate rates.

In addition, we will be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during
which the qualification was lost, unless we are entitled to relief under certain provisions of the Code. As a result, our net
income and the cash available for distribution to our shareholders could be reduced for up to five years or longer.
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If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we may need to borrow funds or liquidate some investments or assets to pay the
additional tax liability. Accordingly, cash available for distribution to our shareholders would be reduced.

The extent of our use of taxable REIT subsidiaries may affect the price of our common shares relative to the share price
of other REITs.

We conduct a portion of our business activities through one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. Our use of taxable
REIT subsidiaries enables us to engage in non-REIT qualifying business activities such as the production and sale of
performance fibers and wood products, real estate development, sales and development of HBU property and timberlands
(as a dealer) and sales of logs. Taxable REIT subsidiaries are subject to corporate-level tax. Therefore, we pay income
taxes on the income generated by our taxable REIT subsidiaries. Under the Code, no more than 20 percent of the value of
the gross assets of a REIT may be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. This limitation may
affect our ability to increase the size of our taxable REIT subsidiaries’ operations. Furthermore, our use of taxable REIT
subsidiaries may cause the market to value our common shares differently than the shares of other REITs, which may not
use taxable REIT subsidiaries as extensively as we use them.

Lack of shareholder ownership and transfer restrictions in our articles of incorporation may affect our ability to qualify
as a REIT.

In order to qualify as a REIT, an entity cannot have five or fewer individuals who own, directly or indirectly after
applying attribution of ownership rules, 50 percent or more of its outstanding voting shares during the last six months in
each calendar year. Although it is not required by law or the REIT provisions of the Code, almost all REITs have adopted
ownership and transfer restrictions in their articles of incorporation or organizational documents which seek to assure
compliance with that rule. While we are not in violation of the ownership rules, we do not have, nor do we have any
current plans to adopt, share ownership and transfer restrictions. As such, the possibility exists that five or fewer
individuals could acquire 50 percent or more of our outstanding voting shares, which could result in our disqualification as
a REIT.

We may be limited in our ability to fund distributions using cash generated through our taxable REIT subsidiaries.

The ability for the REIT to receive dividends from taxable REIT subsidiaries is limited by the rules with which we
must comply to maintain our status as a REIT. In particular, at least 75 percent of gross income for each taxable year as a
REIT must be derived from sales of our standing timber and other types of qualifying real estate income and no more than
25 percent of our gross income may consist of dividends from our taxable REIT subsidiaries and other non-qualifying
income.

This limitation on our ability to receive dividends from our taxable REIT subsidiaries may impact our ability to fund
distributions to stockholders using cash flows from our taxable REIT subsidiaries. The net income of our taxable REIT
subsidiaries is not required to be distributed, and income that is not distributed will not be subject to the 90 percent income
distribution requirement.

Certain of our business activities are potentially subject to prohibited transactions tax.

As a REIT, we will be subject to a 100 percent tax on any net income from “prohibited transactions.” In general,
prohibited transactions are sales or other dispositions of property to customers in the ordinary course of business. Sales of
performance fibers and wood products which we produce and sales of logs constitute prohibited transactions. In addition,
sales of timberlands or other real estate (as a dealer) and certain development activities relating to real estate could, in
certain circumstances, constitute prohibited transactions.

We intend to avoid the 100 percent prohibited transactions tax by conducting activities that would otherwise be
prohibited transactions through one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. We may not, however, always be able to identify
timberland properties that will become part of our “dealer” real estate sales business. Therefore, if we sell timberlands
which we incorrectly identify as property not held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or which
subsequently become properties held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, we face the potential of being
subject to the 100 percent prohibited transactions tax.

We may have adjustments to deferred and contingent tax liabilities.

We will be subject to a federal corporate-level tax at the highest regular corporate rate (currently 35 percent) on any
gain recognized from a taxable sale of any asset which we held at January 1, 2004, the effective date of our REIT election,

12



that occurs within ten years of that date. However, we will be subject to such tax only to the extent of the difference
between our tax basis and the fair market value of those assets as of January 1, 2004 (the “built-in-gain”). Gain from a
taxable sale of those assets occurring more than ten years after January 1, 2004 will not be subject to this corporate-level
tax.

In addition, the IRS may assert liabilities against us for corporate income taxes for taxable years prior to the time we
qualified as a REIT, in which case we will owe these taxes plus interest and penalties, if any. Moreover, any increase in
taxable income for those years will result in an increase in accumulated earnings and profits, or E&P, which could cause us
to pay an additional taxable distribution to our then-existing shareholders within 90 days of the relevant determination.

Our cash dividends are not guaranteed and may fluctuate.

Generally, REITs are required to distribute 90 percent of their taxable income. However, REITs are required to
distribute only their ordinary taxable income and not their net capital gains income. Accordingly, we do not believe that we
are required to distribute material amounts of cash since substantially all of our taxable income is treated as capital gains
income. Our Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, determines the amount of quarterly dividends to be provided to our
stockholders based on consideration of a number of factors. These include, but are not limited to, our results of operations,
cash flow and capital requirements, economic conditions, tax considerations, borrowing capacity and other factors,
including debt covenant restrictions that may impose limitations on cash payments, future acquisitions and divestitures,
harvest levels, changes in the price and demand for our products and general market demand for timberlands including
those timberland properties that have higher and better uses. Consequently, our dividend levels may fluctuate.

We may not be able to complete desired like-kind exchange transactions for timberlands and real estate we sell.

When we sell timberlands and real estate, we generally seek to match these sales with the acquisition of suitable
replacement real estate. This allows us to claim “like-kind exchange” treatment for these transactions under section 1031
and related regulations of the Code. This matching of sales and purchases provides us with significant tax benefits, most
importantly the deferral of any gain on the property sold until ultimate disposition of the replacement property. For
example, we frequently utilize like-kind exchanges to transfer HBU properties from RFR to TerraPointe. While we attempt
to complete like-kind exchanges wherever practical, we will not be able to do so in all instances due to various factors,
including the lack of availability of suitable replacement property on acceptable terms, inability to complete a qualifying
like-kind exchange transaction within the timeframes required by the Code and if we incorrectly identify real estate as
property not held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or which subsequently becomes real estate held
for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business. The inability to obtain like-kind exchange treatment would result
in the payment of taxes with respect to the property sold, and a corresponding reduction in earnings and cash available for
distribution to shareholders as dividends.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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Item 2. PROPERTIES

The following table details the significant properties we own, lease, or manage by reportable segment:

Segment Location Total Acres Fee-Owned Acres
Long-Term

Leased Acres Managed Acres

Timber . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Southern U.S. 1,693,077 1,445,654 247,423 —
Northwest U.S. 370,446 370,446 — —
New Zealand * 350,938 — — 350,938
Australia ** 113,793 — — 113,793
New York 75,133 75,133 — —

Total Timber Acres 2,603,387 1,891,233 247,423 464,731
Real Estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Southeast U.S. 40,090 40,090 — —
Leased Timberlands-Held For Sale 37,725 — 37,725 —

Total Timberland and Real Estate Acres 2,681,202 1,931,323 285,148 464,731

Capacity/Function Owned/Leased

Performance Fibers . . . . . . . . Jesup, Georgia 590,000 metric tons of pulp Owned
Fernandina Beach, Florida 150,000 metric tons of pulp Owned
Jesup, Georgia Research Facility Owned

Wood Products*** . . . . . . . . Baxley, Georgia 180 million board feet of lumber Owned
Swainsboro, Georgia 120 million board feet of lumber Owned
Eatonton, Georgia 90 million board feet of lumber Owned

Corporate and Other . . . . . . . Jacksonville, FL Corporate Headquarters Leased

* Acres under Rayonier management, owned by the New Zealand JV (Rayonier owns a 40 percent interest).
** Acres under Rayonier management.
*** These locations also have a combined annual capacity of approximately 750,000 tons of wood chips for pulp and paper

manufacturing.

Our manufacturing facilities are maintained through ongoing capital investments, regular maintenance and equipment
upgrades. During 2006, our manufacturing facilities generally produced at planned capacity levels and there were no unplanned
material idle times.

We also own a wood fiber facility in Jarratt, Virginia which has an annual capacity of 250,000 short green tons of chips. In
January 2007, we purchased wood fiber facilities in Eastman, GA, Barnesville, GA and Offerman, GA, with the capacity to
produce 2.3 million short green tons of wood chips.

In addition, our wholly-owned subsidiary, SWP, which ceased operations in 1989 except for environmental remedial
activities, owns 864 acres of land.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are engaged in various legal actions, including certain environmental proceedings that are discussed more fully in
Note 15 — Reserves for Dispositions and Discontinued Operations and Note 16 — Contingencies.

The Company has been named as a defendant in various other lawsuits and claims arising in the normal course of business.
While we have procured reasonable and customary insurance covering risks normally occurring in connection with our
businesses, we have in certain cases retained some risk through the operation of self-insurance, primarily in the areas of workers
compensation, property insurance, and general liability. In our opinion, these other lawsuits and claims, either individually or in
the aggregate, are not expected to have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flow.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders of Rayonier during the fourth quarter of 2006.

Item 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF RAYONIER

W. Lee Nutter, 63, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer—Mr. Nutter joined Rayonier in 1967 in the
Northwest Forest Operations and was named Vice President, Timber and Wood in 1984, Vice President, Forest Products in
1985, Senior Vice President, Operations in 1986 and Executive Vice President in 1987. He was elected President and Chief
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Operating Officer and a director of Rayonier in 1996 and to his current position effective January 1999. Mr. Nutter serves on the
Board of Directors of Republic Services, Inc. and the J. M. Huber Corporation, a privately-held diversified supplier of
engineered materials, natural resources and technology services. Mr. Nutter also serves on the Board of Directors of the
National Council for Air and Stream Improvement and the American Forest and Paper Association. He is also a member of the
North Florida Regional Board of SunTrust Bank. Mr. Nutter holds a B.A. in Business Administration from the University of
Washington and graduated from the Harvard University Graduate School of Business Advanced Management Program.

Paul G. Boynton, 42, Senior Vice President, Performance Fibers—Mr. Boynton joined Rayonier in 1999 as Director,
Specialty Pulp Marketing and Sales. He was elected Vice President, Performance Fibers Marketing and Sales in October 1999,
Vice President, Performance Fibers in January 2002, and to his current position effective July 2002. Prior to joining Rayonier,
he held positions with 3M Corporation from 1990 to 1999, most recently as Global Brand Manager, 3M Home Care Division
(global manufacturer and marketer of cleaning tool products). He holds a B.S. in mechanical engineering from Iowa State
University, an M.B.A. from the University of Iowa, and graduated from the Harvard University Graduate School of Business
Advanced Management Program.

Timothy H. Brannon, 59, Senior Vice President, Forest Resources and Wood Products—Mr. Brannon joined Rayonier in
1972 at its Southern Wood Piedmont subsidiary (SWP). He was named Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of SWP in
1983 and President in 1992. Mr. Brannon was elected Rayonier’s Vice President and Director, Performance Fibers Marketing
and Sales in 1994, Vice President, Asia Pacific and Managing Director, Rayonier New Zealand in 1998 and to his current
position effective March 2002. He holds a B.A. in psychology from Tulane University and graduated from the Harvard
University Graduate School of Business Advanced Management Program.

W. Edwin Frazier, III, 49, Senior Vice President, Administration and Corporate Secretary—Mr. Frazier was promoted to
his current position in July 2004. He joined Rayonier in 1999 as Assistant General Counsel, was promoted to Associate General
Counsel in 2000 and elected Corporate Secretary in 2001. Mr. Frazier was named Vice President Governance and Corporate
Secretary in 2003. From 1991 to 1999, Mr. Frazier was with the legal department of Georgia-Pacific Corporation (a global
manufacturer and marketer of tissue, packaging, paper, building products and related chemicals), last serving as Chief Counsel –
Corporate. Prior to that, he practiced corporate law with Troutman Sanders in Atlanta. Mr. Frazier holds a B.S. in Business
Administration from the University of Tennessee, a J.D. from Emory University and graduated from the Harvard University
Graduate School of Business Advanced Management Program.

Hans E. Vanden Noort, 48, Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer—Mr. Vanden Noort joined Rayonier as
Corporate Controller in 2001, and was elected to his current position in August 2005. Prior to joining Rayonier, he held a
number of senior management positions with Baker Process, a division of Baker Hughes, Inc. (manufacturer of oilfield service
equipment and supplies), most recently as Vice President of Finance and Administration. Prior to that, he was with the public
accounting firm of Ernst & Young. Mr. Vanden Noort holds a B.B.A. in accounting from the University of Cincinnati, an
M.B.A. from the University of Michigan and is a Certified Public Accountant.

Carl E. Kraus, 59, Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Investment Officer of TerraPointe LLC—Mr. Kraus joined
Rayonier in 2005, and was elected to his current position in October 2005. Prior to joining Rayonier, he served as Senior Vice
President, Chief Financial and Investment Officer and Treasurer of Kramont Realty Trust (a shopping center REIT) from 2002
until it was acquired in 2005 and as Chief Financial Officer for Philips International Realty Corp. (a shopping center REIT)
from 1999 to 2002. Mr. Kraus graduated from Temple University and is a Certified Public Accountant.

Michael R. Herman, 44, Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant Secretary—Mr. Herman joined Rayonier in 2003
as Vice President and General Counsel and was elected to his current position in October 2003. Prior to joining Rayonier, he
served as Vice President and General Counsel of GenTek Inc. (a publicly-traded global manufacturing conglomerate) and in
other positions in GenTek’s legal department from 1992 to August 2003. GenTek Inc. filed a voluntary petition for protection
under Chapter 11 of the Federal Bankruptcy Code in the Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware in October of 2002, and
the Bankruptcy Court approved a plan of reorganization for GenTek in November 2003 which resulted in GenTek’s emergence
from bankruptcy. Mr. Herman was previously counsel to IBM’s Integrated Systems Solutions Corporation and an associate with
the law firm of Shearman & Sterling. He holds a B.A. in Economics and English from Binghamton University and a J.D. from
St. John’s University School of Law.

Charles Margiotta, 54, Senior Vice President, Business Development and President of TerraPointe LLC—Mr. Margiotta
joined Rayonier in 1976, was named Managing Director, Rayonier New Zealand in 1992, Vice President, Forest & Wood
Products in 1997, Vice President, Corporate Development & Strategic Planning in 1998 and was elected to his current position
in May 2005. Mr. Margiotta holds a B.B.A. from Pace University and graduated from the Harvard University Graduate School
of Business Advanced Management Program.
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PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Prices of our Common Shares; Dividends

The table below reflects the range of market prices of our Common Shares as reported in the consolidated transaction
reporting system of the New York Stock Exchange, the only exchange on which our shares are listed, under the trading symbol
RYN. Amounts shown below for 2005 have been restated for the October 17, 2005 three-for-two stock split.

2006 High Low Dividends

Fourth Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $42.19 $37.68 $0.47
Third Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $40.78 $36.45 $0.47
Second Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $47.50 $36.15 $0.47
First Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $46.07 $39.70 $0.47

2005
Fourth Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $41.68 $34.00 $0.47
Third Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $38.65 $34.79 $0.41
Second Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $36.67 $32.27 $0.41
First Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $33.97 $29.01 $0.41

For information about covenants in our credit facility that could restrict our ability to pay cash dividends in the future, see
Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital
Resources — Liquidity Facilities.

On February 27, 2007, the Company announced a first quarter dividend of 47 cents per share payable March 30, 2007, to
shareholders of record on March 9, 2007.

There were approximately 11,613 shareholders of record of our Common Shares on February 19, 2007.

Sales of Unregistered Securities

Periodically, we issue shares of our common stock to each of our non-management directors as part of their compensation.
These shares are not registered and must be sold in reliance on an exemption from the Securities Act of 1933.

Issuer Repurchases

In 1996, we began a Common Share repurchase program to minimize the dilutive effect on earnings per share of our
employee incentive stock plans. This program limits the number of shares that may be purchased each year to the greater of 1.5
percent of outstanding shares at the beginning of the year or the number of incentive shares issued to employees during the year.
In October 2000 and July 2003, our Board of Directors authorized the purchase of additional shares totaling 1.4 million. These
shares were authorized separately from the 1.5 percent of outstanding shares anti-dilutive program, neither of which have
expiration dates. No shares under these repurchase plans or otherwise were repurchased in 2005 or 2004. Below is a summary of
shares authorized for repurchase at December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:

2006 2005 2004

Shares authorized for repurchase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,444,227 2,066,763 2,052,375

The following table provides information with respect to share repurchases by the Company during the fiscal fourth quarter
of 2006.

Fiscal Month

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased

Average
Price

Paid per
Share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced
Plans or Programs

Maximum Number (or
Approximate Dollar

Value) of Shares
that May Yet be

Purchased Under the
Plans or Programs

October 1, 2006 to October 31, 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — $ — — —
November 1, 2006 to November 30, 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — $ — — —
December 1, 2006 to December 31, 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 818* $41.52 — —

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 818 — —

* The Company awarded 818 shares of restricted stock to a member of its Board of Directors on December 8, 2006.
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Stock Performance Graph

This table compares the performance from 2001 – 2006 of Common Shares (assuming reinvestment of dividends) with a
broad-based market index (Standard & Poor’s 500), and two industry-specific indices (the Standard & Poor’s SuperComposite
Paper and Forest Products Index, and the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) Equity REIT
Index).

The following Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed to be “filed” with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act
of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it
by reference into such filing.

CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
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Dec-01 Dec-02 Dec-03 Dec-04 Dec-05 Dec-06

Rayonier Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $100 $ 92 $155 $192 $247 $266
S&P 500® . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $100 $ 78 $100 $111 $117 $135
S&P© SuperComposite Paper & Forest Products Index . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $100 $ 86 $118 $131 $126 $133
NAREIT Equity REIT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $100 $104 $142 $187 $210 $284

17



Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following historical financial data for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2006 is derived from,
and should be read in conjunction with, our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

(dollar amounts in millions, except per share data)

Profitability
Sales(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,230 $ 1,181 $ 1,163 $ 1,060 $ 1,080
Operating income before gain on sale of New Zealand

timber assets(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 222 183 173 106 130
Operating income(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 230 220 173 106 130
Provision for dispositions(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (3) — — (3)
Income from continuing operations(9) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 171 208 160 53 54
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 176 183 157 50 54
Income from continuing operations:

Per share — Diluted(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.19 2.68 2.09 0.82 0.85
Per share — Basic(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.23 2.75 2.15 0.84 0.86

Net income
Per share — Diluted(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.26 2.36 2.05 0.77 0.86
Per share — Basic(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.30 2.42 2.11 0.79 0.87

Financial Condition:
Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,963 $ 1,839 $ 1,944 $ 1,840 $ 1,889
Total debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 659 559 659 618 653
Book value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 916 892 803 711 710
Book value — per share(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11.91 11.72 10.72 9.67 11.38

Cash Flow:
Cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 307 $ 254 $ 292 $ 201 $ 246
Cash used for investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (385) (24) (179) (90) (76)
Cash used for financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (30) (216) (52) (115) (242)
Capital expenditures, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 105 85 88 84 77
Purchase of timberlands and real estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 299 24 89 — —
Depreciation, depletion and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 136 147 146 151 158
Cash dividends paid(4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 144 129 111 105 40

Non-GAAP Financial Measures:(5)
EBITDA(6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 366 $ 378 $ 319 $ 259 $ 294
Adjusted cash available for distribution(7) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 175 165 132 104 82
Debt to EBITDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.8 to 1 1.5 to 1 2.1 to 1 2.4 to 1 2.2 to 1

Performance Ratios(%):
Operating income to sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 19 15 10 12
Return on equity(8) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 25 21 7 8
Return on capital(8) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 14 11 4 4
Debt to capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42 39 45 47 48

Other:
Timberland and real estate acres — owned, leased, or managed,

in thousands of acres . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,681 2,473 2,155 2,107 2,151
Dividends paid — per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1.88 $ 1.71 $ 1.49 $ 5.62 $ 0.64
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Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Selected Operating Data:
Timber

Timber sales volume
Northwest U.S. — in millions of board feet . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 274 263 285 225 252
Southeast U.S. — in thousands of short green tons . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,740 4,832 4,291 4,524 4,881
New Zealand — in thousands of metric tons* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . N/A 464 646 632 805

Real Estate — acres sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,251 30,026 35,906 40,595 44,256
Performance Fibers

Sales volume (thousands of metric tons)
Cellulose Specialties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 474 470 453 435 435
Absorbent Materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 272 276 266 273 271

Production as a percent of capacity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 101% 100% 99% 97% 99%

Wood Products
Lumber sales volume — in millions of board feet . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 350 351 347 310 325

Geographical Data (Non-U.S.)
Sales

New Zealand . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 33 $ 49 $ 50 $ 45 $ 49
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15 10 26 12 41

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 48 $ 59 $ 76 $ 57 $ 90

Operating Income (Loss)
New Zealand . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1) $ 1 $ 5 $ 7 $ 9
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (1) 2

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1) $ 1 $ 5 $ 6 $ 11

Timber
Sales

Northwest U.S. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 109 $ 99 $ 81 $ 58 $ 65
Southeast U.S. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 88 86 77 75 86
New Zealand * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 23 28 20 21

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 207 $ 208 $ 186 $ 153 $ 172

Operating Income (Loss)
Northwest U.S. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 60 $ 55 $ 42 $ 27 $ 44
Southeast U.S. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31 30 24 20 27
New Zealand . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1) 2 6 5 5

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 90 $ 87 $ 72 $ 52 $ 76

EBITDA(10)
Timber . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 142.8 $ 146.9 $ 128.2 $ 108.5 $ 137.5
Real Estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 90.6 68.1 79.7 96.3 61.4
Performance Fibers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 152.7 129.9 125.1 77.6 118.1
Wood Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.1 23.5 22.3 7.4 (2.8)
Other Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.9 1.6 6.9 0.2 (2.4)
Corporate and other** . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (26.6) 7.9 (43.6) (31.4) (18.3)

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 365.5 $ 377.9 $ 318.6 $ 258.6 $ 293.5

* 2006 reflects sales through October 4, 2005, prior to the JV formation.
** Corporate and other includes a $7.8 million gain from partial sale of JV investment (2006) and a $37 million gain from the

sale of New Zealand timberlands (2005).
(1) On August 28, 2005 we sold our MDF business. MDF results have been reclassified to discontinued operations.
(2) Primarily related to environmental reserves for the closed Port Angeles, WA mill.
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(3) Restated to reflect the October 17, 2005 and June 12, 2003 three-for-two stock splits.
(4) 2003 includes regular dividends of $44 million and a special cash dividend of $61 million that was made as part of a

required accumulated earnings and profits distribution in connection with the Company’s conversion to a REIT on
January 1, 2004.

(5) This information includes two measures of financial results: Earnings from Continuing Operations before Interest, Taxes,
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (EBITDA) and Adjusted Cash Available for Distribution (Adjusted CAD).
These measures are not defined by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and the discussion of EBITDA and
Adjusted CAD is not intended to conflict with or change any of the GAAP disclosures included in this table. Management
considers these measures to be important to estimate the enterprise and shareholder values of the Company as a whole and
of its core segments, and for allocating capital resources. In addition, analysts, investors and creditors use these measures
when analyzing our financial condition and cash generating ability. EBITDA is defined by the Securities and Exchange
Commission; however, Adjusted CAD as defined may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other
companies.

(6) EBITDA is defined as earnings from continuing operations before interest, taxes, depreciation, depletion and amortization.
EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of the operating cash generating capacity of the Company. See table in Item 7 —
Management’s Discussion and Analysis for a reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities to EBITDA.

(7) Adjusted Cash Available for Distribution (Adjusted CAD) is defined as Cash Provided by Operating Activities less capital
spending, adjusted for equity based compensation adjustment amounts, tax benefits associated with certain strategic
acquisitions, changes in committed cash, mandatory debt repayments and proceeds from matured energy forward contracts.
Adjusted CAD is a non-GAAP measure of cash generated during a period that is available for dividend distribution,
repurchase of the Company’s common shares, debt reduction and for strategic acquisitions net of associated financing. See
table in Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis for a reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities to
Adjusted CAD.

(8) Return on equity is calculated by dividing income from continuing operations by the average of the opening (1/1/XX) and
ending (12/31/XX) shareholders’ equity for each period presented. Return on capital is calculated by dividing income from
continuing operations by the sum of average shareholders’ equity and average outstanding debt.

(9) Included in the calculation of income from continuing operations are certain items that are infrequent in occurrence and
are, in the eyes of management, important to understand the financial performance or liquidity of the Company in the
comparative annual periods being reported. These “items of interest” and their effect on income from continuing operations
for the periods presented were as follows:

Increase/(decrease) to Income
from Continuing Operations for the

Year Ended December 31,

Items of Interest, net of tax 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Gain on sale of New Zealand assets(a) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $6.4 $30.5 $ — $ — $ —
Prior years IRS audit settlements including resulting adjustments to accrued

interest and deferred taxes(b) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9.0 24.9 — 2.3 —
Property tax settlement(c) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.1 — — — —
Tax benefit on repatriated earnings(d) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 25.4 — — —
Arbitration award(e) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 5.2 — — —
Disposition reserve(f) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1.9) — — (1.7)
Reversal of deferred tax(g) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 77.9 — —
U.S. tax on undistributed foreign earnings(h) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (28.2) — —
REIT expense(i) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (4.0) (5.1) —
Northwest US harvest delay(j) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 2.7 (2.7) —
Tax benefit on loan settlements(k) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 3.6 2.0

(a) In 2005, we sold our New Zealand timber assets to the JV as part of its formation and, in 2006, we sold a portion of
our interest in the New Zealand JV.

(b) Tax benefits from the favorable resolution of tax audits for prior years and related interest.
(c) Reversal of prior years Jesup Mill property tax accruals due to settlement.
(d) Lower U.S. tax benefit related to the repatriation of undistributed foreign earnings.
(e) Gain from an arbitration award related to the sharing of insurance proceeds by our former parent company.
(f) Primarily related to an environmental reserve for the closed Port Angeles, WA mill.
(g) Reversal of timber-related deferred taxes not required after REIT conversion.
(h) Additional U.S. tax for eventual repatriation of undistributed foreign earnings generated prior to March 31, 2004.
(i) REIT conversion expenses.
(j) Delayed harvest and revenue recognition in the Northwest U.S., resulting from change from lump-sum to pay-as-cut

contracts in anticipation of converting to a REIT.
(k) Tax benefit on foreign exchange loss related to settlement of New Zealand dollar denominated intercompany loans.

(10) EBITDA by segment is a critical valuation measure used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker, existing shareholders
and potential shareholders to measure how management is performing relative to the assets with which they have been
entrusted. The tables below reconcile Cash Provided by Operating Activities from Continuing Operations by segment to
EBITDA by segment for the five years ended December 31, 2006.
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Reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities from Continuing
Operations by Segment to EBITDA by Segment
(Dollars in Millions)

Timber
Real

Estate*
Performance

Fibers
Wood

Products Other

Corporate
and

Eliminations Total

2006
Cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . $158.3 $103.0 $127.3 $ 5.6 $ 13.6 $(100.9) $306.9
Less: Non-cash cost basis of real estate sold . . . . . . . . — (12.3) — — (0.1) — (12.4)
Add: Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — 19.1 19.1

Gain on sale of portion of New Zealand JV . . . . — — — — — 7.8 7.8
Interest, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — 39.1 39.1
Working capital (decreases) increases . . . . . . . . (11.8) 0.2 24.6 (1.5) (10.5) (3.3) (2.3)
Other balance sheet changes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3.7) (0.3) 0.8 — (1.1) 11.6 7.3

EBITDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $142.8 $ 90.6 $152.7 $ 4.1 $ 1.9 $ (26.6) $365.5

2005
Cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . $164.8 $ 80.8 $132.4 $22.3 $ (4.6) $(141.6) $254.1
Less: Non-cash cost basis of real estate sold . . . . . . . . — (11.0) — — (0.8) — (11.8)

Income tax benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — (16.9) (16.9)
Add: Gain on New Zealand timberland sale . . . . . . . . — — — — — 36.9 36.9

Interest, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — 38.8 38.8
Working capital (decreases) increases . . . . . . . . (3.6) 4.9 (2.4) 1.2 5.5 10.8 16.4
Other balance sheet changes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (14.3) (6.6) (0.1) — 1.5 79.9 60.4

EBITDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $146.9 $ 68.1 $129.9 $23.5 $ 1.6 $ 7.9 $377.9

2004
Cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . $126.2 $ 83.9 $125.8 $22.6 $ 17.8 $ (84.0) $292.3
Less: Non-cash cost basis of real estate sold . . . . . . . . — (10.5) — — (0.5) — (11.0)

Income tax benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — (33.6) (33.6)
Add: Interest, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — 44.1 44.1

Working capital (decreases) increases . . . . . . . . (6.4) 3.5 (2.6) (0.3) (9.8) (21.8) (37.4)
Other balance sheet changes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.4 2.8 1.9 — (0.6) 51.7 64.2

EBITDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $128.2 $ 79.7 $125.1 $22.3 $ 6.9 $ (43.6) $318.6

2003
Cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . $128.2 $102.5 $ 73.3 $ 5.2 $ — $(107.9) $201.3
Less: Non-cash cost basis of real estate sold . . . . . . . . — (5.5) — — (0.4) — (5.9)
Add: Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — 6.1 6.1

Interest, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — 46.0 46.0
Working capital (decreases) increases . . . . . . . . (16.2) (0.7) 3.4 1.9 1.9 29.3 19.6
Other balance sheet changes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3.5) — 0.9 0.3 (1.3) (4.9) (8.5)

EBITDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $108.5 $ 96.3 $ 77.6 $ 7.4 $ 0.2 $ (31.4) $258.6

2002
Cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . $137.9 $ 72.3 $118.0 $ (3.9) $ 11.1 $ (89.5) $245.9
Less: Non-cash cost basis of real estate sold . . . . . . . . — (11.1) — — (2.6) — (13.7)
Add: Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — 15.7 15.7

Interest, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — 59.8 59.8
Working capital increases (decreases) . . . . . . . . 2.8 0.2 (12.7) 0.1 (7.8) 7.9 (9.5)
Other balance sheet changes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3.2) — 12.8 1.0 (3.1) (12.2) (4.7)

EBITDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $137.5 $ 61.4 $118.1 $ (2.8) $ (2.4) $ (18.3) $293.5

* Real Estate became a reportable segment in 2005.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Executive Summary

Our revenues, operating income and cash flows are primarily derived from three core business segments: Timber, Real
Estate and Performance Fibers. We own or lease (under long-term agreements) approximately 2.2 million acres of timberland
and real estate in Georgia, Florida, Alabama, Oklahoma, Arkansas, Texas, Louisiana New York, Alabama and Washington and
we believe we are the fifth largest private landowner in the United States. In addition, we have a 40 percent interest in a
New Zealand JV which owns or leases approximately 351,000 acres of timberland, which we manage. In addition, we manage
114,000 acres of timberlands in Australia. Our Real Estate business seeks to maximize the value of those properties which are
more valuable for development, recreational or conservation uses than for growing timber. Our Performance Fibers business has
been a supplier of premier cellulose specialty grades of pulp for more than eighty years.

We have consistently produced strong cash flows and operating results by focusing on the following critical financial
measures: segment operating income and EBITDA, adjusted cash available for distribution, debt to EBITDA ratio, debt to
capital ratio, return on equity, return on fair market value (Timber and Real Estate) and return on capital employed
(Performance Fibers). In addition to these financial measures, we also focus on cash available for distribution, in total and on a
per-share basis. Key non-financial measures include safety and environmental performance, quality, production as a percent of
capacity and various yield statistics.

Our focus is on maximizing returns for shareholders and generating consistently strong cash flows. As a REIT, we have
become more competitive in pursuing timberland acquisitions to further grow the Company and acquired 228,000 acres of
timberlands in 2006. Also in 2006, we increased our annual dividend paid per share to $1.88 per share, a 10 percent increase
over 2005. Our 2007 dividend payments are expected to increase from $144 million to $146 million, assuming no change in the
2006 rate of $1.88 per share.

Since 1999, we have used cash flow to reduce debt by approximately $500 million, resulting in a current debt-to-capital
ratio of 42 percent. We believe that a debt-to-EBITDA ratio of up to three times is appropriate to keep our weighted average
cost of capital low while maintaining an investment grade debt rating as well as retaining the flexibility to actively pursue
growth opportunities primarily in timber but also to some extent in real estate. Accordingly, we do not expect to significantly
reduce debt in 2007 and, in connection with appropriate growth opportunities, may incur additional debt that causes us to
exceed the debt-to-capital range mentioned above.

Operational Strategies

Timber is sold primarily through an auction process, although in the Northwest U.S. it is also marketed through log supply
agreements. We operate Timber as a stand-alone business, requiring our mills and trading groups to compete with third-party
bidders for timber at auction. This promotes realizing market value, generating a true measure of fair value returns in Timber
and minimizing the possibility of our manufacturing facilities being subsidized with below-market cost wood. We also focus on
optimizing timber returns by continually improving productivity and yields through advanced silvicultural practices which take
into account soil, climate and biological considerations.

A significant portion of our acreage has become, or is emerging as, more valuable for development, recreational or
conservation purposes than for growing timber. To maximize the value of those properties, we changed our strategy from selling
real estate in bulk to engaging in value-added development activities for these properties. In 2005, we established a real estate
subsidiary, TerraPointe LLC, to lead these development activities. In 2006 we entered our first “participation” agreements with
two premier development partners, under which we retain an interest in development-related revenues from the properties.

In Performance Fibers, the focus has been to improve our position as a premier supplier of cellulose specialties while
reducing participation in the more commodity-oriented absorbent materials (primarily fluff pulp) market. We are a market
leader in cellulose specialties, utilizing our considerable technical applications expertise to customize product to exacting
specifications, which allows differentiation from most other competitors. Conversely, fluff pulp is a semi-commodity with little
opportunity for differentiation other than by price, although we do explore ways to enhance the value of these fibers. There are a
number of much larger companies in the fluff pulp market and we are not a market leader. We have been successful in
executing a strategy of shifting production from absorbent materials to cellulose specialties. In 2006, 64 percent of sales volume
was cellulose specialties, versus 61 percent in 2003. Since a further significant shift of volume to cellulose specialties will be
operationally limited, our focus will be on improving the product mix within cellulose specialties.

Cost control is a critical element to remaining competitive in the Performance Fibers markets. The keys to success are
operating continuously, safely, and efficiently while closely managing raw materials and conversion costs. Capital expenditures
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typically are directed toward cost reduction, product enhancements and efficiency projects. We historically have used a
significant amount of fossil fuels to operate our mills. With the surge in energy prices we initiated a number of capital projects
to reduce fossil fuel consumption, including a recently completed power boiler replacement which is expected to consume
primarily wood waste and significantly reduce oil usage. These projects resulted in 2006 capital expenditures above our
historical $85 million to $90 million range. We expect capital expenditures (excluding strategic acquisitions) to range from $90
million to $95 million in 2007.

Industry and Market Conditions

Timber markets softened in the last half of 2006 after three years of steady increases. This softening was caused by the
declining demand for lumber due to considerably weakened housing and construction markets. Lumber prices hit fourteen-year
lows before settling at levels 25 percent below year-end 2005.

Our Southeast U.S. HBU properties have consistently generated strong interest which continued in early 2006, but then
declined somewhat with the weakness in the housing market.

In Performance Fibers, cellulose specialties’ market demand remains strong. Sales are typically made under one to five
year contracts which establish prices and target volumes at the beginning of the year and buffer some of the changes in supply
and demand typically seen in worldwide commodity pulp and paper markets. In 2006, we secured long-term contracts for 80
percent of our high-value cellulose specialties production into 2011. Our recognized technical and market leadership has
allowed us to maintain relatively stable pricing across our cellulose specialties product lines. In 2003, International Paper closed
its Natchez, Mississippi mill, a major cellulose specialties competitor, taking approximately 260,000 tons of capacity out of the
market. In 2006, Weyerhaeuser closed its 155,000 metric ton cellulose specialty mill located in Cosmopolis, Washington. These
closures were the primary drivers of 2005 and 2006 price and volume increases in cellulose specialties. Weyerhaeuser has since
announced a potential sale of the Cosmopolis mill, which could come back on-line in 2007. Additionally, we expect capacity to
come on-line from competitors in the Southern hemisphere sometime in 2008 and 2009.

Over the past three years, absorbent materials industry capacity has met demand resulting in a relatively small pricing
range. However, absorbent materials prices strengthened in 2006, consistent with the commodity paper pulp market, while
volumes also improved. Sales of absorbent materials are typically made with an annual volume agreement that allows price to
move with the market during the year.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, reported in our Annual Report on Form
10-K. We base these estimates and assumptions on historical data and trends, current fact patterns, expectations and other
sources of information we believe are reasonable. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different conditions.

Merchantable inventory and depletion costs as determined by forestry timber harvest models

Significant assumptions and estimates are used in the recording of timberland inventory cost and depletion. We employ a
forestry technical services group at each of our timberland management locations. Merchantable standing timber inventory is
estimated annually, using industry-standard computer software. The inventory calculation takes into account growth, in-growth
(annual transfer of oldest pre-merchantable age class into merchantable inventory), timberland sales and the annual harvest
specific to each business unit. The age at which timber is considered merchantable is reviewed periodically and updated for
changing harvest practices, future harvest age profiles and biological growth factors. An annual depletion rate is established at
each business unit for its particular regions by dividing merchantable inventory book cost by standing merchantable inventory.
Pre-merchantable records are maintained for each planted year age class, recording acres planted, stems per acre, and costs of
planting and tending. Changes in the assumptions and/or estimations used in these calculations may affect our results, in
particular, timber inventory and depletion costs. Factors that can impact timber volume include weather changes, losses due to
natural causes, differences in actual versus estimated growth rates and changes in the age when timber is considered
merchantable. A 3 percent company-wide change in estimated standing merchantable inventory would cause 2006 depletion
expense to change by approximately $1.5 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, Rayonier acquired approximately 228,000 acres of timberland located in six states
resulting in a higher depletion rate which increased depletion expense by approximately $0.4 million. It is anticipated that the
full year 2007 impact will increase depletion expense by approximately $17.7 million.



Effective January 1, 2007, Rayonier’s Northwest timber business unit decreased the age at which it moves timber into its
merchantable timber pool from 41 to 35 years. This change added 338 million board feet (36 percent) of timber to the
merchantable pool. The anticipated impact of this change on the 2007 depletion expense is an increase of $0.5 million.

Depreciation and impairment of long-lived assets

Depreciation expense is computed using the units-of-production method for the Performance Fibers plants and equipment
and the straight-line method on all other property, plant and equipment over the useful economic lives of the assets involved.
We believe that these depreciation methods are the most appropriate under the circumstances as they most closely match
revenues with expenses versus other generally accepted accounting methods. Long-lived assets are periodically reviewed for
impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Cash flows
used in such impairment analyses are based on budgeted projections, which take into account recent sales and cost data as well
as macroeconomic drivers including customer demand, industry capacity and foreign exchange rates. The physical life of
equipment, however, may be shortened by economic obsolescence caused by environmental regulation, competition and other
causes.

Environmental costs associated with dispositions and discontinued operations

At December 31, 2006, we had $123 million of accrued liabilities for environmental costs relating to past dispositions and
discontinued operations, which is expected to be spent over the next 20 years. See Note 15 – Reserves for Dispositions and
Discontinued Operations for additional information. Significant estimates are used in determining the proper value of these
obligations at a given point in time, especially due to their long-term nature. Typically, these cost estimates do not vary
significantly on a quarter to quarter basis. Factors affecting these estimates include, but are not limited to, technological and
regulatory changes, results from ongoing work and management’s judgment. We periodically review our environmental
liabilities and also engage third party consultants to assess the extent of additional work required due to changes in applicable
law and new technologies potentially affecting the remediation of contaminated sites. A material change in any of the estimates
could have a favorable or unfavorable effect on the results of our operations. The most recent material change in estimate
occurred in 2006, when reserves were decreased by $8 million primarily due to revised estimates of remediation costs required
at our Southern Wood Piedmont sites.

Expenditures for all such environmental costs totaled $10 million in 2006 and are expected to increase to $11 million in
2007, primarily as a result of increased spending required at our Port Angeles, Washington former mill site. Annual
expenditures in 2008 and 2009 are expected to be approximately $11 million and $7 million, respectively.

Determining the adequacy of pension assets and liabilities

We have four qualified benefit plans which cover substantially our entire U.S. workforce and an unfunded plan to provide
benefits in excess of amounts allowable under current tax law to participants in the qualified plans. Pension expense for all plans
was $12 million in 2006. Numerous estimates and assumptions are required to determine the proper amount of pension and
postretirement liabilities and annual expense to record in our financial statements. The key assumptions include discount rate,
return on assets, salary increases, health care cost trends, mortality rates, longevity and service lives of employees. Although
there is authoritative guidance on how to select most of these assumptions, management and actuaries exercise some degree of
judgment when selecting these assumptions. Different assumptions, as well as actual versus expected results, would change the
periodic benefit cost and funded status of the benefit plans recognized in the financial statements.

In determining pension expense in 2006, a $16.6 million return was assumed based on an expected long-term rate of return
of 8.5 percent. The actual return for 2006 was $30.8 million or 14.9 percent. This long-term return assumption was established
based on historical long-term rates of return on broad equity and bond indices, discussions with our actuary and investment
advisors and consideration of the actual annualized rate of return of 10.8 percent from 1994 (the date of our spin-off from ITT
Corporation) through 2006. We periodically review this assumption for reasonableness and have determined that the 2007 long-
term rate of return assumption should remain at 8.5 percent. At December 31, 2006 our asset mix consisted of 66 percent
equities, 30 percent bonds and 4 percent real estate. We do not expect this mix to change materially in the near future.

In determining future pension obligations, we use a discount rate which is based on rates supplied by our actuary. The
actuarial rates are developed by models which incorporate high quality (AAA and AA rated), long-term corporate bond rates
into their calculations. The discount rate at December 31, 2006 of 6.00 percent increased from the year-end 2005 rate of 5.75
percent.

We expect 2007 pension expense to decrease to $10 million from $12 million in 2006 primarily due to the increase in the
discount rate from 5.75 percent to 6.00 percent and favorable returns in the past three years. Future pension expense will be
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impacted by many factors including actual investment performance, changes in discount rates, timing of contributions and other
employee related matters. The sensitivity of pension expense and obligations to changes in economic assumptions is highlighted
below:

Impact on:

Change in Assumption Pension Expense PBO

25 bp decrease in discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . + $0.8 million + $7.4 million
25 bp increase in discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - $0.8 million - $7.4 million
25 bp decrease in long-term return on assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . + $0.5 million
25 bp increase in long-term return on assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - $0.5 million

The Company’s pension plans were underfunded by $13.5 million at December 31, 2006, a $24.8 million improvement to
the December 31, 2005 position primarily due to discretionary contributions of $12.6 million made during 2006 and favorable
plan asset returns. There were no minimum funding requirements for the 2006 plan year. In 2005 and 2004, discretionary
contributions of $27.5 and $20.6 million, respectively, were made. While there are no required contributions for 2007, we
expect to contribute approximately $10 million. Future requirements will vary depending on actual investment performance,
changes in valuation assumptions, interest rates, other employee related matters and requirements under the recently enacted
Pension Protection Act.

Realizability of both recorded and unrecorded tax assets and liabilities

Our income tax provision and deferred tax balances changed materially upon the conversion to REIT status. As a REIT,
certain operations are generally not subject to taxation. As a result, our effective tax rate and the amount of taxes paid during
various fiscal periods can vary greatly. Also, our projection of estimated tax for the year and our provision for quarterly taxes, in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (SFAS 109), may have
greater variability than in the past. Similarly, the opportunity to realize certain deferred tax assets, or to estimate deferred tax
liabilities, may be more subjective than in the past.

We have recorded certain deferred tax assets that management believes will be realized in future periods. These assets are
reviewed periodically in order to assess their realizability. This review requires us to make assumptions and estimates about
future profitability affecting the realization of these tax benefits. If the review indicates that the realizability may be less than
likely, a valuation allowance is made at that time.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). This Interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertain tax positions
recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS 109. It prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in
a tax return. In addition, it provides guidance on derecognition, classification and interest and penalties. FIN 48 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 and we will adopt FIN 48 in the first quarter of 2007.

See Note 9 — Income Taxes for additional policies relating to income taxes.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue recognition policies are critical to the preparation of our financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for a discussion of our revenue
recognition policies.



Summary of our results of operations for three years ended December 31, 2006
Year Ended December 31,

Financial Information (in millions) 2006 2005 2004

Sales
Timber . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 207 $ 208 $ 186
Real Estate

Development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 72 42 25
Rural . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37 42 67
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 2 4

Total Real Estate Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 112 86 96
Performance Fibers

Cellulose Specialties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 500 449 419
Absorbent Materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 172 179 163

Total Performance Fibers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 672 628 582
Wood Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 111 137 126
Other operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 128 123 174
Intersegment Eliminations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1) (1)

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,230 $1,181 $1,163

Operating Income (Loss)
Timber . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 90 $ 87 $ 72
Real Estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 89 64 75
Performance Fibers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80 53 47
Wood Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3) 16 13
Other Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1 6
Corporate and Other Expenses/Eliminations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (35) (38) (40)

Operating Income Before Gain on Sale of Timber Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 222 183 173
Gain on Sale of Timber Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 37 —

Total Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 230 220 173
Interest Expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (49) (47) (47)
Interest/Other income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 18 1
Income Tax (expense)/benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (19) 17 33

Income from Continuing Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 171 $ 208 $ 160
Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 (25) (3)

Net Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 176 $ 183 $ 157
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Results of Operations, 2006 versus 2005

Timber

In the Northwest U.S., 2006 timber sales improved as prices and volume increased 4 percent over 2005 due to a strong
housing market early in the year and reduced log supply from Canada.

In the Southeast U.S., prices were 3 percent above 2005 as strong sawlog demand earlier in 2006 more than offset
weakening prices later in the year. Volumes declined slightly as a result of weakening timber demand for lumber products.

In New Zealand, sales declined from the prior year primarily due to the 2005 fourth quarter sale of our timberlands to a JV
in which we hold a 40 percent interest. Our equity in the earnings of the JV is included in timber operations.

Changes Attributable to:

Sales (in millions) 2005 Price
Volume/

Mix Other* 2006

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $208 $7 $3 $(11) $207

* Includes the impact of New Zealand’s 2005 sales.

Operating income increased from the prior year due to strong prices in the Northwest and Southeast U.S. and higher sales
volumes in the Northwest U.S. more than offsetting lower earnings from New Zealand.

Changes Attributable to:

Operating Income (in millions) 2005 Price
Volume/

Mix
Costs/

Other* 2006

Total Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $87 $7 $(1) $(3) $90

* Includes the JV results. In the fourth quarter of 2006, we acquired 228,000 acres of timberland for $272 million, which had
minimal impact on 2006 Timber segment results. See Note 3 — Segment and Geographical Information for additional
information.

Real Estate

Our HBU real estate holdings are primarily in the Southern U.S. We segregate these real estate holdings into two groups:
development and rural properties. Development properties are predominantly located in the eleven coastal counties between
Savannah, GA and Daytona Beach, FL, while the rural properties essentially include the balance of our ownership in the South.
Our real estate holdings in the Northwest comprise the Other category.

In 2006, real estate sales and operating income increased from 2005 as higher development sales offset lower rural sales. In
the fourth quarter of 2006, we closed on two “participation” transactions totaling $33 million. For the first transaction, we
received $10 million in cash at closing and have the option to receive $17.5 million when the property is entitled, or at that time,
to convert the balance ($17.5 million) to a participation arrangement where we would receive a percentage of gross revenue
from the sales of home lots. The second transaction was for $28.3 million of which $22.6 million was received at closing and
the remaining $5.7 million will be earned when the purchaser builds and sells homes to third parties. For both transactions, the
cash received at closing was in excess of the minimum down payment requirement of 25 percent under SFAS No. 66,
Accounting for Real Estate Sales, therefore the revenue recorded was based upon the proceeds received. All of our cost basis of
the real estate sold and the related closing costs were expensed at closing.

Changes Attributable to:

Sales (in millions) 2005 Price
Volume/

Mix 2006

Development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $42 $ 7 $ 23 $ 72
Rural . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42 8 (13) 37
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 — 1 3

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $86 $15 $ 11 $112

Changes Attributable to:

Operating Income (in millions) 2005 Price
Volume/

Mix 2006

Total Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $64 $15 $ 10 $ 89



Performance Fibers

In 2006, cellulose specialty sales improved by $51 million or 11 percent due to increased price and volume. Market
demand for cellulose specialties resulted in an average price increase of $99 per ton, or 10 percent. This price increase included
a fuel oil surcharge on all acetate and other cellulose specialty volume allowable by contract, totaling $14 million.

Sales of absorbent materials decreased $7 million primarily due to the fourth quarter 2005 disposition of our Engineered
Absorbent Materials (EAM) facility which contributed $14 million in sales for 2005. EAM’s impact on sales was partly offset
by a $3 million increase in by-product sales.

Changes Attributable to:

Sales (in millions) 2005 Price
Volume/

Mix Other * 2006

Cellulose Specialties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $449 $47 $4 $ — $500
Absorbent Materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 179 2 2 (11) 172

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $628 $49 $6 $(11) $672

* Includes the impact of EAM’s 2005 sales.

Operating income in 2006 improved by $27 million, or 51 percent, from 2005. Cellulose Specialties’ price and volume
increases and the reversal of prior year accruals after a favorable property tax settlement ($5 million) more than offset increased
costs of raw materials, energy, labor and maintenance.

Changes Attributable to:

Operating Income (in millions) 2005 Price
Volume/

Mix Costs Other* 2006

Total Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $53 $49 $1 $(30) $7 $80

* Includes the impact of EAM’s 2005 operating income and reversal of prior year property tax accruals.

Wood Products

Lumber prices declined 18 percent as a result of reduced demand in the housing market and higher quantities of Canadian
imported lumber. The increase in imports was in anticipation of a 15 percent export tax that was imposed on Canadian exported
lumber to the U.S. beginning October 12, 2006, pursuant to the recently signed 2006 Softwood Trade Agreement.

Changes Attributable to:

Sales (in millions) 2005 Price Volume 2006

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $137 $(25) $(1) $111

Operating income decreased from the prior year primarily as a result of lower selling prices.

Changes Attributable to:

Operating Income/(Loss) (in millions) 2005 Price
Volume/

Mix Costs 2006

Total Operating Income/(Loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $16 $(25) $1 $5 $(3)

Other Operations

Sales increased in 2006 as a result of higher royalty income from coal extractions while operating income was consistent
with the prior year. Effective November 2006, Trans Alta, the third party mining operation, announced that they are ceasing
their operations in Lewis County, Washington.

Corporate and Other Expenses/Eliminations

Corporate and Other Expense declined $3 million in 2006 from the prior year primarily due to reduced business
development expense.

Gain on Sale of New Zealand Timber Assets

The gains on sale of New Zealand assets contributed $37 million in 2005 (timberland sale to a joint venture) and $8 million
in 2006 (partial sale of investment in the joint venture). See Note 5 — Joint Venture Investment for details of the transactions.
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Interest and Other Income/Expense

In comparison to the prior year, interest expense increased by $2 million primarily due to a litigation-related accrual and
higher debt.

The $9 million decline in interest and other income in 2006 largely resulted from an arbitration award that was received in
the third quarter of 2005 partly offset by increased interest income due to higher cash levels in 2006.

Income Tax (Expense)/Benefit

The 2006 effective tax rate before discrete items was 16.3 percent compared to 14.2 percent in 2005. The increase was
primarily due to lower tax benefits from foreign operations, partly offset by higher REIT income. The 2005 rate included a $6.5
million tax benefit from the sale of New Zealand timber assets. Including discrete items, the 2006 effective tax rate was 10.0
percent compared to a benefit of 8.8 percent in 2005.

See Note 9 — Income Taxes for additional information regarding the provision for income taxes.

Outlook

Our focus in 2007 will be to integrate the 2006 timberland acquisitions into our operations, continue to move up the value
chain in real estate through additional “participation” agreements and invest in high-return cost improvement projects at our
Performance Fibers mills. We expect 2007 earnings to be generally in line with 2006. While we expect the housing slowdown
will put pressure on timber and real estate markets in the near term, the impact should be mostly offset by our Performance
Fibers business. First quarter 2007 results are expected to be slightly below first quarter 2006 primarily due to lower timber
earnings.

Results of Operations, 2005 versus 2004

Timber

In the Northwest U.S., 2005 timber sales improved as prices increased 39 percent over the prior year due to a strong
housing market and a reduced log supply from Canada. Our volume declined from 2004 as Northwest timber volume benefited
from the deferral of fourth quarter 2003 sales as a result of contract term revisions made in preparation for our REIT conversion
on January 1, 2004.

In the Southeast U.S., prices were relatively unchanged compared to the prior year, but pine and hardwood volume rose 13
percent primarily as a result of the 2004 timberland acquisition of 83,000 acres in Alabama.

In New Zealand, sales declined from the prior year primarily due to the fourth quarter sale of our timberlands to a JV in
which we hold a 49.7 percent interest. Our equity in the earnings of the JV is included in timber operations. For the fourth
quarter of 2005, a loss of $1.4 million was recorded due to start-up costs and delays in harvesting activities.

Changes Attributable to:

Sales (in millions) 2004 Price
Volume/

Mix Other 2005

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $186 $22 $(3) $3 $208

Operating income increased from the prior year due to strong prices in the Northwest U.S., a $1.2 million favorable lawsuit
settlement and higher sales volumes in the Southeast U.S. more than offsetting a higher depletion rate as a result of acquisitions,
increased transportation costs and the JV’s start-up costs.

Changes Attributable to:

Operating Income (in millions) 2004 Price
Volume/

Mix
Costs/
Other 2005

Total Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $72 $22 $(2) $(5) $87
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Real Estate

In 2005, real estate sales and operating income declined from 2004 which included a sale of timber lease rights on
approximately 5,500 acres that contributed $26 million in sales and $24 million in operating income (included in the Other
columns below). Excluding the 2004 timber lease rights sale, 2005 sales and operating income increased by $16 million and $13
million, respectively, primarily due to higher volume and price per acre in the development group.

Changes Attributable to:

Sales (in millions) 2004 Price
Volume/

Mix Other 2005

Development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $25 $11 $ 6 $ — $42
Rural . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 67 2 (1) (26) 42
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 1 (3) — 2

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $96 $14 $ 2 $(26) $86

Changes Attributable to:

Operating Income (in millions) 2004 Price Costs Other 2005

Total Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $75 $14 $(1) $(24) $64

Performance Fibers

In 2005, strong market demand for cellulose specialties resulted in an average price increase of $29 per ton, or 3 percent.
Additionally, production efficiencies and fewer maintenance shut-down days in 2005 resulted in a 6 percent volume increase.

The average price of absorbent materials increased by $36 per ton or 6 percent, due to slightly stronger market conditions,
and sales volume increased 4 percent.

Changes Attributable to:

Sales (in millions) 2004 Price
Volume /

Mix 2005

Cellulose Specialties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $419 $14 $16 $449
Absorbent Materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 163 10 6 179

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $582 $24 $22 $628

Price and volume increases in both cellulose specialties and absorbent materials more than offset higher wood, chemical
and energy costs.

Changes Attributable to:

Operating Income (in millions) 2004 Price Costs 2005

Total Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $47 $24 $(18) $53

Wood Products

Our lumber sales increased from 2004. We realized a 7 percent price increase due to continued strong demand in the
housing market and curtailed imports.

Changes Attributable to:

Sales (in millions) 2004 Price Volume 2005

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $126 $9 $2 $137

In 2005, operating income increased from the prior year as improved prices more than offset higher wood costs.

Changes Attributable to:

Operating Income (in millions) 2004 Price Costs 2005

Total Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $13 $9 $(6) $16

In the third quarter of 2005, we sold our MDF business. As such, the Wood Products segment has been restated to exclude
the operations and assets of MDF in all periods presented. See Note 7 — Sale of Medium-Density Fiberboard Business (MDF)
for additional information.
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Other Operations

Sales and operating income for 2005 declined as a result of weaker trading activity and lower royalty income from coal
extractions.

Corporate and Other Expenses/Eliminations

Corporate and other expenses were $2 million below 2004 reflecting the absence of REIT conversion costs and lower legal
expenses somewhat offset by higher stock price-based incentive compensation costs.

Gain on Sale of New Zealand Timber Assets

A $37 million gain from the sale of our New Zealand timberlands was recognized in 2005. See Note 5 — Joint Venture
Investment for a discussion of the sale of our New Zealand timberlands.

Interest and Other Income/Expense

Interest expense for 2005 was comparable to 2004 as higher average debt levels and interest rates were offset by the
reversal of previously accrued interest from Internal Revenue Service (IRS) audit settlements.

Interest and other income was $18 million compared to $1 million for the prior year. On August 19, 2005, we received a
$16.2 million arbitration award from proceedings against ITT Industries, Inc. (as successor-in-interest to our former parent ITT
Corporation) over the distribution of environmental litigation insurance recoveries in connection with settlements relating to
discontinued operations. Upon receipt of the settlement funds, we recorded $6.4 million of non-operating income, $1.4 million
of interest income and $0.4 million of operating income, with the remaining $8 million applied against an existing receivable.
We also received $1.9 million of insurance settlement proceeds, recognized a $1.8 million gain on the sale of the EAM
manufacturing facility and recorded $2.4 million of interest income from favorable IRS settlements.

Income Tax (Expense)/Benefit

The effective tax rate, before discrete items, increased from 11.4 percent in 2004 to 14.2 percent in 2005 due to lower LKE
tax benefits and non-U.S. operations tax benefits.

See Note 9 — Income Taxes for additional information regarding the provision for income taxes.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flow

Historically, our operations have generally produced consistent cash flows and required limited capital resources. Short-
term borrowings help fund cyclicality and seasonality in working capital needs. Long-term debt has historically been used to
fund major acquisitions.

In 2006, cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations of $307 million increased $53 million from
2005. The increase was primarily due to higher cash earnings and lower working capital requirements. Earnings rose primarily
due to improvements in our Performance Fibers and Real Estate segments partly offset by lower earnings in the Wood Products
segment. The favorable working capital requirements result from the timing of interest payments and inventory purchases partly
offset by higher income tax payments and receivables.

Cash used for investing activities of $385 million for 2006 was $361 million above 2005. This was primarily due to two
major timberland acquisitions ($272 million), the purchase of real estate previously leased ($21 million) and higher capital
spending on energy savings projects, partly offset by $22 million of proceeds from the sale of a portion of our New Zealand
joint venture interest. See Note 6 — Timberland Acquisitions, for additional information.

Cash used for financing activities for 2006 was $30 million, $186 million below 2005. This was primarily due to the
increase in long-term debt of $100 million used to finance a portion of the 2006 timberland acquisitions versus debt repayments
of $99 million in 2005, and a $15 million increase in dividends paid which reflects a 10 percent increase in the annual dividend
paid per share.

Our debt-to-capital ratio of 42 percent increased from 39 percent at year end as a result of higher debt as discussed above
and the adjustments to accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) as a result of adopting Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 158. Our percentage of debt with fixed interest rates was 62 percent as of December 31, 2006
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and 73 percent as of December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2006, cash and cash equivalents were $40 million, a $106 million
decrease from the prior year. The cash equivalents consist of marketable securities with maturities at the date of acquisition of
90 days or less.

In 2005, cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations of $254 million decreased $38 million from
2004. This decrease was primarily due to $30 million of higher income taxes paid and a $6 million increase in discretionary
pension contributions. Cash used for investing activities was $155 million below 2004, reflecting $65 million in net cash
proceeds generated from the sale of our New Zealand timberlands and $66 million of lower timberland acquisition spending. In
addition, the sale of our MDF facility generated approximately $40 million of cash, while the sale of our EAM facility generated
approximately $13 million. These cash flows enabled us to reduce debt by $99 million, finance strategic timberland acquisitions
and capital expenditures of $24 million and $85 million, respectively, and pay dividends of $129 million. The cash dividends
reflect an $18 million increase over prior year. Other financing proceeds include $15 million from the exercise of stock options,
a $3 million decrease from 2004. Our debt-to-capital ratio of 39 percent improved from 45 percent in 2004 as a result of the
significant debt reduction and higher net income, partly offset by the increased dividends. Our percentage of debt with fixed
interest rates was 73 percent as of December 31, 2005 and 62 percent as of December 31, 2004. As of December 31, 2005, cash
and cash equivalents were $146 million, a $62 million increase over the prior year end. The cash equivalents consist of
marketable securities with maturities at the date of acquisition of 90 days or less.

We have $113 million of installment notes that will mature on December 31, 2007 which we plan to refinance by issuing
public debt. Capital expenditures in 2007 are forecasted to be between $90 million and $95 million. Our 2007 dividend
payments are expected to increase from $144 million to $146 million, assuming no change in the 2006 rate of $1.88 per share.
Cash payments for income taxes in 2007 are anticipated to be between $25 million and $30 million. No significant debt
reduction is expected in 2007. We made discretionary pension contributions of $12 million in 2006 and $28 million in 2005. In
2007 we anticipate making pension contributions of approximately $10 million, while expenditures for environmental costs
related to our dispositions and discontinued operations are expected to be $11 million. See Environmental Regulation for further
information.

Liquidity Performance Indicators

The discussion below is presented to enhance the reader’s understanding of our liquidity, ability to generate cash and
satisfy rating agency and creditor requirements. This information includes two measures of financial results: Earnings from
Continuing Operations before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (EBITDA), and Adjusted Cash
Available for Distribution (Adjusted CAD). These measures are not defined by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP) and the discussion of EBITDA and Adjusted CAD is not intended to conflict with or change any of the GAAP
disclosures described above. Management considers these measures to be important to estimate the enterprise and shareholder
values of the Company as a whole and of its core segments, and for allocating capital resources. In addition, analysts, investors
and creditors use these measures when analyzing our financial condition and cash generating ability. EBITDA is defined by the
Securities and Exchange Commission; however, Adjusted CAD as defined may not be comparable to similarly titled measures
reported by other companies.

EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of operating cash generating capacity. In 2006, EBITDA was $366 million, a $12
million decrease over 2005 primarily due to the absence of the gain from the sale of our New Zealand timberlands partly offset
by higher operating results in our Real Estate and Performance Fibers segments in 2006. EBITDA was $378 million in 2005, an
increase of $59 million over 2004, primarily due to higher operating results in all of our core product lines and the gain from the
sale of the New Zealand timberlands. EBITDA was $319 million in 2004, an increase of $60 million over 2003 primarily due to
higher operating results in the Performance Fibers and Wood Products segments.

Below is a reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities to EBITDA for the five-year period ended
December 31, 2006 (in millions of dollars):

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $306.9 $254.1 $292.3 $201.3 $245.9
Gain on sale of New Zealand timber assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.8 36.9 — — —
Non-cash cost basis of real estate sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12.4) (11.8) (11.0) (5.9) (13.7)
Income tax expense (benefit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19.1 (16.9) (33.6) 6.1 15.7
Interest, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39.1 38.8 44.1 46.0 59.8
Working capital (decreases) increases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2.3) 16.4 (37.4) 19.6 (9.5)
Other balance sheet changes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.3 60.4 64.2 (8.5) (4.7)

EBITDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $365.5 $377.9 $318.6 $258.6 $293.5
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A non-cash expense critical to the economics of both our Timber and Real Estate core businesses is the non-cash cost basis
of real estate sold. EBITDA plus the non-cash cost basis of real estate sold for the five years ended December 31, 2006, 2005,
2004, 2003 and 2002 totaled $ 378 million, $390 million, $330 million, $265 million and $307 million, respectively.

Adjusted CAD is a non-GAAP measure of cash generated during a period that is available for dividend distribution,
repurchasing common shares, debt reduction and for strategic acquisitions net of associated financing (e.g. realizing LKE tax
benefits). We define Cash Available for Distribution (CAD) as Cash Provided by Operating Activities less capital spending,
adjusted for equity based compensation amounts, the tax benefits associated with strategic acquisitions, the change in committed
cash and the proceeds from matured energy forward contracts. Committed cash represents outstanding checks that have been
drawn on our zero balance bank accounts but have not been paid. In compliance with Securities and Exchange Commission
requirements for non-GAAP measures, we reduce CAD by mandatory debt repayments which results in the measure entitled
“Adjusted CAD.”

Adjusted CAD was $175 million in 2006, a $10 million increase over 2005 primarily due to stronger operating earnings
partly offset by higher capital spending and an increase in our committed cash as of December 31, 2006. Adjusted CAD was
$165 million in 2005, an increase of $34 million from 2004 primarily due to the absence of $50 million in mandatory 2004 debt
repayments and $8 million of reduced LKE tax benefits, partly offset by approximately $38 million of lower operating cash
flows. In 2004, Adjusted CAD of $132 million was $28 million above the prior year due to $91 million of higher cash provided
by operating activities partly offset by higher debt repayments and $11 million in LKE tax benefits. Adjusted CAD generated in
any period is not necessarily indicative of the amounts that may be generated in future periods.

Below is a reconciliation of Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Adjusted CAD for the five-year period ended
December 31, 2006 (in millions):

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 306.9 $254.1 $292.3 $201.3 $245.9
Capital spending, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (105.5) (85.3) (87.7) (84.4) (75.9)
Purchase of assets previously leased . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (5.4) —
LKE tax benefits on third party real estate sales* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4.8) (3.2) (11.3) — (0.7)
Change in committed cash** . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (19.1) 1.8 (3.5) 0.4 (1.7)
Equity based compensation adjustments/other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.3 (2.3) (4.4) (4.8) (2.5)
Proceeds from matured energy forward contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 3.9 — — —

CAD . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 177.8 169.0 185.4 107.1 165.1
Mandatory debt repayments*** . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3.3) (3.6) (53.6) (3.5) (83.2)

Adjusted CAD . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 174.5 $165.4 $131.8 $103.6 $ 81.9

* Represents income taxes that would have been paid had the Company not completed the LKE transactions.
** Increase in 2006 represents interest on installment notes of $18 million.
*** Mandatory repayments represent debt that matured and settled during the same year. In addition to the mandatory

payments, discretionary debt repayments of $0, $95.0 million, $0, $30.0 million and $130.0 million were made in 2006,
2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Liquidity Facilities

In August 2006, we entered into a new $250 million unsecured revolving credit facility to replace the previous facility
which was scheduled to expire in November 2006. This new facility includes an accordion feature which allows additional
borrowing above $250 million, in $25 million increments, up to an aggregate $100 million, provided no default exists. The new
facility expires in August 2011. At December 31, 2006, the available borrowing capacity was $131 million (excluding the
accordion feature), due to borrowings to purchase timberlands in 2006 and $16 million attributable to standby letters of credit
previously issued.

As with the previous facility, certain covenants must continue to be met, including ratios based on the facility’s definition
of EBITDA (Covenant EBITDA). Covenant EBITDA consists of earnings from continuing operations before the cumulative
effect of accounting changes and any provision for dispositions, income taxes, interest expense, depreciation, depletion,
amortization and the non-cash cost basis of real estate sold. A dividend restriction covenant limits the sum of dividends in any
period of four fiscal quarters to 90 percent of Covenant Funds From Operations (Covenant FFO) plus the aggregate amount of
dividends permitted under Covenant FFO in excess of the amount of dividends paid during the prior four fiscal quarters.
Covenant FFO is defined as Consolidated Net Income, excluding gains or losses from debt restructuring and investments in
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marketable securities, plus depletion, depreciation and amortization and the non-cash cost basis of real estate sold. Under a
covenant relating to the $485 million of installment notes, RFR may not incur additional debt unless, at the time of incurrence
and after presenting the proforma effects relating to the receipt and application of the proceeds of such debt, RFR meets or
exceeds a minimum ratio of cash flow to fixed charges.

In addition to the financial covenants listed above, the installment notes and credit facility include customary covenants
that limit the incurrence of debt, the disposition of assets, and the making of certain payments between RFR and Rayonier
among others. An asset sales covenant in the RFR installment note-related agreements requires us, subject to certain exceptions,
to either reinvest cumulative timberland sales proceeds in excess of $100 million (the “excess proceeds”) in timberland-related
investments and activities or, once the amount of excess proceeds not reinvested exceeds $50 million, to make an offer to the
note holders to prepay the notes ratably in the amount of the excess proceeds. During the third quarter of 2006, excess proceeds
exceeded $50 million and approximately $69 million was offered to the note holders, who declined the offer of prepayment,
which reset the excess proceeds to zero. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the amount of excess proceeds was $10 million
and $31 million, respectively.

In December 2006, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services raised its corporate debt rating of our long-term debt to a ‘BBB’
investment grade rating with a ‘Stable’ outlook while Moody’s Investors Service affirmed our ‘Baa3’ investment grade rating
with a ‘Stable’ outlook.

The covenants listed below which are the most significant financial covenants in effect as of December 31, 2006 are
calculated on a trailing 12-month basis:

Covenant
Requirement

Actual ratio at
December 31,

2006
Favorable

(Unfavorable)

Covenant EBITDA to consolidated interest expense should not be less than . . . . . . . . 2.50 to 1 7.94 to 1 5.44
Total debt to Covenant EBITDA should not exceed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.00 to 1 1.71 to 1 2.29
RFR cash flow available for fixed charges to RFR fixed charges should not be less

than . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.50 to 1 7.31 to 1 4.81
Dividends paid should not exceed 90 percent of Covenant FFO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 90% 38% 52%

Contractual Financial Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In addition to using cash flow from operations, we finance our operations through the issuance of debt, and by entering into
leases. These financial obligations are recorded in accordance with accounting rules applicable to the underlying transaction,
with the result that some are recorded as liabilities on the Balance Sheet, while others are required to be disclosed in the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

The following table aggregates contractual financial obligations as of December 31, 2006 and anticipated cash spending by
period:

Total

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Financial Obligations (000’s) 2007 2008-2009 2010-2011 Thereafter

Current maturities of long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,550 $ 3,550 $ — $ — $ —
Long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 657,220 117,455 172,005 213,865 153,895
Interest payments on long-term debt * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 219,806 51,965 79,816 51,772 36,253
Operating leases—timberland ** . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 94,751 5,241 10,357 10,154 68,999
Operating leases & deeds—timberland held for sale*** . . . . . . . . . 15,613 1,581 2,878 2,584 8,570
Operating leases—PP&E, offices . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,807 2,973 4,601 2,476 2,757
Purchase obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,143 631 512 — —
Other long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,656 237 473 473 473

Total contractual cash obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,006,546 $183,633 $270,642 $281,324 $270,947

* Projected interest payments for variable-rate debt were calculated based on outstanding principal amounts and interest rates
as of December 31, 2006.

** The majority of timberland leases are subject to escalation clauses based on either the Consumer Price Index or the
Producer Price Index.

*** See Note 6-Timberland Acquisitions.
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We utilize off-balance sheet arrangements to provide credit support for certain suppliers/vendors and customers in case of
their default on critical obligations, and collateral for certain self-insurance programs that we maintain. These arrangements
consist of standby letters of credit and surety bonds. As part of our ongoing operations, we also periodically issue guarantees to
third parties. Off-balance sheet arrangements are not considered to be a source of liquidity or capital resource and do not expose
us to material risks or material unfavorable financial impacts.

The following table aggregates financial commitments as of December 31, 2006:

Financial Commitments (000’s)

Maximum
Potential
Payment

Carrying
Amount of
Liability

Standby letters of credit (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 79,136 $ 61,410
Guarantees (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 111,850 103,096
Surety bonds (3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,498 1,657

Total financial commitments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $199,484 $166,163

(1) Approximately $62 million of the standby letters of credit serve as credit support for industrial revenue bonds. The
remaining letters of credit support various insurance related agreements, primarily workers’ compensation and pollution
liability policy requirements. These letters of credit will expire at various dates during 2007 and are renewed as required.

(2) In conjunction with the sale of timberlands to the JV in October 2005, the Company guaranteed five years of Crown Forest
license obligations. The JV is the primary obligor and has posted a bank performance bond with the New Zealand
government. If the JV fails to pay the obligation, the New Zealand government will demand payment from the bank that
posted the bond. If the bank defaulted on the bond, the Company would then have to perform. As of December 31, 2006,
four annual payments, of $1.2 million each, remain. This guarantee expires in 2010.

In conjunction with the sale of its New Zealand East Coast timber operations in 2002, the Company guaranteed five years
of Crown Forest license obligations. In late 2003, the buyer defaulted on its loan payments to its creditors and went into
receivership with the 2004 obligation paid by the receiver. The property was then re-sold. The new owner is the primary
obligor and has posted a bank performance bond with the New Zealand government. If the new owner fails to pay the
obligations, the New Zealand government will demand payment from the owner’s bank pursuant to the bond. If the
owner’s bank defaults on the bond, the Company would have to perform under the guarantee and seek legal redress from
the owner. The Company expects the owner’s bond to be sufficient to cover the license obligations. As of December 31,
2006, one annual payment, estimated at $1.5 million, remains. This guarantee expires in 2007.

In conjunction with a timberland sale and note monetization in the first quarter of 2004, the Company issued a make-whole
agreement pursuant to which it guaranteed $2.5 million of obligations of a qualified special purpose entity that was
established to complete the monetization. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had a liability of $43 thousand to
reflect the fair market value of its obligation to perform under the make-whole agreement.

In conjunction with the Company’s $250 million revolving credit facility renegotiated in August 2006, Rayonier continues
to guarantee the borrowings of RFR and TRS. Additionally, TRS continues to guarantee the borrowings of Rayonier Inc.
At December 31, 2006, TRS had $103 million of debt outstanding on the facility that is guaranteed by Rayonier.

(3) Rayonier has issued surety bonds primarily to secure timber harvesting obligations in the State of Washington and to
provide collateral for the Company’s workers’ compensation self-insurance program in that state. These surety bonds
expire at various dates during 2007 and are renewed as required.

In May 2004, we completed a Form S-4 acquisition shelf registration to offer and issue 7,000,000 common shares for the
acquisition of other businesses, assets or properties. As of December 31, 2006, no common shares have been offered or issued
under the S-4 shelf registration. In September 2003, we completed a Form S-3 shelf registration statement to offer $500 million
of new public debt and/or equity securities. This registration statement replaced the previous $150 million shelf registration
which was subsequently deregistered. On December 19, 2003, 6.4 million common shares were issued under the S-3 shelf
registration as part of a special stock dividend paid in conjunction with our conversion to a REIT. The fair market value of the
shares at the day of issuance was $253 million, leaving $247 million available under the $500 million shelf registration at
December 31, 2006.

New Accounting Standards

See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for our discussion of recently issued accounting
pronouncements that will affect our financial results and disclosures in future periods.
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Environmental Regulation

Rayonier is subject to stringent environmental laws and regulations concerning air emissions, water discharges and waste
handling and disposal. Such environmental laws and regulations include the Federal Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, CERCLA and similar state laws and regulations. Management closely monitors its
environmental responsibilities, and believes that the Company is in substantial compliance with current environmental
requirements. In addition to ongoing compliance with laws and regulations, the Company’s facilities operate in accordance with
various permits, which are issued by state and federal environmental agencies. Many of these permits impose operating
conditions on the Company which require significant expenditures to ensure compliance. Upon renewal and renegotiation of
these permits, the issuing agencies often seek to impose new or additional conditions in response to new environmental laws and
regulations, or more stringent interpretations of existing laws and regulations. During 2006, 2005 and 2004, we spent
approximately $5 million, $6 million and $7 million, respectively, for capital projects related to environmental compliance for
ongoing operations. During 2007 and 2008, our spending related to environmental compliance for continuing operations is
expected to increase to approximately $11 million and $13 million per year, respectively, on such capital projects, and over the
next five years, we expect aggregate environmental spending to total in the $60 million to $70 million range. The expected
increase in environmental spending is largely due to wastewater treatment-related projects and Cluster Rule compliance at our
Performance Fibers mills.

The EPA uses the term “Cluster Rules” to identify parallel rule-making for water and air technology-based discharge limits
for pulp and paper mills. The EPA finalized its Cluster Rules governing air emissions in 1998, but due to the specialty nature of
Rayonier’s Performance Fibers products and operations, the agency postponed finalizing water discharge rules and certain air
emissions rules governing the Company’s two Performance Fibers dissolving pulp mills and two other similar mills (one of
which has since closed). In late 2003, the EPA informed Rayonier that it was delegating its Cluster Rule rulemaking authority
for these four mills to the environmental agencies of the respective states. Rayonier will continue to work with the EPA and the
applicable state environmental authorities to establish such rules for its mills, but the timing and costs associated with such
rulemaking are uncertain. Capital spending is not expected to cause total capital expenditures, excluding those related to
strategic acquisitions, to exceed an annual average of $95 million.

With respect to forestry, federal, state and local laws and regulations intended to protect threatened and endangered
species, as well as wetlands and waterways, limit and may in certain cases prevent timber harvesting, road construction and
other activities on private lands, including a portion of the Company’s timberlands. Over the past several years, our timber
harvesting in the State of Washington has been restricted as a result of the listing of the northern spotted owl, the marbled
murrelet and several species of salmon and trout as threatened species under the Endangered Species Act. In 1999, the timber
industry and federal, state, local and tribal governments, entered into an agreement, known as the Forests and Fish Report,
which led the Washington Forest Practices Board to adopt rules further restricting timber harvesting within buffers along
streams with fish habitat. All of these restrictions have caused Rayonier over time to restructure and reschedule its harvest plans
and have reduced the total volume of timber available for future harvest.

With respect to dispositions and discontinued operations, we currently estimate that expenditures during 2007 and 2008 for
environmental remediation and monitoring costs will total approximately $11 million and $7 million, respectively. Such costs,
including monitoring and remediation costs, will be charged against our reserves for estimated environmental obligations which
we believe are sufficient for costs expected to be incurred over the next 20 years. At December 31, 2006, these accrued
liabilities totaled approximately $123 million. The actual future environmental costs will be dependent on the outcome of
negotiations with federal and state agencies and may also be affected by changes in applicable laws and regulations, the exercise
of discretion in interpretation of applicable law and regulations by governmental agencies and changes in environmental
remediation technology. Based on information currently available, we do not believe that any future changes in estimates would
materially affect our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Over time, the complexity and stringency of environmental laws and regulations have increased markedly, and in general,
we believe that this trend will continue. As such, and as a result of all the factors discussed above, we believe that substantial
expenditures will be required over the next ten years in the area of environmental compliance.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market and Other Economic Risks

We are exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates, commodity prices and foreign exchange rates.
Our objective is to minimize the economic impact of these market risks. We use derivatives in accordance with policies and
procedures approved by the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors. Derivatives are managed by a senior executive
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committee whose responsibilities include initiating, managing and monitoring resulting exposures. We do not enter into
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Cyclical pricing of commodity market paper pulp is one of the factors that influences Performance Fibers prices,
particularly in the Absorbent Materials product line. However, since we are a non-integrated producer of specialized
Performance Fibers for non-papermaking end uses, our high-value product mix tends to lag (on both the upturn and downturn)
commodity paper pulp prices with pricing adjustments that are less severe. This risk is mitigated somewhat by the terms of our
cellulose specialty contracts which are effective into 2011 for nearly 80 percent of our high value Cellulose Specialties
production.

We periodically enter into interest rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to interest rate changes. These swaps
involve the exchange of fixed and variable interest rate payments without exchanging principal amounts. At December 31,
2006, two interest rate swap agreements were held. One agreement with a notional amount of $50 million swaps a fixed 8.288
percent interest rate for a six-month LIBOR rate plus 4.7825 percent. The second agreement with a notional amount of $40
million swaps a fixed 8.288 percent interest rate for a six-month LIBOR rate plus 4.99 percent. The fair value of these interest
rate swaps at year-end, which mature on December 31, 2007, was a liability of $1.8 million. The market risk resulting from a
one percentage point (100 basis points) change in the six-month LIBOR rate amounts to an approximate change of $0.5 million
in our pre-tax income/loss.

The fair market value of our long-term fixed interest rate debt is also subject to interest rate risk; however, we intend to
hold most of our debt until maturity. The estimated fair value of our fixed-rate debt at December 31, 2006, was $445 million
compared to $406 million in carrying value. Generally, the fair market value of fixed-rate debt will increase as interest rates fall
and decrease as interest rates rise. A hypothetical one-percentage point increase/decrease in prevailing interest rates at
December 31, 2006, would result in a corresponding decrease/increase in the fair value of our fixed-rate debt of approximately
$17.9 million.

We periodically enter into commodity forward contracts to fix some of our fuel oil and natural gas costs. The forward
contracts partially mitigate the risk of a change in Performance Fibers margins resulting from an increase or decrease in these
energy costs. We do not enter into commodity forwards for trading or speculative purposes. The net amounts paid or received
under the contracts are recognized as an adjustment to fuel oil or natural gas expense. A hypothetical 10 percent increase/
decrease in the prevailing price of natural gas and fuel oil would result in a change of $48 thousand and $0.5 million,
respectively, in our pre-tax income/loss. Our natural gas and fuel oil contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting and, as such,
mark-to-market adjustments are recorded in “Other operating (income) expense, net.”

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See Index to Financial Statements on page ii.

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Rayonier management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate disclosure controls and procedures.
Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in SEC Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)), are designed with the objective of
ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (Exchange Act), such as this annual report on Form 10-K, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no control evaluation can provide absolute assurance that all
control exceptions and instances of fraud have been prevented or detected on a timely basis. Even systems determined to be
effective can provide only reasonable assurance that their objectives are achieved.

Based on an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this annual report
on Form 10-K, our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Co-Principal Financial Officers, concluded that the
design and operation of the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2006.

With regard to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as defined in paragraph (f) of SEC Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f), see Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting at page F-1, followed by the Reports of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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In the quarter ended December 31, 2006, based upon the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of SEC Rules 13a-15 and
15d-15, there were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that would materially affect or are reasonably
likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.

PART III

Certain information required by Part III is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the Company’s 2007 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”).

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item with respect to directors is incorporated by reference to the information in the
section entitled “Election of Directors” and “Report of the Audit Committee” in the Proxy Statement. The information required
by this Item with respect to disclosure of any known late filing or failure by an insider to file a report required by Section 16 of
the Exchange Act is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance” in the Proxy Statement.

The information called for by this Item with respect to executive officers is set forth above in Part I, Item 4A—Executive
Officers of Rayonier.

Our Standard of Ethics and Code of Corporate Conduct, which is applicable to our principal executive, financial and
accounting officers, is available on our website, www.rayonier.com. Recent amendments to the Standards of Ethics and Code of
Corporate Conduct have been posted on our website. Any other amendments to or waivers of the Standard of Ethics and Code
of Corporate Conduct will also be disclosed on such website.

On June 13, 2006, we filed with the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) the Annual CEO Certification regarding our
compliance with the NYSE’s Corporate Governance Standards as required by Section 303A-12(a). In addition, we have filed, as
exhibits to the annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, the applicable certifications of our Chief
Executive Officer and Co-Principal Financial Officers required under Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information called for by Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled “Executive
Compensation” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The information called for by Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled “Share Ownership” in
the Proxy Statement.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information called for by Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled “Election of Directors”
and “Corporate Governance” in the Proxy Statement.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information called for by Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled “Report of the Audit
Committee” in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Documents filed as a part of this report:

(1) See Index to Financial Statements on page ii for a list of the financial statements filed as part of this report.

(2) See Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. All other financial statement schedules have been omitted
because they are not applicable, the required matter is not present or the required information has otherwise been
supplied in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

(3) See Exhibit Index for a list of the exhibits filed or incorporated herein as part of this report.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To Our Shareholders:

The management of Rayonier Inc. and its subsidiaries is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended). Our system of internal controls over financial reporting was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the
Company’s management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, misstatements due to error or fraud may not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Rayonier Inc.’s management, under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Co-Principal Financial Officers,
assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making this assessment,
we used the framework included in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the criteria set forth in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2006.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Company’s consolidated
financial statements, has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006. The report, which expresses unqualified opinions on management’s assessment
and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is on page F-3.

W. L. Nutter
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
February 26, 2007

H. E. Vanden Noort
Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Co-Principal Financial Officer
February 26, 2007

C. E. Kraus
Senior Vice President, Finance and Co-Principal
Financial Officer
February 26, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Rayonier Inc.
Jacksonville, Florida

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rayonier Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedules listed
in the Index to Financial Statement Schedules. These financial statements and financial statement schedules are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
financial statement schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Rayonier
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting
for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) as
of December 31, 2006.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated February 26, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Certified Public Accountants

Jacksonville, Florida
February 26, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Rayonier Inc.
Jacksonville, Florida

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting, that Rayonier Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s
board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods
are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based
on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedules as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 of the
Company and our report dated February 26, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial
statement schedules and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) as of December 31, 2006.

Certified Public Accountants

Jacksonville, Florida
February 26, 2007
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31,
(Thousands of dollars, except per share data)

2006 2005 2004

SALES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,229,807 $1,180,708 $1,162,778

Costs and Expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Cost of sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 952,743 942,103 937,039
Selling and general expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 63,445 64,403 59,297
Other operating (income) expense, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (8,818) (10,401) (6,184)

1,007,370 996,105 990,152
Equity in loss of New Zealand joint venture . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (610) (1,411) —

OPERATING INCOME BEFORE GAIN ON SALE OF NEW ZEALAND
TIMBER ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 221,827 183,192 172,626

Gain on sale of New Zealand timber assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,769 36,968 —

OPERATING INCOME . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 229,596 220,160 172,626
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (48,905) (46,960) (46,718)
Interest and miscellaneous income, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,447 17,647 506

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAXES . . 190,138 190,847 126,414
Income tax (provision) benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (19,055) 16,948 33,649

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 171,083 207,795 160,063

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET (Note 7 and 15)
Income (loss) on discontinued operations, net of income tax benefit (expense) of

($3,201), $10,459 and ($196) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,335 (24,956) (3,162)

NET INCOME . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 176,418 182,839 156,901

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Unrealized loss on hedged transactions, net of income tax benefit of $230 and

$191 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (410) (339)
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,226 (9,705) 11,611
Minimum pension liability adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,339 16,323 (217)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 192,983 $ 189,047 $ 167,956

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Continuing Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.23 $ 2.75 $ 2.15
Discontinued Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.07 (0.33) (0.04)

Net Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.30 $ 2.42 $ 2.11

DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Continuing Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.19 $ 2.68 $ 2.09
Discontinued Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.07 (0.32) (0.04)

Net Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.26 $ 2.36 $ 2.05

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31,
(Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted)

2006 2005

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 40,171 $ 146,227
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $560 and $1,158 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100,309 88,378
Inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 75,593 85,545
Other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41,526 33,948
Timber assets held for sale (Note 6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,955 —

Total current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 298,554 354,098

TIMBER, TIMBERLANDS AND LOGGING ROADS, NET OF DEPLETION AND
AMORTIZATION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,127,513 927,019

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,291 20,896
Buildings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 118,348 114,644
Machinery and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,221,305 1,216,864

Total property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,364,944 1,352,404
Less—accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,011,164) (991,094)

353,780 361,310

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61,233 81,648
OTHER ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 121,802 114,989

$ 1,962,882 $1,839,064

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 73,758 $ 66,362
Bank loans and current maturities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,550 3,310
Accrued taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,296 19,634
Accrued payroll and benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,879 23,380
Accrued interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,551 1,924
Accrued customer incentives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,494 9,087
Other current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35,110 33,951
Current reserves for dispositions and discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,699 12,422

Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 193,337 170,070

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 25,217
LONG-TERM DEBT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 655,447 555,213
NON-CURRENT RESERVES FOR DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED

OPERATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 111,817 127,960
PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (Note 20) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73,303 50,638
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,716 18,095
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (Notes 16 and 18)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Shares, 120,000,000 shares authorized, 76,879,826 and 76,092,566 shares issued and
outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 450,636 422,364

Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 494,272 461,903
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (28,646) 7,604

916,262 891,871

$ 1,962,882 $1,839,064

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

2006 2005 2004

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 176,418 $ 182,839 $ 156,901
(Income) loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,335) 24,956 3,162
Non-cash items included in income:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 136,495 147,388 146,458
Non-cash cost of real estate sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,362 11,845 11,006
Non-cash stock-based incentive compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,078 11,686 8,975
Gain on sale of New Zealand timber assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,769) (36,968) —
Deferred income tax benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (19,300) (47,592) (52,463)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,772 (1,378) —

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,881) (1,422) 2,069
Decrease (increase) in inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,742 (9,624) 1,775
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,349 (969) 5,668
(Increase) decrease in current timber purchase agreements and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,104) 7,177 8,244
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,963 (15,465) 17,190
Increase in other non-current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,080 691 2,073
Decrease (increase) in non-current timber purchase agreements and other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,847 (10,322) (10,933)
Expenditures for dispositions and discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,789) (8,697) (7,801)

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 306,928 254,145 292,324

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 7,762 3,104

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (105,462) (85,261) (87,670)
Purchase of timberlands . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (277,778) (23,527) (89,264)
Purchase of real estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (21,101) — —
Proceeds from the sale of NZ timberlands . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 186,771 —
Investment in NZ joint venture . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (121,930) —
Proceeds from sale of portion of New Zealand joint venture . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,770 — —
Proceeds from the sale of other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 13,054 —
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,287 3,297 (2,212)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,909) 3,853 —

CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (385,193) (23,743) (179,146)

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS . . . . . — 39,600 (1,639)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 258,000 150,000 188,000
Repayment of debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (158,310) (248,575) (146,545)
Dividends paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (143,883) (129,249) (111,197)
Issuance of common shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,771 15,121 17,743
Excess tax benefits on stock based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,143 — —
Payment on forward currency contract . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (2,506) —
Repurchase of common shares and cash in lieu of fractional shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (560) (356) —

CASH USED FOR FINANCING ACTIVITIES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (29,839) (215,565) (51,999)

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,048 (89) 76

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (106,056) 62,110 62,720
Balance, beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 146,227 84,117 21,397

Balance, end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 40,171 $ 146,227 $ 84,117

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid (received) during the period:

Interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 29,647 $ 48,502 $ 44,817

Income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 38,956 $ 29,009 $ (579)

Non-cash investing activity:
Capital assets purchased on account . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 9,116 $ 13,029 $ —

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Rayonier is a leading international forest products company primarily engaged in activities associated with timberland
management, the sale and development of real estate, and the production and sale of high value specialty cellulose fibers. The
Company owns, leases or manages approximately 2.7 million acres of timberland and real estate located in the United States,
New Zealand and Australia. Included in this property is over 200,000 acres of high value real estate primarily along the coastal
corridor from Savannah, Georgia to Daytona Beach, Florida. The Company also owns and operates two performance fibers
mills in the United States. Our corporate strategy is to pursue strategic growth opportunities in our Timber segment, further
develop the Real Estate segment, and strengthen our position as a premier worldwide supplier of performance fibers. In
addition, the Company manufactures lumber in three sawmills in Georgia and engages in the trading of logs and wood products.

Rayonier operates in four reportable business segments as defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS)
No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (SFAS 131): Timber, Real Estate, Performance
Fibers, and Wood Products. See Note 3 — Segment and Geographical Information for additional information.

Effective January 1, 2004, the Company was restructured to qualify as a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT). The
Company is generally not required to pay federal income taxes on its U.S. timber harvest earnings and other REIT operations
contingent upon meeting applicable distribution, income, asset, shareholder and other tests. However, the Company is subject to
corporate taxes on built-in gains (the excess of fair market value over tax basis at January 1, 2004) on taxable sales of property
from the REIT during the first ten years following the election to be taxed as a REIT. The U.S. timber operations are conducted
by the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Rayonier Forest Resources, L.P. (RFR). Non-REIT-qualifying and certain foreign
operations, which continue to pay corporate-level tax on earnings, are held under Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. (TRS), a wholly-
owned taxable REIT subsidiary of Rayonier Inc. These operations include the Performance Fibers and Wood Products
businesses as well as the Real Estate segment’s sale of high value property (referred to as higher and better use (HBU)).

Timber

Rayonier owns, leases, or manages approximately 2.6 million acres of timberlands located in the U.S., New Zealand and
Australia. The Company’s Timber segment includes all activities that relate to the harvesting of timber in addition to managing
timberlands and selling timber and logs to third parties. In 2006, the Company acquired 228,000 timberland acres in six states
which increased its geographic footprint and species mix. The Company believes it is now the fifth largest private timberland
owner in the U.S.

Real Estate

Rayonier has invested in timberlands seeking to maximize its total return from a full cycle of ownership, which now
includes developing or selling portions of its asset base to capture the appreciated value. An increasing portion of Rayonier’s
acreage has become, or is emerging as, more valuable for development, recreational or conservation purposes than for growing
of timber. As a result, the Company established TerraPointe LLC in 2005 to expand its focus to include more value added real
estate activities such as seeking entitlements and investing in infrastructure improvements directly or in participation with other
developers.

Performance Fibers

Rayonier is a manufacturer of high-performance cellulose fibers with two production facilities in Jesup, GA and
Fernandina Beach, FL, which have a combined annual capacity of approximately 740,000 metric tons. These fiber products are
sold throughout the world to companies that produce a wide variety of products, including foods, pharmaceuticals, textiles,
electronics and various industrial applications. Approximately 61 percent of performance fiber sales are to export customers,
primarily in Europe, Asia and Latin America.

Cellulose Specialties — Rayonier is a producer of specialty cellulose products, most of which are used in dissolving
chemical applications that require a highly purified form of cellulose fiber. The Company concentrates on producing the most
high-value, technologically-demanding forms of cellulose specialty products, such as cellulose acetate and high-purity cellulose
ethers, and is a leading supplier of these products.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS (Continued)

Absorbent Materials — Rayonier is a producer of performance fibers for absorbent hygiene products. These fibers are
typically referred to as fluff fibers and are used as an absorbent medium in products such as disposable baby diapers, feminine
hygiene products, incontinence pads, convalescent bed pads, industrial towels and wipes and non-woven fabrics.

Wood Products

The Company operates and sells dimension lumber products through three lumber manufacturing facilities in the U.S. In
2005, Rayonier sold its medium-density fiberboard (MDF) business located in New Zealand and, as a result, restated prior years
to reflect the operating results of MDF as discontinued operations. See Note 7 — Sale of Medium-Density Fiberboard Business
(MDF) for additional information.

Other

Rayonier operates log trading businesses in the Northwest U.S., New Zealand and Chile, including exporting logs from
New Zealand and Chile. The Company also purchases and trades lumber and wood products in both domestic and export
markets.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Rayonier and its subsidiaries, in which it has a majority
ownership or controlling interest. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated. For income tax purposes, the
Company files two U.S. federal income tax returns, one for REIT operations and a consolidated filing for TRS operations as
well as several state, local, and foreign income tax returns.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. There are risks inherent in estimating and therefore actual results could differ from those
estimates.

New Accounting Standards

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109. This Interpretation clarifies the accounting for
uncertain tax positions recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. It prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for
the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. In addition,
it provides guidance on derecognition, classification and interest and penalties. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2006. The Company will adopt FIN 48 in the first quarter of 2007 and is in the process of determining the
impact it will have on its financial position, cash flows and results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157). This statement defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures
about fair value measurements. This statement applies to other accounting pronouncements where the FASB requires or permits
fair value measurements. Accordingly, this statement does not require any new fair value measurements. This statement is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those
fiscal years. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 157 in the first quarter of 2008 and has not yet determined the effect, if
any, the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on its results of operations or financial position.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In September 2006, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. AUG AIR-1, Accounting for Planned Major
Maintenance Activities. This FSP prohibits companies from recognizing planned major maintenance costs under the
“accrue-in-advance” method that allowed the accrual of a liability over several reporting periods before the maintenance is
performed. FSP AUG AIR-1 is applicable to entities in all industries for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, and
must be retrospectively applied. The Company has not yet determined the effect, if any, the adoption of FSP AUG AIR-1 will
have on its results of operations or financial position.

The FASB also issued SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans
— an amendment of FASB Statement Nos. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) (SFAS 158), in September 2006. This Statement requires
recognition of the funded status of a benefit plan in the statement of financial position. The Statement also requires recognition
in other comprehensive income of certain gains and losses that arise during the period but are deferred under current pension
accounting rules, as well as modifies the timing of reporting. SFAS 158 provides recognition and disclosure elements to be
effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2006 and measurement elements to be effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2008. The Company recognized the funded status of its benefit plans in its Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2006. See Note 20 — Employee Benefit Plans for additional information about the impact of SFAS 158 on the
Company’s pension and other postretirement plans.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include time deposits with maturities at date of acquisition of three months or less.

Inventory

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The costs of manufactured performance fibers are determined on the
first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis. Other products are valued on an average cost basis. Inventory costs include material, labor and
manufacturing overhead. Physical counts of inventories are taken at least annually. The need for a provision for estimated losses
from obsolete, excess or slow-moving inventories is reviewed periodically.

HBU real estate properties that are expected to be sold within one year are included in inventory, while properties that are
expected to be sold after one year are included in “Other assets.”

Equity Method Investments

The Company accounts for its interest in a New Zealand joint venture (JV) under the equity method of accounting in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 18, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in
Common Stock. Rayonier does not have a controlling financial interest but exerts significant influence over the JV’s operating
and financial policies.

Timber

Costs relating to acquiring, planting and growing of timber including real estate taxes, lease rental payments and site
preparation are capitalized. Such accumulated costs attributed to merchantable timber are charged to cost of goods sold at the
time the timber is harvested or the timberland is sold, based on the relationship of harvested timber to the estimated volume of
currently merchantable timber. Timber is stated at the lower of cost or market value.

Timber Purchase Agreements and Timber-Cutting Contracts

Rayonier purchases timber for use in its Performance Fibers, Wood Products and log trading operations. Timber that will
be harvested within one year of the balance sheet date is classified as a current asset with the remainder classified as a
non-current asset. Generally, the Company does not have sales contracts that are matched to specific timber purchase
agreements; therefore Rayonier evaluates the realizability of timber purchases and timber-cutting contracts based on the
estimated aggregate purchase price and harvesting cost of such timber and the sales values to be realized. Losses are recorded in
the period that a determination is made that the aggregate costs in a major operating area will not be fully recoverable.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, Plant, Equipment and Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment additions are recorded at cost, including applicable freight, taxes, interest, construction and
installation costs. Pulp mill assets are accounted for using the composite method. Upon ordinary retirement or sale of property,
accumulated depreciation is charged with the cost of the property removed and credited with the proceeds of salvage value, with
no gain or loss recognized. Gains and losses with respect to any significant or unusual retirements of assets and all other assets
not accounted for under the composite method are included in operating income.

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by net undiscounted cash
flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is
measured by the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at
the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

The Company depreciates its assets using units-of-production and straight-line depreciation methods. At its Performance
Fibers facilities, the units-of-production method is used for all assets except office, lab, and transportation equipment which are
depreciated using the straight-line method over 10 to 15 years. In addition, all of the assets at the Company’s sawmills are
depreciated using the straight-line method over 3 to 15 years. Buildings and land improvements are depreciated using the
straight-line method over 25 to 35 years and 15 to 25 years, respectively.

In 2006, the Company utilized the accrue-in-advance method within the fiscal year to account for planned annual major
maintenance costs during shut down at its two Performance Fibers mills. Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FSP
AUG AIR-1, Accounting for Planned Major Maintenance Activities, and began utilizing the deferral method to account for
these costs. Routine repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. See also the previous discussion included in the
New Accounting Standards section of this footnote regarding FSP AUG AIR-1.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s New Zealand-based operations and its JV investment is the New Zealand dollar.
All assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the respective balance sheet dates with
the resulting translation gain or loss recorded as a separate component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/(loss),
(AOCI), within Shareholders’ Equity.

Financial Instruments

The Company is exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates and commodity prices. The
Company’s objective is to partially mitigate the economic impact of these market risks. Derivatives are used, as noted below, in
accordance with policies and procedures approved by the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors and are managed by a
senior executive committee, whose responsibilities include initiating, managing and monitoring resulting exposures. The
Company does not enter into such financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (SFAS 133), as amended, requires that all
derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swap agreements be recognized in the financial statements and measured at
fair value regardless of the purpose or intent for holding them. Transactions that provide for the forward purchase or sale of raw
materials are not included in the financial statements until physical delivery of the product, as these transactions are done in the
normal course of business and qualify for treatment as normal purchases and sales under SFAS 133.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

Rayonier periodically uses swap agreements to manage exposure to interest rate fluctuations. Such agreements
involve the exchange of fixed rate interest payments for floating rate payments over the life of the agreement without the
exchange of any underlying principal amounts. Rayonier’s credit exposure is limited to the fair value of the agreements,
and the Company enters into agreements only with counterparties having a long-term bond rating of “A” or higher. The
Company does not enter into interest rate swap agreements for trading or speculative purposes and matches the terms and
contract amounts to existing debt or debt expected to be refinanced. The Company’s interest rate swaps qualify as fair
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

value hedges under SFAS 133 and as such the net effect of the swaps is recorded as interest expense. In addition, the
Company marks the interest rate swap agreements to market by recording an asset or liability and a corresponding increase
or decrease in its long-term debt.

Commodity Swap Agreements

The Company periodically enters into commodity forward contracts to fix some of its fuel oil and natural gas costs at
its Performance Fibers mills. The forward contracts partially mitigate the risk of a change in Performance Fibers margins
resulting from an increase or decrease in fuel oil and natural gas prices. The Company’s commodity agreements do not
qualify for hedge accounting and are marked to market. Gains or losses resulting from the valuation are recorded in “Other
operating income, net.”

Fair Value

Rayonier uses the following methods and assumptions in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents — The carrying amount is equal to fair market value.

Debt — The Company’s short-term bank loans and floating rate debt approximate fair value. The fair value of fixed
rate long-term debt is based upon quoted market prices for these or similar issues or rates currently available to the
Company for debt with similar terms and maturities.

Interest rate swap agreements — The fair value of interest rate swap agreements is based upon the estimated cost to
terminate the agreements, taking into account current interest rates. The Company obtains a market valuation of the
fair value of the swap.

Commodity swap agreements — The fair value of fuel oil and natural gas swap agreements is based upon the
estimated cost to terminate the agreements, taking into account current prices. The Company obtains a market
valuation of the fair value of the swap.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generally recognizes revenues when the following criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an agreement
exists, (ii) delivery has occurred, (iii) the Company’s price to the buyer is fixed and determinable, and (iv) collectibility is
reasonably assured.

Revenue from the sale of timber is recorded when title passes to the buyer. Timber sales in the Southeast U.S. and
Northwest U.S. are primarily made on a pay-as-cut basis. These contracts generally require a minimum 15 percent initial
payment and title and risk of loss are transferred when the timber is cut.

Real estate sales are recorded when title passes and when full payment or a minimum down payment of 25 percent is
received and full collectibility is assured, in compliance with SFAS 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate. If a down payment
of less than 25 percent is received at closing or if full collectibility is not reasonably assured, the Company records revenue
based on the installment method or cost recovery method. The Company follows the same revenue recognition policy when
recording intercompany real estate sales from the REIT to the TRS and eliminates these transactions on a consolidated basis.

Revenue from domestic sales of Performance Fibers products is recorded when goods are shipped and title passes. Foreign
sales of Performance Fibers products are recorded when the customer or agent receives the goods and title passes.

Lumber sales are recorded when the goods are shipped and title passes.

The Company’s Other segment includes log and wood products trading sales. In the Northwest U.S. and in Chile, all log
trading sales are domestic and revenue is recorded when the goods are received by the customer and title passes. In New
Zealand, approximately sixty-two percent of the log trading sales are exported. New Zealand domestic sales are recorded when
the goods are received by the customer and title passes. Revenue on export sales is recorded when the goods are shipped to the
customer and title passes.
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RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue is recognized on domestic wood products trading sales when the product arrives at the contracted destination and
title passes. Export wood products trading revenue is recognized when the product is shipped and title passes.

Freight and handling costs

Costs for freight and handling are reported in cost of sales.

Environmental Costs

Rayonier expenses environmental costs related to ongoing businesses resulting from current operations. Expenditures that
meaningfully extend the life or increase the efficiency of operating assets are capitalized. The Company expenses environmental
obligations related to dispositions or discontinued operations from which no current or future benefit is discernible and accrues
its obligation to remediate and monitor environmental liabilities. These obligations are projected for a span of up to
approximately 20 years and require significant estimates to determine the proper amount at any point in time. Generally,
monitoring expense obligations are fixed once remediation projects are at or near completion. The projected period, from 2007
through 2026, reflects the time in which potential future costs are both estimable and probable and are reviewed annually and
adjusted when necessary, based on technological, regulatory or other changes that may affect them. As new information
becomes available, the Company will either accrue additional or reverse recorded reserves. Environmental reserves are reflected
in current and non-current “Reserves for dispositions and discontinued operations” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Research and Development

Research and development efforts are directed primarily at further developing existing core products and technologies,
improving the quality of cellulose fiber grades, absorbent materials and related products, improving manufacturing efficiency,
reducing energy needs and developing improved environmental controls. Research activities related to timberland operations
include genetic tree improvement programs as well as applied silviculture programs to identify management practices that
improve financial returns from timberland assets. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and aggregated $6
million for both 2006 and 2005 and $7 million in 2004.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided using the asset and liability method under the provisions of SFAS 109. Income taxes
on foreign operations are provided based upon the statutory tax rates of the applicable foreign country. U.S. income taxes have
not been provided on foreign earnings that the Company intends to permanently reinvest overseas.

Stock-Based Employee Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value based method
under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (APB 25), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and related
Accounting Interpretations thereof, as permitted by FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. No
compensation expense was recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for 2005 or 2004
for stock options under APB 25. The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, on January 1, 2006 using the
modified prospective method, which requires stock-based compensation to be accounted for at fair value.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had two stock-based employee compensation plans. The 1994 Rayonier Incentive
Stock Plan (the 1994 Plan) provided for the grant of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation
rights, performance shares and restricted stock, subject to certain limitations. Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted
the 2004 Rayonier Incentive Stock and Management Bonus Plan (the 2004 Plan), after shareholder approval was obtained. The
2004 Plan provides for 4.5 million shares to be granted for incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock
appreciation rights, performance shares and restricted stock, subject to certain limitations. The Company has issued
non-qualified stock options, performance shares and restricted stock under both of the plans. The Company issues new shares of
stock upon the exercise of stock options, the granting of restricted stock, and the vesting of performance shares.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

See Note 19 — Incentive Stock Plans for additional information regarding the Company’s stock-based compensation.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits

Rayonier records pension and postretirement net periodic benefit cost in accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employers’
Accounting for Pensions (SFAS 87), and SFAS No. 106(R), Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions (SFAS 106(R)). Several estimates and assumptions are required to record these costs and liabilities, including discount
rate, return on assets, salary increases, health care cost trends, and longevity and service lives of employees. Management
reviews and updates these assumptions periodically. In the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2005,
pension and postretirement assets and liabilities were accounted for in accordance with SFAS 87 and SFAS 106(R). Effective
December 31, 2006, in accordance with SFAS 158, the Company recognized the overfunded or underfunded status of its
pension and postretirement plans as an asset or liability, respectively, in its Consolidated Balance Sheet while recognizing the
resulting changes in the asset and liability, net of tax in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss). See Note 20 —
Employee Benefit Plans, for additional information about the Company’s pension and postretirement plans.

Reclassifications

Certain 2005 and 2004 amounts have been reclassified to agree with the current year presentation.

3. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

Rayonier operates in four reportable business segments as defined by SFAS 131: Timber, Real Estate, Performance Fibers,
and Wood Products. Timber sales include all activities that relate to the harvesting of timber. Real Estate sales currently include
the sale of all properties, including those designated for HBU. In 2006, the Real Estate segment entered into its first
participation agreements with two developers as part of our strategy to move up the real estate value chain. For the first
transaction, the Company received and recognized as revenue $10 million in cash at closing and has the option to receive
$17.5 million when the property is entitled, or at that time, to convert the balance ($17.5 million) to a participation arrangement
where Rayonier would receive a percentage of gross revenue from the sales of home lots. The second transaction was for
$28.3 million, of which $22.6 million was received at closing and the remaining $5.7 million will be earned when the purchaser
builds and sells homes to third parties. In the future, the real estate segment may also include revenue generated from properties
with entitlements and infrastructure improvements. The assets of the Real Estate segment include HBU property held by the
Company’s real estate subsidiary, TerraPointe LLC, and parcels under contract previously in the Timber segment. Allocations
of depletion expense and non-cash costs of land sold are recorded when the Real Estate segment sells an asset from the Timber
segment. The Performance Fibers segment includes two major product lines, Cellulose Specialties and Absorbent Materials. The
Wood Products segment is comprised of the Company’s lumber operations. The Company’s remaining operations include
purchasing, harvesting and selling timber acquired from third parties (log trading) and trading wood products. As permitted by
SFAS 131, these operations are combined and reported in an “Other” category. Sales between operating segments are made
based on fair market value and intercompany profit or loss is eliminated in consolidation. The Company evaluates financial
performance based on the operating income of the segments.

Operating income/(loss) as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income, is equal to
segment income/(loss). Certain income/(loss) items in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income are
not allocated to segments. These items, which include gains/(losses) from asset dispositions, interest, miscellaneous income/
(expense) and income tax (expense)/benefit, are not considered by Company management to be part of segment operations.

In 2005, the Company entered into a joint venture (JV) with RREEF Infrastructure, the global infrastructure investing arm
of Deutsche Asset Management. The Company’s initial investment in the JV represented a 49.7 percent equity interest. In 2006,
the Company reduced its investment in the JV from 49.7 percent to 40 percent. In addition to having an equity investment, the
Company provides timberland management services to the JV, for which it receives a fee. The Company’s investment in the JV
is included in the Timber segment. See Note 5 — Joint Venture Investment for additional information on the JV.
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3. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued)

In August 2005, the Company sold its MDF business and the operations are shown as discontinued operations. These
operations were previously included in the Wood Products segment, which was restated to exclude the operations and assets of
MDF for all periods presented.

In 2006, a group of customers under common control represented approximately 11 percent of the Company’s consolidated
sales. In 2005, no single customer or group of customers under common control represented 10 percent or more of the
Company’s consolidated sales. In 2004, a group of customers under common control represented approximately 11 percent of
the Company’s consolidated sales.

Segment information for each of the three years ended December 31, 2006, follows (in millions of dollars):

Sales

2006 2005 2004

Timber . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 207 $ 208 $ 186
Real Estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 112 86 96
Performance Fibers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 672 628 582
Wood Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 111 137 126
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 128 123 174
Corporate and eliminations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1) (1)

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,230 $1,181 $1,163

Operating Income/
(Loss)

2006 2005 2004

Timber . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 90 $ 87 $ 72
Real Estate * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 89 64 75
Performance Fibers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80 53 47
Wood Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3) 16 13
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1 6
Corporate and eliminations ** . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (27) (1) (40)

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $230 $220 $173

* Operating income includes a charge for the non-cash cost of real estate sold of $12 million, $12 million and $11 million in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

** Corporate and eliminations includes a $7.8 million gain on sale of a partial interest in the New Zealand JV in 2006 and a
$37.0 million gain on sale of New Zealand timberlands to the JV in 2005.

Gross Capital
Expenditures

2006 2005 2004

Timber * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $309 $ 58 $124
Real Estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21 — —
Performance Fibers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 69 45 47
Wood Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 5 5
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 1 1

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $406 $109 $177

* Timber gross capital expenditures include strategic acquisitions of $278 million, $24 million and $89 million in 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively.
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3. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Depreciation,
Depletion and
Amortization

2006 2005 2004

Timber . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 53 $ 61 $ 56
Real Estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 4 4
Performance Fibers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73 75 77
Wood Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 7 8
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 1
Corporate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 — —

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $136 $147 $146

Identifiable Assets

2006 2005

Timber * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,255 $1,033
Real Estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54 30
Performance Fibers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 474 460
Wood Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35 40
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29 35
Corporate / Discontinued Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 116 241

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,963 $1,839

* Timber assets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 include $61 million and $82 million, respectively, for the Company’s
equity method investment in the New Zealand JV.

Product Line Information

Sales by product line for each of the three years ended December 31, 2006, were as follows (in millions of dollars):

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004

Timber . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 207 $ 208 $ 186
Real Estate

Rural . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40 42 25
Development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 72 42 67
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 2 4

Total Real Estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 112 86 96

Performance Fibers
Cellulose Specialties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 499 449 419
Absorbent Materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 173 179 163

Total Performance Fibers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 672 628 582

Wood Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 111 137 126
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 128 123 174
Intersegment Eliminations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1) (1)

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,230 $1,181 $1,163
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3. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical Operating Information

Information by geographical operating area for each of the three years ended December 31, 2006, was as follows (in
millions of dollars):

Sales
Operating

Income/(Loss) Identifiable Assets

2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005

United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,182 $1,122 $1,087 $231 $219 $168 $1,863 $1,731
New Zealand . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32 49 50 (1) 1 5 91 97
All Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16 10 26 — — — 9 11

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,230 $1,181 $1,163 $230 $220 $173 $1,963 $1,839

Rayonier’s sales by destination for each of the three years ended December 31, 2006, were as follows (in millions of
dollars):

Sales by Destination

2006 % 2005 % 2004 %

United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 777 63 $ 739 63 $ 736 63
Europe . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 167 14 161 14 134 11
Japan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 88 7 72 6 80 7
China . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 79 6 61 5 66 6
Other Asia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37 3 52 4 54 5
Latin America . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30 2 37 3 31 3
Canada . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21 2 20 2 20 2
New Zealand . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 2 30 2 30 2
All other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 1 9 1 12 1

Total Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,230 100 $1,181 100 $1,163 100

The majority of sales to foreign countries are denominated in U.S. dollars.

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

The Company had no outstanding foreign currency contracts or settlements of foreign currency contracts during 2006.

The qualifying earnings of Rayonier International Financial Services Limited (RIFSL), a wholly owned subsidiary of TRS,
were repatriated on August 12, 2005 and October 5, 2005. RIFSL received a $227.8 million New Zealand dollar (NZD)
payment on intercompany notes denominated in New Zealand dollars on October 3, 2005. On August 1, 2005, the Company
began recording the impact of the fluctuations in the New Zealand dollar in its Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income, since Rayonier New Zealand Limited (RNZ), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rayonier Inc., intended to
repay the intercompany notes. Prior to the settlement of these notes, the Company recorded a $2.4 million gain from revaluing
the intercompany notes to the September 30, 2005 NZD/USD foreign exchange rate in “Interest and miscellaneous income,
net.” In order to minimize the economic exposure from exchange rates, RIFSL entered into a foreign currency forward to hedge
the conversion of New Zealand dollars to U.S. dollars. The contract matured on October 3, 2005 and the Company recorded a
loss of $2.5 million on this forward currency contract.

In the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004, gains of approximately $0.8 million and $1.7 million, respectively, were recorded on foreign currency contracts
primarily reflecting realized gains on matured contracts, plus the time value changes for outstanding contracts. In 2005 and
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4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

2004, the gains and losses representing the change in the forward contracts’ time value, which are excluded for purposes of
measuring the contracts’ effectiveness, were insignificant and recorded in earnings over the life of the contracts. The gains and
losses resulting from these foreign currency contracts are presented in the net losses from the discontinued operations of MDF
in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. See Note 7 — Sale of Medium-Density
Fiberboard Business (MDF).

At December 31, 2005, the Company had no outstanding New Zealand foreign currency contracts. The largest amount of
foreign currency forward contracts outstanding during 2005 totaled $7.5 million.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

RFR entered into an interest rate swap on $40 million of 8.288 percent fixed rate notes payable which settles every June 30
and December 31 and matures on December 31, 2007. The swap converts interest payments from the fixed rate to a six month
LIBOR plus 4.99 percent rate and qualifies as a fair value hedge under SFAS 133. As such, the net effect from the interest rate
swap is recorded as interest expense. The swap increased the Company’s interest expense by $0.8 million and $0.1 million
during 2006 and 2005, respectively. The swap reduced the Company’s interest expense by $0.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. Based upon current interest rates for similar transactions, the fair value of the interest rate swap agreement
at December 31, 2006 and 2005 resulted in a liability of approximately $0.8 million and $1.2 million, respectively, with
corresponding decreases in debt.

In addition, RFR entered into an interest rate swap on $50 million of 8.288 percent fixed rate notes payable which also
settles every June 30 and December 31 and matures on December 31, 2007. The swap converts interest payments from the fixed
rate to a six month LIBOR plus 4.7825 percent rate and qualifies as a fair value hedge under SFAS 133. As such, the net effect
of the interest rate swap is recorded in interest expense. The swap increased the Company’s interest expense by $0.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2006. The swap reduced the Company’s interest expense by $0.1 million and $0.6 million for the
years ending December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Based upon current interest rates for similar transactions, the fair value
of the interest rate swap agreement at December 31, 2006 and 2005 resulted in liabilities of approximately $0.9 million and
$1.3 million, respectively with corresponding decreases in debt.

Commodity Swap Agreements

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company realized gains of $1.1 million, $3.1 million and
$0.5 million, respectively, on fuel oil forward contracts that matured. The mark-to-market valuation on outstanding fuel oil
forward contracts at December 31, 2006 and 2005 resulted in a liability of $0.4 million and an asset of $0.8 million,
respectively. The mark-to-market adjustments are recorded in “Other operating income/expense.”

During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company realized a loss of $0.7 million and gains of $0.8
million and $0.1 million, respectively, on natural gas forward contracts that matured. The mark-to-market valuation on
outstanding natural gas forward contracts at December 31, 2006 and 2005 resulted in a liability of $0.1 million and an asset of
$0.3 million, respectively. The mark-to-market adjustments are recorded in “Other operating income/expense.”

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the estimated fair values of Rayonier’s financial instruments were as follows:

2006 2005

Carrying
Amount Fair Value

Carrying
Amount Fair ValueAsset (liability)

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 40,171 $ 40,171 $ 146,227 $ 146,227
Long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(655,447) $(696,170) $(555,213) $(602,217)
Interest rate swap agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1,773) $ (1,773) $ (2,557) $ (2,557)
Commodity swap agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (483) $ (483) $ 1,037 $ 1,037
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5. JOINT VENTURE INVESTMENT

In 2005, the Company entered into a joint venture (JV) arrangement with RREEF Infrastructure, the global infrastructure
investing arm of Deutsche Asset Management (RREEF), under which the JV purchased approximately 354,000 acres of New
Zealand timberlands. The JV used investor capital of approximately $245 million and secured bank debt of approximately $260
million to purchase RNZ’s forests consisting of 118,000 acres for approximately $187 million and 236,000 acres of New
Zealand forests and related businesses from Carter Holt Harvey (CHH), an Australasian forest products company, for
approximately $301 million. The Company’s initial investment represented a 49.7 percent equity interest in the JV. In addition
to having an equity investment, RNZ provides timberland management services to the JV, for which it receives a fee. The sale
of RNZ’s forests in 2005 resulted in $65 million in cash proceeds, net of the Company’s investment in the JV, and a $73 million
gain, of which $37 million was recognized (based on the proportion of non-Rayonier (outside) interests in the JV on the date of
sale) and the remaining $36 million was deferred.

On June 30, 2006, the Company reduced its investment in the JV from 49.7 percent to 40 percent. AMP Capital Investors
Limited, a subsidiary of the Australasian corporation AMP Limited, purchased a total interest in the JV of 35 percent, of which
9.7 percent was from RNZ and the remainder from RREEF. The Company received approximately $21.8 million in cash
proceeds and recorded an after-tax gain of $6.5 million or $0.08 per common share. The total after-tax gain includes
approximately $4.9 million of previously deferred gain from RNZ’s October 3, 2005 timberland sale to the JV.

Rayonier’s investment in the JV is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Income from the JV is reported in
the Timber segment as operating income since the Company manages the forests and its JV interest is an extension of RNZ’s
operations. The JV is subject to New Zealand income taxes; however, its timber harvest operations are within the REIT, and
therefore the Company generally is not required to pay U.S. federal income taxes on its equity investment income.

A portion of Rayonier’s equity method investment is recorded at historical cost which generates a difference between the
book value of the Company’s investment and its proportionate share of the JV’s net assets. The difference represents the
Company’s unrecognized gain from RNZ’s sale of timberlands to the JV. The deferred gain will be recognized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated number of years the JV expects to harvest from the timberlands.

A rollforward of the Company’s investment in the JV for the year ended December 31, 2006 and from inception on
October 3, 2005 through December 31, 2005 follows (in millions):

December 31,
2006

December 31,
2005

Balance at beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 81.7 $85.3
Equity in loss of JV . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.6) (1.4)
Foreign exchange translation gain (loss)/other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.2 (0.5)
Interest income* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6.2) (1.7)
Partial sale of investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13.9) —

Balance at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 61.2 $81.7

* The Company records interest income as equity in earnings of the JV with the offset as current interest receivable. The
interest receivable as of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 was $1.1 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

Summarized financial information for the JV for the year ended December 31, 2006 and from inception through
December 31, 2005, and at December 31, 2006 and 2005 is as follows (in millions):

Twelve months ended
December 31, 2006

Three months ended
December 31, 2005

Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $140.4 $ 21.7
Operating income/(loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7.3 $ (2.1)
Pretax loss from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (26.6) $(10.4)

Net loss* . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (17.8) $ (6.9)
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5. JOINT VENTURE INVESTMENT (Continued)

December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005**

Current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 27.1 $ 17.6
Timber and timberlands . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 452.3 463.7
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38.7 37.4

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $518.1 $518.7

Current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 24.2 $ 14.9
Noncurrent liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 305.5 304.4
Partners’ debt and capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 188.4 199.4

Total liabilities and equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $518.1 $518.7

* The Company’s equity interest in the JV’s net losses during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and three months
ended December 31, 2005 of $7.9 million and $3.4 million, respectively, excludes interest of $6.2 million and $1.7 million,
respectively, on debt owed to partners and includes $1.1 million and $0.3 million of deferred gain amortization,
respectively.

** The summarized financial information at December 31, 2005 reflects the final purchase price allocation.

6. TIMBERLAND ACQUISITIONS

During the fourth quarter of 2006, Rayonier acquired approximately 228,000 acres of timberland located in six states for
$272 million. The largest single block of timberland (75,000 acres), located in New York, contains high-value hardwoods and is
located close to strong hardwood and veneer markets in the U.S. and Canada. The remaining timberlands, which include timber
deeds and leases, are in five Southern states with well-established saw timber and pulpwood markets: Texas, Oklahoma,
Arkansas, Alabama and Louisiana. The Southern properties acquired are stocked primarily with loblolly pine. The Company
accounted for the acquisitions as asset purchases.

As of December 31, 2006, approximately $41 million of timber deeds, leases and easements acquired in 2006 met the
criteria to be classified as “held for sale” in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets (SFAS 144). These held for sale assets are classified as current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet and
are accounted for at the lower of the carrying amount or estimated fair value less costs to sell. Approximately $6 million of the
held for sale assets are under contract to be sold to the State of New York and the Trust for Public Land by mid-year 2007.

7. SALE OF MEDIUM-DENSITY FIBERBOARD BUSINESS (MDF)

In August 2005, the Company sold its MDF business located in New Zealand to Dongwha Hong Kong International
Limited for approximately $40 million. The impairment loss and the sale resulted in an after-tax loss of $24.1 million. The
operations of MDF qualify as discontinued operations in accordance with SFAS 144. The operating results of MDF have been
segregated from continuing operations in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 and there were no assets or liabilities associated with the MDF facility included in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2005. The MDF operations and associated assets were previously reported in the
Company’s Wood Products segment.

Operating results of the discontinued operation are summarized below:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2005 2004

Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 31,873 $44,218
Operating loss, including impairment loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(35,415) $ (2,966)
Impairment loss, net of income tax benefit of $9,136 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(24,102) $ —
Loss from sale of discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (27) $ —
Net loss from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(24,956) $ (3,162)
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8. OTHER ASSETS

The overall net position of the Company’s four pension plans at December 31, 2006 is underfunded; however, three of the
Company’s pension plans are overfunded and the resulting pension assets are recorded in Other Assets. Also included are
noncurrent deferred income taxes, restricted cash, HBU real estate inventory not expected to be sold within the next 12 months,
long-term receivables, manufacturing and maintenance supplies not expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, and other
deferred expenses including debt issuance and capitalized software costs.

In order to qualify for like-kind exchange (LKE) treatment, the proceeds from real estate sales must be deposited with a
third party intermediary. These proceeds are accounted for as restricted cash until a suitable replacement property is acquired. In
the event that the LKE purchases are not completed, the proceeds are returned to the Company and reclassified as available cash
after 180 days. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had $1.2 million and $2.5 million, respectively, of proceeds
from real estate sales classified as restricted cash in Other assets, which were deposited with an LKE intermediary.

Debt issuance costs are capitalized and amortized to interest expense over the term of the debt to which they relate using a
method that approximates the interest method and totaled $1.0 million for each of the three years 2006, 2005 and 2004.
Software costs are capitalized and amortized over a period not exceeding five years using the straight-line method. Amortization
of deferred software costs totaled $1.0 million, $1.0 million, and $1.6 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

9. INCOME TAXES

The Company is a real estate investment trust (REIT).

General REIT Requirements

As a REIT, if applicable Internal Revenue Code (IRC) requirements are met, only the Company’s taxable REIT
subsidiaries are subject to corporate income taxes. However, the Company is subject to corporate income tax on built-in gains
(the excess of fair market value over tax basis on property held by the Company upon REIT conversion at January 1, 2004) on
taxable sales of such property during the first ten years following the election to be taxed as a REIT. In accordance with SFAS
109, the Company estimated the amount of timberland and other assets that will be sold in taxable transactions within the
ten-year built-in gain period and retained deferred tax liabilities for such items. All deferred tax liabilities and assets related to
the taxable REIT subsidiaries were also retained.

As a REIT, the Company can be subject to a 100 percent tax on the gain from entering into “prohibited transactions.” The
Company believes it did not engage in any prohibited transactions during 2006 and 2005.

Like-Kind Exchanges

Under current law, the built-in gains tax from the sale of REIT property can be eliminated if sales proceeds from
relinquished properties are reinvested in similar property within required time periods as required by the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) regarding LKEs, so long as the replacement property is owned at least until expiration of the built-in gain period
(ten-year period which began on January 1, 2004). However, this does not restrict the Company’s ability to sell timber on a
pay-as-cut basis from such replacement property during the built-in gain period. During 2006, the Company completed LKE
transactions for $27.7 million of its timberland real estate sales which resulted in tax benefits of $4.8 million. During 2005, the
Company completed LKE transactions for $10.2 million of its timberland real estate sales which resulted in tax benefits of $3.2
million.

Undistributed Foreign Earnings

Prior to March 31, 2004, the Company did not provide for U.S. taxes on all undistributed foreign earnings as it intended to
permanently reinvest its undistributed foreign earnings overseas. Following the Company’s conversion to a REIT, this strategy
was reevaluated based on a greater likelihood of most future investments being made in U.S. timberlands. Accordingly, during
2004, the Company recognized tax expense on undistributed foreign earnings that it expected to ultimately repatriate. During
2005, the Company repatriated these previously undistributed foreign earnings under the special IRC provisions enacted as part
of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 and recorded a tax benefit of $25.4 million.
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9. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The Company has non-U.S. operations for which it has undistributed foreign earnings it intends to permanently reinvest
overseas. Therefore, no U.S. taxes have been provided on these earnings. The Company intends to reinvest all future foreign
earnings.

Tax Audits

In the third quarter of 2006, the Company reached a settlement with the IRS regarding disputed issues for its 2000, 2001
and 2002 tax years, resulting in the reversal of $4.9 million of federal tax liabilities and reserves previously established for these
years. As a result of the settlement, the Company has a tax refund receivable at year-end of approximately $8.2 million (plus
interest).

During 2005, the Company executed settlement agreements with the IRS regarding disputed issues for its 1996, 1997, 1998
and 1999 tax years. These settlements resulted in the reversal of: (i) $11.2 million of federal and state tax reserves related to tax
years 1996 and 1997 and (ii) $7.7 million of federal and state tax reserves related to tax years 1998 and 1999.

Also during 2005, the IRS completed its field examination of taxable years 2000, 2001 and 2002. As a result of the
completion of the field examination and “agreed” items, the Company reversed a $3.1 million federal tax reserve. The result of
the settlement of the disputed items is disclosed above.

The Company has other matters under review by various taxing authorities, including the examination of tax years 2003
and 2004 by the IRS. The Company believes its reported tax positions are technically sound and its tax reserves at December 31,
2006 adequately reflect the probable resolution of these items. Nevertheless, it is reasonably possible that the final resolution of
these matters could result in an additional tax liability of up to $12.5 million above established reserves.

Provision for Income Taxes from Continuing Operations

The components of “Income from continuing operations, before income taxes” consist of U.S. income of $179.2 million,
$139.1 million and $111.1 million, and foreign income of $10.9 million, $51.7 million and $15.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The (provision for)/benefit from income taxes from continuing operations consists of the following:

2006 2005 2004

Current
U.S. federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(36,915) $(25,637) $(15,755)
State and local . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (962) 514 (977)
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (478) (5,521) (2,082)

(38,355) (30,644) (18,814)

Deferred
U.S. federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,399 51,845 48,643
State and local . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 620 660 (86)
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (719) (4,913) 3,906

19,300 47,592 52,463

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(19,055) $ 16,948 $ 33,649
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9. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Deferred income taxes result from recording revenues and expenses for financial reporting in one period but in different
periods for tax reporting purposes. The nature of the temporary differences and the resulting net deferred tax asset (liability) at
December 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

2006 2005

Gross deferred tax assets:
Reserves for dispositions and discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 46,292 $ 50,054
Gains on timberland sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,281 7,089
Employee benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41,930 23,100
Foreign and state NOL carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,750 14,328
State tax credit carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,745 10,242
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,469 5,284

122,467 110,097

Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated depreciation and depletion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (59,938) (72,683)
Pension and other employee benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (17,268) (16,766)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,113) (8,591)

(81,319) (98,040)
Less: Valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (17,486) (19,020)

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 23,662 $ (6,963)

Current portion of deferred tax asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,074 $ 14,056
Noncurrent portion of deferred tax asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,588 4,198
Noncurrent portion of deferred tax liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (25,217)

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 23,662 $ (6,963)

Included in the above table are foreign and state net operating loss (NOL) and state tax credit carryforwards. At
December 31, 2006, the Company had New Zealand NOL carryforwards of $19.1 million with an indefinite carryforward
period. The Company also had $155.5 million of state NOL carryforwards and $8.7 million of Georgia state tax credit
carryforwards. In general, the state NOL and credit carryforwards have an expiration term of 15 years. Because the Company
does not expect to realize these state tax benefits, a $17.5 million valuation allowance representing the entire amount of the state
tax benefits was recorded as of December 31, 2006. The Company expects to obtain the full benefit of the remaining net
deferred tax assets over the period of years that the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

In 2006 and 2005, the Company recorded tax benefits of $4.1 million and $6.2 million, respectively, related to stock-based
compensation. These amounts were credited directly to shareholders’ equity and are not included in the consolidated tax
provisions.

The effective tax rate, before discrete items, increased from 14.2 percent in 2005, to 16.3 percent in 2006 due to lower tax
benefits from foreign operations, partly offset by higher REIT income. The 2005 rate included a $6.5 million tax benefit from
the sale of New Zealand timber assets to the JV. The effective tax rate, including discrete items, was 10.0 percent in 2006
compared to an 8.8 percent benefit in 2005. See the reconciliation table below for details of these items.

The Company’s effective tax rate is below the 35 percent U.S. statutory tax rate primarily due to tax benefits associated
with being a REIT and LKE transactions. Partially offsetting these benefits is the loss of tax deductibility on interest expense
($22.2 million) and corporate overhead expenses associated with REIT activities ($14.0 million). The Company’s net tax benefit
from REIT activities for 2006 was $33.6 million.
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9. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

A reconciliation of the income tax provision at the U.S. statutory rate to the reported provision for income taxes follows:

2006 % 2005 % 2004 %

Income tax (provision)/benefit from continuing operations at
U.S. statutory rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(66,548) (35.0) $(66,797) (35.0) $(44,244) (35.0)

State and local taxes, net of federal benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,170) (0.6) (1,028) (0.5) (638) (0.5)
REIT income not subject to federal tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33,597 17.7 28,255 14.8 24,506 19.4
Foreign operations * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,109 1.1 6,896 3.6 4,451 3.5
Tax benefit on U.S. export sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,002 0.5 2,560 1.3 2,359 1.8
Permanent differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 122 0.1 257 0.1 856 0.7
Tax credits and other, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (155) (0.1) (214) (0.1) (1,671) (1.3)
Discrete items included in pretax income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 4,920 1.6** — —

Income tax (provision)/benefit from continuing operations before
discrete items . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (31,043) (16.3) (25,151) (14.2) (14,381) (11.4)

Favorable IRS audit settlements, including adjustment of accrued
interest expense/income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,387 2.8 19,837 11.0** — —

Reversal of prior year built-in gain reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,186 2.2 — — — —
Return to accrual adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (291) (0.2) (268) (0.2) 1,376 1.1
Prior year foreign tax credit reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (983) (0.5) — — — —
Deferred tax adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,689 2.0 1,462 0.8 — —
U.S. tax benefit on repatriation of foreign earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 25,400 13.3 — —
Tax on favorable arbitration award . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (2,977) (1.2)** — —
Foreign exchange rate change on U.S. tax from undistributed foreign

earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 1,600 0.8 (3,000) (2.4)
Unrealizable New Zealand tax credits for U.S. withholding tax paid . . — — (2,955) (1.5) — —
Reversal of deferred tax liability—REIT conversion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 77,854 63.1
U.S. tax on prior undistributed foreign earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (28,200) (22.9)

Income tax (provision)/benefit from continuing operations as
reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(19,055) (10.0) $ 16,948 8.8 $ 33,649 27.5

* Primarily from foreign exchange and rate differentials.
** Adjusted for change in pretax income due to discrete items.

Provision for Income Taxes from Discontinued Operations

In 2006, the Company reduced its environmental reserves by $8.5 million related to its previously closed Southern Wood
Piedmont Company (SWP) sites. The closure was originally accounted for as a discontinued operation. In 2005, the Company
sold its MDF business located in New Zealand and accounted for it as a discontinued operation. During the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company’s pre-tax losses from MDF were $35.4 million and $3.0 million, respectively.

A reconciliation of the income tax provision from discontinued operations at the U.S. statutory rate to the reported
provision for income taxes follows:

2006 % 2005 % 2004 %

Income tax (provision)/benefit from discontinued operations at U.S.
statutory rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(2,988) 35.0 $12,395 35.0 $ 1,038 35.0

State and local income tax (provision)/benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (213) 2.5 425 1.2 36 1.2
Permanent differences related to foreign exchange rate changes . . . . . . . . . . — — (2,361) (6.7) (1,270) (42.8)

Income tax (provision)/benefit from discontinued operations as reported . . . $(3,201) 37.5 $10,459 29.5 $ (196) (6.6)
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10. INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS AND NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing income from continuing operations or net income by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing income from continuing
operations or net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding adjusted to include the potentially
dilutive effect of outstanding stock options, performance shares and restricted shares. In 2006 and 2005, the stock options that
were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS due to their anti-dilutive effect totaled 423,350 and 26,500, respectively. In
2004, there were no stock options, performance shares or restricted shares that were excluded from the computation of diluted
EPS due to their anti-dilutive effect.

The following table provides details of the calculation of basic and diluted EPS from continuing operations, discontinued
operations and net income for 2006, 2005 and 2004:

2006 2005 2004

Income from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 171,083 $ 207,795 $ 160,063
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,335 (24,956) (3,162)

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 176,418 $ 182,839 $ 156,901

Shares used for determining basic earnings per common share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76,486,690 75,504,800 74,445,864
Dilutive effect of: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,263,194 1,413,135 1,446,683
Performance and restricted shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 408,807 726,317 640,716

Shares used for determining diluted earnings per common share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 78,158,691 77,644,252 76,533,263

Basic earnings (loss) per common share: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.23 $ 2.75 $ 2.15
Discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.07 (0.33) (0.04)

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.30 $ 2.42 $ 2.11

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.19 $ 2.68 $ 2.09
Discontinued operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.07 (0.32) (0.04)

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.26 $ 2.36 $ 2.05

11. INVENTORY

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, Rayonier’s inventory included the following:

2006 2005

Finished goods * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $57,338 $65,214
Work in progress . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,823 8,666
Raw materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,496 10,013
Manufacturing and maintenance supplies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,936 1,652

Total inventory . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $75,593 $85,545

* Includes $2.7 million and $9.9 million of HBU real estate held for sale at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

F-24



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. DEBT

Rayonier’s debt included the following at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005

Revolving credit facility borrowings at an interest rate of 5.92% at December 31, 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $103,000 $ —
Installment notes due 2007-2014 at fixed interest rates of 8.29% to 8.64% at December 31, 2006 . . . . . . 485,000 485,000
Pollution control and industrial revenue bonds due 2007-2020 at variable interest rates of 4.63% to

6.20% at December 31, 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 72,770 73,285
Term loans due 2006 at interest rates of 5.67% at December 31, 2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 2,795

Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 660,770 561,080
Interest rate swap carrying value . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,773) (2,557)

Total debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 658,997 558,523
Less: Current maturities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,550) (3,310)

Long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $655,447 $555,213

Principal payments due during the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $121,005
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,885
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 148,120
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 660
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 213,205
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 153,895

Total Debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $660,770

In August 2006, the Company entered into a new $250 million unsecured revolving credit facility to replace the previous
facility which was scheduled to expire in November 2006. This new facility includes an accordion feature which allows
additional borrowing requests over the $250 million, in $25 million increments, up to an aggregate $100 million, provided no
default exists. The new facility expires in 2011. The Company had $131 million (excluding the accordion feature) and $235
million of available borrowings at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The 2006 and 2005 available borrowings have
been reduced by $16 million and $15 million of standby letters of credit issued under the facility, respectively. In addition to the
credit facility, the Company has on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, a shelf registration statement to offer
$500 million of new public debt and equity securities, of which $247 million was available at December 31, 2006 and 2005.

In 2006, the Company increased its long-term debt by borrowing $100 million under the new revolving credit facility to
finance timberland acquisitions. The Company has $113 million of installment notes that will mature on December 31, 2007
which the Company plans to refinance by issuing public debt.

The carrying value of long-term debt was decreased by $1.8 million and $2.6 million, as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, to reflect the fair market value of the interest rate swaps held. See Note 4 — Financial Instruments for more
information.

In connection with the Company’s long term debt and the new $250 million revolving credit facility, certain covenants
must be met, including ratios based on the facility’s definition of EBITDA (Covenant EBITDA). Covenant EBITDA consists of
earnings from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of accounting changes and any provision for dispositions,
income taxes, interest expense, depreciation, depletion, amortization and the non-cash cost basis of real estate sold. The
Company’s dividend restriction covenant limits the sum of dividends in any period of four fiscal quarters to 90 percent of
Covenant Funds from Operations (Covenant FFO) plus the aggregate amount of dividends permitted under Covenant FFO in
excess of the amount of dividends paid during the prior four fiscal quarters. Covenant FFO is defined as Consolidated Net
Income excluding gains or losses from debt restructuring and investments in marketable securities plus depletion, depreciation
and amortization and the non-cash cost basis of real estate sold. Under a covenant relating to the $485 million of installment
notes, RFR may not incur additional debt unless, at the time of incurrence, and after giving pro forma effect to the receipt and
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12. DEBT (Continued)

application of the proceeds of such debt, RFR meets or exceeds a minimum ratio of cash flow to fixed charges. RFR’s ability to
make certain quarterly distributions to Rayonier Inc. is limited to an amount equal to RFR’s “available cash,” which consists of
its opening cash balance plus proceeds from permitted borrowings. At December 31, 2006, the Company is in compliance with
all covenants disclosed herein.

The covenants listed below, which are the most significant financial covenants in effect as of December 31, 2006, are
calculated on a trailing 12-month basis:

Covenant
Requirement

Actual ratio at
December 31, 2006

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Covenant EBITDA to consolidated interest expense should not be less than . . . . . 2.50 to 1 7.94 to 1 5.44
Total debt to Covenant EBITDA should not exceed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.00 to 1 1.71 to 1 2.29
RFR cash flow available for fixed charges to RFR fixed charges should not be

less than . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.50 to 1 7.31 to 1 4.81
Dividends paid should not exceed 90 percent of Covenant FFO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 90% 38% 52%

In addition to the financial covenants listed above, the installment notes and credit facility include customary covenants
that limit the incurrence of debt, the disposition of assets, and the making of certain payments between RFR and Rayonier
among others. An asset sales covenant in the RFR installment note-related agreements requires the Company, subject to certain
exceptions, to either reinvest of cumulative timberland sales proceeds in excess of $100 million (the “excess proceeds”) in
timberland-related investments and activities or, once the amount of excess proceeds not reinvested exceeds $50 million, to
offer the note holders prepayment of the notes ratably in the amount of the excess proceeds. During the third quarter of 2006,
excess proceeds of approximately $69 million were offered to the note holders, who declined the offer of prepayment, which
reset the excess proceeds to zero. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the amount of excess proceeds was $10 million and
$31 million, respectively.

The previous $250 million unsecured revolving credit facility with a group of banks allowed the parent company, Rayonier
Inc. and its subsidiaries, TRS and RFR, to borrow up to a combined total of $250 million. This facility was scheduled to expire
in November 2006 but was replaced with a new $250 million unsecured revolving credit facility in August 2006. The Company
was in compliance with all covenants under this facility in 2006 and 2005.
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13. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

An analysis of shareholders’ equity for each of the three years ended December 31, 2006 is shown below. On October 17,
2005, one additional share of common stock was issued for every two shares held to shareholders of record on October 3, 2005.
The common share and dividends per share amounts for 2004 shown below have been restated to reflect the 2005 stock split.

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income/(Loss)

Common Shares Retained
Earnings

Shareholders’
EquityShares Amount

Balance, December 31, 2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73,527,474 $364,810 $ 355,956 $ (9,660) $ 711,106
Error correction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 7,019 — 7,019

Adjusted Balance, December 31, 2003 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73,527,474 $364,810 $ 362,975 $ (9,660) $ 718,125
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 156,901 — 156,901
Dividends ($1.49 per share) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (111,378) — (111,378)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock plans . . . . . . . . 1,438,856 24,323 — — 24,323
Unrealized loss on hedged transactions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (338) (338)
Minimum pension liability adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (217) (217)
Tax benefit on exercise of stock-based compensation . . — 4,380 — — 4,380
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 11,611 11,611

Balance, December 31, 2004 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 74,966,330 $393,513 $ 408,498 $ 1,396 $ 803,407

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 182,839 — 182,839
Dividends ($1.71 per share) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (129,434) — (129,434)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock plans . . . . . . . . 1,132,390 23,029 — — 23,029
Cash in lieu of fractional shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,154) (356) — — (356)
Unrealized loss on hedged transactions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (410) (410)
Minimum pension liability adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 16,323 16,323
Tax benefit on exercise of stock-based compensation . . — 6,178 — — 6,178
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (9,705) (9,705)

Balance, December 31, 2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76,092,566 $422,364 $ 461,903 $ 7,604 $ 891,871

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 176,418 — 176,418
Dividends ($1.88 per share) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (144,049) — (144,049)
Issuance of shares under incentive stock plans . . . . . . . . 801,521 24,689 — — 24,689
Repurchases of common shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (14,261) (560) — — (560)
Minimum pension liability adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 13,339 13,339
Impact of adopting SFAS No. 158 (Note 20) . . . . . . . . . — — — (52,815) (52,815)
Tax benefit on exercise of stock-based compensation . . — 4,143 — — 4,143
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 3,226 3,226

Balance, December 31, 2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76,879,826 $450,636 $ 494,272 $(28,646) $ 916,262

Subsequent to the issuance of the Company’s financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2006, the Company
determined that its non-current deferred tax liability related to pensions was overstated by $7.0 million. Since this error
originated prior to January 1, 2004, and did not have a material effect on any subsequent financial statement, the Company
adjusted beginning Retained Earnings as of December 31, 2003.

The table below summarizes the tax characteristics of the cash dividend paid to shareholders for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005

Capital gain . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1.88 $1.35
Non-taxable return of capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 0.36

Total cash distributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1.88 $1.71
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14. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) was comprised of the following as of December 31, 2006 and 2005:
2006 2005

Foreign currency translation adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 27,292 $ 24,065
Unrecognized components of pension and post-retirement plans, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (55,938) —
Minimum pension liability adjustments, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (16,461)

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(28,646) $ 7,604

15. RESERVES FOR DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Company’s dispositions and discontinued operations include its Port Angeles, WA mill, which was closed in 1997;
SWP, which ceased operations in 1989 except for investigation and remediation activities; Eastern Research Division (ERD),
which ceased operations in 1981; and other miscellaneous assets held for disposition. SWP has been designated a potentially
responsible party (PRP), or has had other claims made against it, under the U.S. Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA) and/or other federal or state statutes relating to the investigation and
remediation of environmentally-impacted sites, with respect to ten former wood processing sites which are no longer operating.

An analysis of activity in the reserves for dispositions and discontinued operations for the two years ended December 31,
2006 follows:

December 31,
2006

December 31,
2005

Balance, January 1, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $140,382 $146,054
Expenditures charged to reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,789) (8,697)
(Reductions)/additions to reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (8,077) 3,025

Balance, end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 122,516 140,382
Less: Current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,699) (12,422)

Non-current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $111,817 $127,960

The Company has identified specific reserves for three SWP sites (Augusta, GA, Spartanburg, SC, and East Point, GA) and
Port Angeles, WA as material and requiring separate disclosure. An analysis of the reserve activity for the two years ended
December 31, 2006 is as follows:

Reserve Activity (in millions) as of December 31,

Sites 2004 Expenditures
Revisions to
Estimates 2005 Expenditures

Revisions to
Estimates * 2006

Augusta, GA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 18.8 $(0.8) $(0.6) $ 17.4 $(0.7) $(3.1) $ 13.6
Spartanburg, SC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18.2 (0.9) (0.1) 17.2 (0.7) (2.4) 14.1
East Point, GA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13.8 (0.4) (0.7) 12.7 (0.5) (0.8) 11.4
Other SWP sites . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80.0 (4.7) 1.4 76.7 (5.6) (2.4) 68.7

Total SWP . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 130.8 (6.8) — 124.0 (7.5) (8.7) 107.8
Port Angeles, WA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9.0 (1.6) 1.1 8.5 (1.9) 0.6 7.2
All other sites . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.3 (0.3) 1.9 7.9 (0.4) — 7.5

TOTAL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $146.1 $(8.7) $ 3.0 $140.4 $(9.8) $(8.1) $122.5

* Includes $8.5 million reduction in the SWP reserves in 2006 that was recorded in Discontinued Operations, net of income
tax expense of $3.2 million in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

A brief description of each of these sites is as follows:

Augusta, Georgia — SWP operated a wood treating plant at this site from 1928 to 1988 and is the only known PRP. The
majority of visually contaminated surface soils have been removed, and remediation activities currently consist at this site
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15. RESERVES FOR DISPOSITIONS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

of a groundwater recovery system. The site operates under a 10-year hazardous waste permit issued pursuant to the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended (RCRA), which expires in 2014. Current cost estimates could
change if recovery or discharge volumes increase or decrease drastically, or if changes to current remediation activities are
required in the future. Total spending to date at December 31, 2006 was $61.5 million. The Company’s current reserves
cover its obligations for remaining remedial and monitoring activities through 2026.

Spartanburg, South Carolina — SWP operated a wood treatment plant at this site from 1925 to 1989 and is the only known
PRP at this site. Remediation activities include: (1) a recovery system and biological wastewater treatment plant, (2) an
ozone-sparging system treating soil and groundwater and (3) an ion-exchange resin system treating groundwater. The cost
estimate for this site includes potential remediation of an adjoining area also owned by SWP, which appears to have
received runoff from a portion of the former operating plant. Total spending to date at December 31, 2006 was $34.5
million. The Company’s current reserves cover its obligations for remaining remedial and monitoring activities through
2026.

East Point, Georgia — SWP operated a wood preserving facility at this site from 1908 to 1984. This site operates under a
10-year RCRA hazardous waste permit. Active remedial measures are currently ongoing, although limited additional
remedial measures may be necessary in the future. Total spending to date at December 31, 2006 was $15.1 million. The
Company’s current reserves cover its obligations for remaining remedial and monitoring activities through 2026.

Port Angeles, Washington — Rayonier operated a sulfite dissolving pulp mill on a 70-acre site in Port Angeles,
Washington from 1930 to 1997. The mill was dismantled in 1997 and 1998 and was evaluated for CERCLA Superfund
listing by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) during the same period. The EPA subsequently deferred listing
the site on the Superfund and delegated responsibility for oversight to the State of Washington in May 2000. Mill
demolition, extensive investigation and several interim clean up actions for petroleum and PCB contamination have been
completed; however, reserves for this site of approximately $7.2 million are required at December 31, 2006 for further
remediation and monitoring costs.

Also included in the reserves for the SWP sites are soil remediation costs related to the recycling of 150,000 tons of
contaminated soil by a third-party processor in Louisiana. See Note 16 — Contingencies for additional information.

The Company currently estimates that expenditures for environmental remediation, monitoring and other costs for all
dispositions and discontinued operations in 2007 and 2008 will be approximately $11 million and $7 million, respectively. Such
costs will be charged against reserves for dispositions and discontinued operations, which include environmental investigation,
remediation and monitoring costs. The Company believes established reserves are sufficient for costs expected to be incurred
over the next 20 years with respect to its dispositions and discontinued operations. Remedial actions for these sites vary, but can
include, among other remedies, removal of contaminated soils, groundwater recovery and treatment systems, and source
remediation and/or control.

In addition, the Company is exposed to the risk of reasonably possible additional losses in excess of the established
reserves. As of December 31, 2006, this amount could range up to $30 million and arises from uncertainty over the
effectiveness of treatments, additional contamination that may be discovered, changes in applicable law and the exercise of
discretion in interpretation of applicable law and regulations by governmental agencies, and in environmental remediation
technology.

The reliability and precision of cost estimates for these sites and the amount of actual future environmental costs can be
impacted by various factors, including but not limited to significant changes in discharge or treatment volumes, requirements to
perform additional or different remediation, changes in environmental remediation technology, the extent of groundwater
contamination migration, additional findings of contaminated soil or sediment off-site, remedy selection, and the outcome of
negotiations with federal and state agencies. Additionally, a site’s potential for Brownfields (environmentally impacted site
considered for re-development), or other similar projects, could accelerate expenditures as well as impact the amount and/or
type of remediation required, as could new laws, regulations and the exercise of discretion in interpretation of applicable law
and regulations by governmental agencies. Based on information currently available, the Company does not believe that any
future changes in estimates, if necessary, would materially affect its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
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16. CONTINGENCIES

Rayonier is engaged in various legal actions, including certain environmental proceedings that are discussed more fully in
Note 15 — Reserves for Dispositions and Discontinued Operations.

The Company has been named as a defendant in various other lawsuits and claims arising in the normal course of business.
While we have procured reasonable and customary insurance covering risks normally occurring in connection with our
businesses, we have in certain cases retained some risk through the operation of self-insurance, primarily in the areas of workers
compensation, property insurance, and general liability. In our opinion, these other lawsuits and claims, either individually or in
the aggregate, are not expected to have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flow.

Legal Proceedings

Between 1985 and 1995, SWP sent contaminated soil excavated in connection with the cleanup of various closed wood
processing sites to a third-party processor in Louisiana for recycling. The processing facility, referred to as the Marine Shale
Processors (MSP) facility, closed in 1995 and has been the subject of a variety of environmental related charges and a lawsuit
brought by the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ), the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the State of Louisiana,
through its Department of Environmental Quality (LDEQ), in United States District Court for the Western District of Louisiana
(the Court) against the owner of the processing facility. Also in dispute is disposal liability for approximately 150,000 tons of
recycled material from sites operated by SWP that were placed at another site, referred to as the RPI site, which is owned by an
affiliate of the owner of the MSP facility. A trial had been scheduled for June of 2006, in which DOJ, EPA and LDEQ were
primarily asserting claims for cost recovery under CERCLA in respect of the investigation and remediation of the MSP facility
and the RPI site. In advance of the scheduled June 2006 trial date, the Company reached a settlement with DOJ, EPA and LDEQ
under which SWP will oversee and pay for certain remedial activities to be performed at the RPI site and pay DOJ and LDEQ
$0.2 million. In exchange for these commitments, the Company will receive, among other things, a “covenant not to sue” from
DOJ, EPA and LDEQ for any claims relating to the MSP facility and the RPI site, and contribution protection under the
applicable provisions of CERCLA against suits by third parties relating thereto. This settlement, which was reflected in a
consent decree, was approved by the Court on September 11, 2006. SWP has initiated performance of its remediation
obligations under the consent decree. The Company believes that its reserves at December 31, 2006 adequately reflect the
probable costs to be incurred through the ultimate completion of the Company’s obligations under the consent decree.

In 1998, EPA and the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) filed separate lawsuits against Rayonier
Inc., and approximately 30 other defendants, in the U.S. District Court, District of New Jersey, seeking recovery of current and
future response costs and natural resource damages under applicable federal and state law relating to a contaminated landfill in
Chester Township, New Jersey, referred to as Combe Fill South (Combe). It is alleged that the Company’s former ERD in
Whippany, New Jersey sent small quantities of dumpster waste, via a contract hauler, to Combe in the 1960s and early 1970s.
The Company is working with other defendants in a joint defense group, which subsequently filed third-party actions against
over 200 parties seeking contribution. A court-ordered, nonbinding alternative dispute resolution process is ongoing and in
March of 2006 a court-appointed neutral issued a report and recommendations. The Company believes that its reserves at
December 31, 2006 adequately reflect the probable costs to be incurred upon the ultimate resolution of these matters.

In the third quarter of 2005, the Company advised the Environmental Protection Division of the Georgia Department of
Natural Resources (EPD) of the results of certain testing undertaken by the Company at its Jesup, Georgia mill. This testing
related to potential non-capture of certain methanol emissions during a particular stage of the mill’s pulp manufacturing process.
The potential non-capture at issue appears to have taken place during portions of three years between 2001 and 2004. While the
Company’s position is that no applicable law or regulation has been violated, EPD was voluntarily notified by the Company.
No notices of violation or citations were issued by EPD. On September 13, 2006, the Company and EPD entered into a consent
decree under which, without admitting any liability, the Company agreed to pay a penalty of $100,000 and received credit for
performance of an environmental project. On September 29, 2006, EPD issued a letter indicating that all requirements of the
consent decree had been completed.

In 2004, the Company and the Board of Assessors of Wayne County, Georgia (the County) executed an agreement which,
among other things, provided that the parties would resolve a property tax dispute relating to the Jesup mill property for the tax
years 2002 to 2004 through binding arbitration, and the arbitration agreement was approved by the Georgia Superior Court (the
Court). On September 10, 2005, after completion of a six-day arbitration, the arbitrators ruled in favor of the Company, which

F-30



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

16. CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

resulted in the County owing the Company a refund of approximately $5.1 million for excess taxes paid. Additionally, the
decision would have allowed the Company to reverse its $2.8 million accrued property tax balance. In December 2005, the
County filed motions with the Court claiming that it did not have the power and authority to enter into the arbitration agreement
with Rayonier, and that the arbitrators’ decision should be vacated. On March 24, 2006, the Court upheld the validity of the
arbitration agreement (with the exception of one provision governing the calculation of certain future years’ taxes, which does
not affect the amount of the refund for 2002 to 2004 tax years), and confirmed the decision rendered by the panel of arbitrators.
The County filed an appeal of the Court’s decision. In July, the Company and the County reached an agreement in principle to
resolve this dispute, subject to mutual agreement on final documentation. In November 2006, an agreement settling the dispute
was executed by all parties and the settlement was approved by the Wayne County Commission and Board of Assessors. The
agreement, among other things, establishes a fair market value assessment for the mill and research and development facility for
each of the years 2002 through 2006, and a framework for computing the fair market value of these properties for years 2007
through 2011. In addition, the Company agreed to reduce the amount of the refund owed to the Company to $3.2 million and
forego collection so long as the County complied with the terms of the agreement. Based on this agreement and in compliance
with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, the Company reversed previously accrued property taxes of approximately
$4.9 million during 2006.

Environmental Matters

The Company is subject to stringent environmental laws and regulations concerning air emissions, water discharges and
waste handling and disposal. Such environmental laws and regulations include the Federal Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act,
RCRA, CERCLA and similar state laws and regulations. Management closely monitors its environmental responsibilities, and
believes that the Company is in substantial compliance with current environmental requirements. Notwithstanding Rayonier’s
current compliance status, many of its operations are subject to stringent and constantly evolving environmental requirements
which are often the result of legislation, regulation and negotiation. As such, contingencies in this area include, without
limitation:

• The Company’s manufacturing facilities operate in accordance with various permits, which often impose operating
conditions that require significant expenditure to ensure compliance. Upon renewal and renegotiation of these permits,
the issuing agencies often seek to impose new or additional conditions, which could adversely affect our operations.

• As environmental laws, regulations and related judicial decisions and administrative interpretations change, our
operations may be affected. For example, at our Performance Fibers mills, implementation of the EPA’s 1998 “Cluster
Rules” (parallel rulemaking for air and water-based technology discharge limits for pulp and paper mills) with respect
to certain portions of dissolving pulp mills has been delegated to the respective states, and since they have not yet been
proposed, the timing and ultimate costs are uncertain.

• In our forestry operations, federal, state and local laws and regulations intended to protect threatened and endangered
species, as well as wetlands and waterways, limit, and in some cases may prevent, timber harvesting, road construction
and other activities on private lands. For example, Washington has amongst the most stringent forestry laws and
regulations in the country.

• Over time, the complexity and stringency of environmental laws and regulations have increased markedly, and in
general, management believes this trend will continue.

Given all of these contingencies, it is the opinion of management that substantial expenditures will be required over the
next ten years in the area of environmental compliance.
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17. GUARANTEES

The Company provides financial guarantees as required by creditors, insurance programs, and state and foreign
governmental agencies. As of December 31, 2006, the following financial guarantees were outstanding:

Financial Commitments
Maximum

Potential Payment
Carrying Amount

of Liability

Standby letters of credit (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 79,136 $ 61,410
Guarantees (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 111,850 103,096
Surety bonds (3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,498 1,657

Total financial commitments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $199,484 $166,163

(1) Approximately $62 million of the standby letters of credit serve as credit support for industrial revenue bonds. The
remaining letters of credit support obligations under various insurance related agreements, primarily workers’
compensation and pollution liability policy requirements. These letters of credit expire at various dates during 2007 and are
typically renewed as required.

(2) In conjunction with the sale of RNZ’s timberlands to the JV in October 2005, the Company guaranteed five years of Crown
Forest license obligations. The JV is the primary obligor and has posted a bank performance bond with the New Zealand
government. If the JV fails to pay the obligation, the New Zealand government will demand payment from the bank that
posted the bond. If the bank defaulted on the bond, the Company would then have to perform. As of December 31, 2006,
four annual payments, of $1.2 million each, remain. This guarantee expires in 2010.

In conjunction with the sale of its New Zealand East Coast timber operations in 2002, the Company guaranteed five years
of Crown Forest license obligations. In late 2003, the buyer defaulted on its loan payments to its creditors and went into
receivership with the 2004 obligation paid by the receiver. The property was then re-sold. The new owner is the primary
obligor and has posted a bank performance bond with the New Zealand government. If the new owner fails to pay the
obligations, the New Zealand government will demand payment from the owner’s bank pursuant to the bond. If the
owner’s bank defaults on the bond, the Company would have to perform under the guarantee and seek legal redress from
the owner. The Company expects the owner’s bond to be sufficient to cover the license obligations. As of December 31,
2006, one annual payment, estimated at $1.5 million, remains. This guarantee expires in 2007.

In conjunction with a timberland sale and note monetization in the first quarter of 2004, the Company entered into a make-
whole agreement pursuant to which it guaranteed $2.5 million of obligations of a qualified special purpose entity that was
established to complete the monetization. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had a liability of $43 thousand to
reflect the fair market value of its obligation to perform under the make-whole agreement.

In August 2006, the Company entered into a new $250 million unsecured revolving credit facility to replace the previous
facility which was scheduled to expire in November 2006. In conjunction with the new credit facility, Rayonier continues
to guarantee the borrowings of RFR and TRS. Additionally, TRS continues to guarantee the borrowings of Rayonier Inc.
At December 31, 2006, there were $103 million outstanding borrowings covered by these guarantees.

(3) Rayonier has issued surety bonds primarily to secure timber harvesting obligations in the State of Washington and to
provide collateral for the Company’s workers’ compensation self-insurance program in that state. These surety bonds
expire at various dates during 2007 and are renewed as required.

18. COMMITMENTS

The Company leases certain buildings, machinery and equipment under various operating leases. Total rental expense for
operating leases amounted to $3.7 million, $4.1 million, and $4.1 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The Company
also has long-term leases on certain timberlands in the Southern U.S. These leases typically have initial terms of approximately
30 to 65 years, with renewal provisions in some cases. Such leases are generally non-cancelable and require minimum annual
rental payments. Total expense for long-term leases and deeds on timberlands amounted to $5.4 million, $5.3 million, and $5.6
million in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.
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18. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

At December 31, 2006, the future minimum payments under non-cancelable operating and timberland leases, including
commitments for deeds and leases held for sale (see Note 6 — Timberland Acquisitions) were as follows:

Operating
Leases

Timberland
Leases*

Timber Deeds
& Leases

Held for Sale Total

2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,973 $ 5,241 $ 1,581 $ 9,795
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,656 5,238 1,586 9,480
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,945 5,119 1,292 8,356
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,814 5,107 1,292 8,213
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 662 5,047 1,292 7,001
Thereafter through 2036 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,757 68,999 8,570 80,326

$12,807 $94,751 $15,613 $123,171

* The majority of timberland leases are subject to escalation clauses based on either the Consumer Price Index or Producer
Price Index.

19. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS

The Company adopted SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006 using the modified prospective method, which requires stock-
based compensation to be accounted for at fair value. Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock-based
compensation using the intrinsic value based method under APB No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25),
and related Accounting Interpretations thereof, as permitted by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
(SFAS 123). No compensation expense was recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
during the years ending December 31, 2005 and 2004 for stock options under APB 25.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had two stock-based employee compensation plans. The 1994 Rayonier Incentive
Stock Plan (the 1994 Plan) provided for the grant of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation
rights, performance shares and restricted stock, subject to certain limitations. Effective January 1, 2004, the Company adopted
the 2004 Rayonier Incentive Stock and Management Bonus Plan (the 2004 Plan). The 2004 Plan provides for 4.5 million shares
to be granted for incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance shares and
restricted stock, subject to certain limitations. The Company has issued non-qualified stock options, performance shares and
restricted stock under both of the plans. The Company issues new shares of stock upon the exercise of stock options, the
granting of restricted stock, and the vesting of performance shares.

Summary of Impact of SFAS No. 123(R)

Total compensation cost recorded in “Selling and general expenses” for stock-based compensation was $12.1 million,
$11.7 million and $9.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Included in the
compensation cost for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $0.8 million related to stock option awards for retirement eligible
employees that were granted prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), which is being recognized over a three-year vesting
period. All stock option awards to retirement eligible employees subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) are expensed
immediately. The $12.1 million stock-based compensation expense recorded in 2006 includes $4.2 million for stock options, of
which $1.5 million was for stock options granted to retirement-eligible employees.
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19. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS (Continued)

The Company’s pre-tax income for the year ended December 31, 2006 is $1.2 million below what would have been
reported under APB 25. The following table illustrates the impact SFAS 123(R) has had on the Company’s net income and
earnings per share by excluding SFAS 123(R) stock-based compensation expense and including the expense that would have
been recorded under APB 25:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2006

Net income, as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $176,418
Adjustment to reflect APB 25 stock-based compensation expense, net of related tax effects . . . . . . . . . . . . 936

Pro forma net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $177,354

Earnings per share:
Basic, as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.30
Basic, pro forma . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.31

Diluted, as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.26
Diluted, pro forma . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.27

Tax benefits recognized related to stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
were $2.8 million and $2.6 million, respectively.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company presented all tax benefits of deductions resulting from stock-based
compensation as operating cash flows in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. SFAS 123(R) requires the $4.1 million of
cash flows resulting from tax benefits in excess of the compensation cost recognized (excess tax benefits) in 2006 to be
classified as a financing activity.

On November 10, 2005, the FASB issued FSP 123(R)-3, Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of
Share-Based Payment Awards, which provides a practical transition election for calculating the pool of excess income tax
benefits. In 2006, the Company elected to adopt the simplified method presented in this FSP for determining the initial pool of
excess tax benefits available to absorb tax deficiencies related to stock-based compensation subsequent to the adoption of SFAS
123(R).

Pro Forma Disclosures for the Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
Pursuant to the requirements of SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure

(SFAS 148), the Company continues to provide the following disclosure for income statement periods presented prior to the
adoption of SFAS 123(R). The following table provides a reconciliation for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 that
adds back to reported net income the recorded expense under APB 25, net of related income tax effects, deducts the total fair
value expense under SFAS 123, net of related income tax effects, and shows the reported and pro forma earnings per share
amounts:

Twelve Months Ended

December 31,
2005

December 31,
2004

Net income, as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $182,839 $156,901
Total stock-based employee compensation cost included in the determination of net income, net of

related tax effects . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,823 7,229
Total stock-based employee compensation cost determined under fair value method for all awards,

net of related tax effects . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (8,085) (7,254)

Pro forma net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $183,577 $156,876

*Earnings per share:
Basic, as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.42 $ 2.11
Basic, pro forma . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.43 $ 2.11

Diluted, as reported . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.36 $ 2.05
Diluted, pro forma . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2.36 $ 2.05

* Earnings per share amounts for 2004 have been restated to reflect the three-for-two stock split on October 17, 2005.
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19. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS (Continued)

Fair Value Calculations by Award

Restricted Stock

Restricted stock granted under the 1994 and 2004 Plans generally vests upon completion of a three-year period. The fair
value of each share granted is equal to the share price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. During 2006, 2005 and 2004,
16,761, 30,000, and 45,000 restricted shares were granted at a weighted average price of $39.61, $34.06, and $28.98,
respectively, per share. As of December 31, 2006, there was $0.8 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to the
Company’s outstanding restricted stock. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.6 years. The
total intrinsic value of restricted stock outstanding was $3.8 million, $4.7 million and $3.9 million at December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively. The total fair value of restricted stock that vested during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004 was $0.8 million, $0.7 million and $0.8 million, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company
canceled 8,217 common shares to pay the minimum withholding tax requirements on the participants’ behalf.

A summary of the non-vested shares related to the Company’s restricted stock plans as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2006 is presented below:

2006

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average Grant

Date Fair
Value

Non-vested Restricted Shares at January 1, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 75,000 $31.01
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,761 $39.61
Vested . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (30,000) $27.72

Non-vested Restricted Shares at December 31, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61,761 $34.94

Performance Shares

The Company’s performance shares generally vest upon completion of a three-year period. The number of shares, if any,
that are ultimately awarded is contingent upon total shareholder return versus selected peer group companies. Under APB 25,
the Company’s performance shares were expensed using the closing market price of the Company’s common stock at each
reporting date, adjusted for an estimate of the ultimate number of shares to be issued. Under SFAS 123(R), the performance
share payout is based on a market condition, as such, awards granted after January 1, 2006 are valued by an independent third
party using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The model generates the fair value of the award at the grant date and compensation
expense is not subsequently adjusted for the number of shares that are ultimately awarded. The fair value of awards granted
prior to 2006 is equal to the share price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant adjusted for an estimate of the ultimate
number of shares to be issued. The 1994 and 2004 Plans allow for the cash settlement of performance share awards to pay the
minimum required withholding tax.

During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, $3.9 million and $2.2 million in cash was used to pay the minimum
withholding tax requirements in lieu of receiving common shares, respectively. In 2006, 2005 and 2004, 259,000, 231,788 and
209,925 common shares of Company stock were reserved for contingent performance shares, with grant-date fair values of
$36.25, $32.27, and $27.72, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, there was $5.8 million of unrecognized compensation cost
related to the Company’s performance share awards. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of
1.6 years. The total intrinsic value of outstanding performance shares at December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $23.2 million,
$24.5 million and $19.0 million, respectively. The total fair value of shares that vested during the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 was $5.8 million, $5.1 million and $3.3 million, respectively.

F-35



RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Dollar amounts in thousands unless otherwise stated)

19. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS (Continued)

Expected volatility, dividend yield and beta were estimated using daily returns on the Company’s common stock for the
three-year period ending on the grant date. The following chart provides a tabular overview of the assumptions used by an
independent third party in calculating the fair value of the awards granted in 2006:

2006

Expected volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21.2%
Expected market risk-premium . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.5%
Dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.4%
Risk-free rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.4%
Beta . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.92

A summary of the status of the Company’s outstanding performance share plans as of and for the year ended December 31,
2006 is presented below:

2006

Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Outstanding Performance Shares at January 1, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 614,795 $24.05
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 148,000 $36.25
Shares Distributed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (272,420) $17.22
Performance Adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 74,172 $32.27

Outstanding Performance Shares at December 31, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 564,547 $31.62

Non-Qualified Employee Stock Options

The exercise price of each non-qualified stock option granted under both the 1994 and 2004 plans is equal to the closing
market price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. Under the 1994 plan, the maximum term is 10 years and two days
from the date of grant while under the 2004 Plan; the maximum term is 10 years from the grant date. Awards vest ratably over
three years. Under APB 25, no compensation expense was recorded for stock options. Under SFAS 123(R), the fair value of
each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The expected volatility is
based on historical volatility for each grant and is calculated using the change in the daily market price of the Company’s
common stock over the expected life of the award. The expected life is based on prior exercise behavior. The Company has
elected to value each grant in total and recognize the expense for stock options on a straight-line basis. The following chart
provides a tabular overview of the weighted average assumptions and related fair value calculations of options granted for the
three years ended December 31:

2006 2005 2004

Expected volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30.2% 31.0% 31.8%
Dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.6% 5.1% 5.4%
Risk-free rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.3% 3.9% 3.8%
Expected life (in years) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.3 6.7 6.7
Fair value per share of options granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 9.03 $ 6.62 $ 5.47
Fair value of options granted (in thousands of dollars) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3,600 $3,484 $1,272
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19. INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS (Continued)

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plans as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 is presented
below:

2006

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
(per common

share)

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(in thousands)

Options outstanding at January 1, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,687,958 $20.50
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 398,650 $41.32
Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (611,429) $17.62
Canceled . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,925) $33.91

Options outstanding at December 31, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,469,254 $23.38 5.8 $61,429

Options vested and expected to vest as of December 31, . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,431,666 $23.24 5.8 $61,222

Options exercisable at December 31, . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,683,987 $19.51 5.0 $57,814

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $14.7 million,
$18.9 million and $17.5 million, respectively. The total fair value of options that vested during the years ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004 was $2.9 million, $3.4 million and $4.1 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, there was $2.4
million of unrecognized compensation cost related to the Company’s stock options. This cost is expected to be recognized over
a weighted average period of 1.6 years.

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has four qualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of its employees
and an unfunded plan that provides benefits in excess of amounts allowable under current tax law in the qualified plans.
Employee benefit plan liabilities are calculated using actuarial estimates and management assumptions. These estimates are
based on historical information, along with certain assumptions about future events. Changes in assumptions, as well as changes
in actual experience, could cause the estimates to change.

The FASB issued SFAS 158 in September 2006. This Statement requires recognition of an entity’s over (under) funded
status of defined benefit plans in the statement of financial position. The Statement also requires recognition in other
comprehensive income of certain gains and losses that arise during the period but are deferred under current pension accounting
rules. On December 31, 2006, the Company recognized the net underfunded status of its defined benefit pension plans in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

The following table illustrates the incremental effect of adopting SFAS 158 on individual line items in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2006:

Consolidated Balance Sheet Description
Before Adoption

of SFAS 158 Adjustment
After Adoption

of SFAS 158

Assets
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 52,392 (34,946) $ 17,446
Total Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,997,828 (34,946) $1,962,882

Liabilities
Accrued payroll and benefits liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — 4,073 $ 4,073
Deferred income tax liability (asset) * . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 10,247 (22,870) $ (12,623)
Pension and other postretirement benefits liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 35,542 36,666 $ 72,208

Shareholders’ Equity
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (3,123) (52,815) $ (55,938)
Total Shareholders’ Equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 969,077 (52,815) $ 916,262
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,997,828 (34,946) $1,962,882

* In compliance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, the Company nets its deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities. This table presents only the portion of net deferred taxes related to the pension and postretirement plans.
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

The following tables set forth the change in projected benefit obligation and plan assets and reconcile the funded status and
the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the pension and postretirement benefit plans for the years ended
December 31:

Pension Postretirement

2006 2005 2006 2005

Change in Projected Benefit Obligation
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $244,057 $215,850 $ 40,073 $ 37,642
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,408 6,973 640 613
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,988 13,173 2,470 2,157
Actuarial (gain) loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,278) 15,760 (587) 3,988
Plan amendments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 2,333 5,520 —
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,120) (10,032) (2,762) (4,327)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $251,055 $244,057 $ 45,354 $ 40,073

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $205,775 $169,394 $ — $ —
Actual return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,762 19,421 — —
Employer contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,588 27,497 2,762 4,327
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,120) (10,032) (2,762) (4,327)
Other expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (431) (505) — —

Fair value of plan assets at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $237,574 $205,775 $ — $ —

Reconciliation of Funded Status at End of Year
Funded status . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (13,481) $ (38,282) $(45,354) $(40,073)
Unrecognized prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . N/A 10,533 N/A 3,149
Unrecognized actuarial net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . N/A 66,640 N/A 20,751
Unrecognized net transition asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . N/A — N/A —

Net prepaid /(accrued) benefit cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (13,481) $ 38,891 $(45,354) $(16,173)

Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets Consist of:

Noncurrent assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17,446 $ 49,777 $ — $ —
Current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (779) — (3,294) —
Noncurrent liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (30,148) (33,414) (42,060) (16,173)
Intangible asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . N/A 1,337 N/A —
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . N/A 21,191 N/A —

Net amount recognized . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (13,481) $ 38,891 $(45,354) $(16,173)

Actuarial gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that have not yet been included in pension expense as of
December 31, 2006 have been recognized as a component of ending AOCI as follows:

Pension Postretirement

2006 2006

Prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (9,036) $ (7,892)
Net losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (43,933) (18,855)
Deferred income benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,250 8,528

AOCI . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(37,719) $(18,219)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all of the Company’s defined benefit plans was $232,902 and $224,962 at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

For pension and postretirement plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets, the following table sets
forth the projected and accumulated benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for the years ended December 31:

2006 2005

Benefit obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $66,599 $131,777
Accumulated benefit obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $16,933 $112,682
Fair value of plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 87,017

The following tables set forth the components of net pension and postretirement benefit cost that have been recognized
during the three years ended December 31:

Pension Postretirement

2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,409 $ 6,973 $ 6,861 $ 640 $ 613 $ 607
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,988 13,173 12,202 2,470 2,157 1,950
Expected return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (16,562) (14,298) (13,095) — — —
Amortization of prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,497 1,421 1,504 777 283 283
Amortization of losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,659 4,791 3,141 1,310 1,040 745
Amortization of transition asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (2) — — —

Net periodic benefit cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 11,991 $ 12,060 $ 10,611 $5,197 $4,093 $3,585

Additional Information
Pension

2006 2005 2004

(Decrease)/increase in minimum liability included in accumulated
other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(13,339) $(16,323) $ 217

The estimated pre-tax net loss and prior service cost for the defined benefit pension plans that will be amortized from
AOCI into net periodic benefit cost in 2007 are $4.0 million and $1.5 million, respectively. The estimated pre-tax net loss and
prior service cost for the defined benefit postretirement plans that will be amortized from AOCI into net periodic benefit cost in
2007 are $1.3 million and $0.8 million, respectively.

The following table sets forth the principal assumptions inherent in the determination of benefit obligations and net
periodic benefit cost of the pension and postretirement benefit plans as of December 31:

Pension Postretirement

2006 2005 2006 2005

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:
Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.00% 5.75% 6.00% 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.50% 4.50% — —

Assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31:
Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.75% 6.00% 5.75% 6.00%
Expected long-term return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.50% 8.50% — —
Rate of compensation increase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.50% 4.50% — —

At December 31, 2006, the plans’ discount rate increased from 5.75 percent to 6.0 percent, which closely approximates
interest rates on high quality, long-term obligations. Effective January 1, 2007, the expected return on plan assets remained at
8.5 percent which is based on historical long-term rates of return on broad equity and bond indices and consideration of the
actual annualized rate of return since the Company’s spin-off from ITT in 1994. The Company’s external consultants utilize this
information in developing assumptions for returns, risks and correlation of asset classes which is then used to establish the asset
allocation ranges.
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS (Continued)

The following table sets forth the assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31:

Postretirement

2006 2005

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9.00% 9.00%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.75% 4.75%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2012 2011

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the postretirement benefit plans.
The following table shows the effect of a one percentage point change in assumed health care cost trends:

1 Percent

Effect on: Increase Decrease

Total of service and interest cost components . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 84 $ (73)
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $977 $(857)

Investment of Plan Assets

The Company’s pension plans’ asset allocation at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and target allocation ranges by asset
category are as follows:

Percentage of Plan Assets Target
Allocation

RangeAsset Category 2006 2005

Domestic Equity Securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39.1% 39.9% 40-45%
International Equity Securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27.3% 27.3% 20-30%
Domestic Fixed Income Securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25.1% 25.0% 25-30%
International Fixed Income Securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.6% 4.3% 4-6%
Real Estate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.9% 3.5% 2-4%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100%

The Rayonier Pension Fund Trust and Investment Committee and the Finance Committee of the Board of Directors oversee
the pension plans’ investment program which is designed to maximize returns and provide sufficient liquidity to meet plan
obligations while maintaining acceptable risk levels. The investment approach emphasizes diversification by allocating the
plans’ assets among asset categories and selecting investment managers whose various styles will be minimally correlative with
each other. Investments within the equity categories may include large capitalization, small capitalization and emerging market
securities, while the international fixed income portfolio may include emerging markets debt. Pension assets did not include a
direct investment in Rayonier common stock at December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Cash Flows

Expected benefit payments in future years are as follows:
Pension
Benefits

Postretirement
Benefits

2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $11,574 $ 3,294
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $12,358 $ 3,347
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $13,274 $ 3,300
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,238 $ 3,424
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $15,118 $ 3,525
2012 -2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $90,301 $17,762

The Company anticipates making discretionary pension contributions of approximately $10 million in 2007.
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Defined Contribution Plans

The Company also provides defined contribution plans to all of its hourly and salaried employees. Company contributions
charged to expense for these plans were $2.6 million, $2.5 million, and $2.5 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Rayonier Hourly and Salaried Defined Contribution Plans include Rayonier common stock with a fair market value of $73.2
million and $77.7 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The Company closed enrollment in its pension and postretirement medical plans to salaried employees hired after
December 31, 2005. These salaried employees are immediately eligible to participate in the Company’s 401(k) plan and receive
an enhanced contribution. Company contributions charged to expense in 2006 related to this enhancement totaled $0.1 million.

21. QUARTERLY RESULTS FOR 2006 and 2005 (UNAUDITED)

(Thousands of dollars, except per share amounts) Quarter Ended Total
YearMarch 31 June 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31

2006
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $277,153 $312,122 $312,029 $328,503 $1,229,807
Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,299 58,745(1) 65,748 67,804(2) 229,596
Net Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,304 42,778(1) 55,036 55,300(2) 176,418
Basic EPS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.31 0.56 0.71 0.72 2.30
Diluted EPS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.30 0.55 0.70 0.71 2.26

2005*
Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $274,972 $290,287 $299,537 $315,912 $1,180,708
Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47,308 48,902 50,955 72,995(6) 220,160
Net Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 34,459(3) 16,876(4) 75,018(5) 56,486(6) 182,839
Basic EPS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.46 0.22 0.99 0.75 2.42
Diluted EPS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.45 0.22 0.96 0.73 2.36

* First quarter 2005 sales and operating income have been restated to exclude the MDF discontinued operation.
(1) Second quarter 2006 included a $7.8 million pre-tax ($6.5 million after-tax) gain from the sale of a portion of the

New Zealand JV.
(2) Fourth quarter 2006 included a $4.9 million pre-tax gain ($3.1 million after-tax gain) from a property tax settlement and a

tax benefit for prior years’ IRS audit settlement and adjustment to deferred taxes of $5.1 million.
(3) First quarter 2005 included a tax benefit for prior years’ IRS audit settlement of $9.5 million.
(4) Second quarter 2005 included tax benefit for prior years’ IRS audit settlement of $7.2 million and a loss on discontinued

operations of $24.7 million.
(5) Third quarter 2005 included a tax benefit of $25.8 million associated with the repatriation of foreign earnings; tax benefits

and adjustment of accrued interest expense/income of $8.2 million resulting from IRS audit settlements; and a favorable
non-operating income adjustment of $5.2 million resulting from an arbitration award.

(6) Fourth quarter 2005 included a $37.0 million pre-tax ($30.5 million after-tax) gain on the sale of New Zealand timberlands
to the JV.

22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Northwest U.S. Wood Products Trading Operations

In February 2007, the Company decided to close its wood products trading business, International Wood Products (IWP),
headquartered in Portland, Oregon. IWP is part of the Company’s Other segment operations. Management expects the closure to
be completed in the second quarter of 2007, which will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Dividend Declaration

On February 27, 2007, the Company announced a first quarter dividend of 47 cents per share payable March 30, 2007, to
shareholders of record on March 9, 2007.
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Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
(In Thousands)

Description

Balance at
Beginning of

Year

Charged to
Cost and
Expenses Deductions (1)

Balance at
End of Year

Year ended December 31, 2006
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,158 $ (604) $ 6 $ 560
Maintenance accrual . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 17,127 (17,127) —

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,158 $16,523 $(17,121) $ 560

Year ended December 31, 2005
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,271 $ 298 $ (411) $1,158
Maintenance accrual . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 10,608 (10,608) —

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,271 $10,906 $(11,019) $1,158

Year ended December 31, 2004
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,225 $ 57 $ (1,011) $1,271
Maintenance accrual . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,526 17,275 (18,801) —

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3,751 $17,332 $(19,812) $1,271

(1) Primarily collections, payments and adjustments to required reserves.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
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By: /s/ HANS E. VANDEN NOORT

Hans E. Vanden Noort
Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

February 27, 2007

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
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February 27, 2007
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February 27, 2007

*
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Director

*
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*
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Director

*
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No. Description Location

2.1 Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement
dated December 18, 2003 by and among Rayonier Inc.,
Rayonier Timberlands Operating Company, L.P.,
Rayonier Timberlands, L.P., Rayonier Timberlands
Management, LLC, Rayonier Forest Resources, LLC,
Rayland, LLC, Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., Rayonier
Minerals, LLC, Rayonier Forest Properties, LLC,
Rayonier Wood Products, LLC, Rayonier Wood
Procurement, LLC, Rayonier International Wood
Products, LLC, Rayonier Forest Operations, LLC,
Rayonier Properties, LLC and Rayonier Performance
Fibers, LLC

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s January 15, 2004 Form 8-K

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s June 30, 2004 Form 10-Q

3.2 By-Laws Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Registrant’s May 24, 2006 Form 8-K

4.1 Note Purchase Agreement dated as of October 25, 1999
between Rayonier Timberlands Operating Company,
L.P. and Timber Capital Holdings LLC.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Registrant’s September 30, 1999 Form 10-Q

4.2 Form S-4 Registration Statement Incorporated by referenced to the Registrant’s
April 26, 2004 S-4 Filing

4.3 Amendment No. 1 to Form S-4 Registration Statement Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s
May 6, 2004 S-4/A Filing

10.1 Rayonier 1994 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s June 30, 2006 Form 10-Q

10.2 Form of Rayonier 1994 Incentive Stock Non-qualified
Stock Option Award Agreement*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 1995 Form 10-K

10.3 Rayonier Inc. Executive Severance Pay Plan (f/k/a
Rayonier Supplemental Senior Executive Severance Pay
Plan)*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s September 30, 2005 Form 10-Q

10.4 Rayonier Investment and Savings Plan for Salaried
Employees*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 1997 Form 10-K

10.5 Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees of Rayonier Inc.
effective as of March 1, 1994, Amended and Restated
January 1, 2000 and Further Amended Through October
19, 2001*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 2001 Form 10-K

10.6 Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees
effective as of January 1, 2002*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form 10-K

10.7 Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees
effective as of January 1, 2003*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form 10-K

10.8 Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees
effective as of January 1, 2004 dated October 10, 2003*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form 10-K

10.9 Amendment to Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees
effective as of January 1, 2004 dated December 15,
2003*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form 10-K

10.10 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Rayonier
Inc. and its Directors and Officers*

Filed herewith



Exhibit
No. Description Location

10.11 Rayonier Inc. Excess Benefit Plan* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 1993 Form 10-K

10.12 Amendment to Rayonier Inc. Excess Benefit Plan dated
August 18, 1997*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 1997 Form 10-K

10.13 Form of Rayonier Inc. Excess Savings and Deferred
Compensation Plan Agreements*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 1995 Form 10-K

10.14 Rayonier Inc. Excess Savings and Deferred
Compensation Plan*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 1997 Form 10-K

10.15 Rayonier 2004 Incentive Stock and Management Bonus
Plan, as amended*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s June 30, 2006 Form 10-Q

10.16 Form of Rayonier 2004 Incentive Stock and
Management Bonus Plan Non-Qualified Stock Option
Award Agreement*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form 10-K

10.17 Form of Rayonier 2004 Incentive Stock and
Management Bonus Plan Restricted Share Award
Agreement*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form 10-K

10.18 Description of 2004 Rayonier Incentive Stock and
Management Bonus Plan Performance Share Awards*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 2003 Form 10-K

10.19 Split-Dollar Life Insurance Agreement dated June 22,
1994 between Rayonier Inc. and Ronald M. Gross*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s June 30, 1994 Form 10-Q

10.20 Amendment to Split-Dollar Life Insurance Agreement,
dated July 22, 1997*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 1997 Form 10-K

10.21 Deferred Compensation / Supplemental Retirement
Agreement dated June 28, 1994 between Rayonier Inc.
and Ronald M. Gross*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s June 30, 1994 Form 10-Q

10.22 Amendment to Deferred Compensation /
Supplemental Retirement Agreement, dated July 22,
1997*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 1997 Form 10-K

10.23 Consulting Agreement dated October 19, 1998 between
Rayonier Inc. and Ronald M. Gross*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 1998 Form 10-K

10.24 Form of Rayonier Outside Directors Compensation
Program/Cash Deferral Option Agreement*

Filed herewith

10.25 Change in Control Agreement for W. Lee Nutter.* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the
Registrant’s September 30, 2001, Form 10-Q

10.26 Retention Agreement dated March 21, 2006 with Paul G.
Boynton*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s March 24, 2006 Form 8-K

10.27 Trust Agreement for the Rayonier Inc. Legal Resources
Trust*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 2001 Form 10-K

10.28 Trust Agreement for the Rayonier Inc. Supplemental
Senior Executive Severance Pay Plan and the Change in
Control Agreement for W. Lee Nutter Executive
Severance Trust*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 2001 Form 10-K

10.29 Description of Rayonier Key Executive Insurance
Program f/k/a Rayonier Split-Dollar Life Insurance/
Deferred Compensation Retention Benefit Program*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the
Registrant’s December 31, 2002 Form 10-K

10.30 Annual Corporate Bonus Program* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s March 3, 2006 Form 8-K



Exhibit
No. Description Location

10.31 Master Shareholder Agreement in Relation to Matariki
Forests, dated July 15, 2005, by and among SAS Trustee
Corporation, Deutshe Asset Management (Australia)
Limited, Rayonier Canterbury LLC, Rayonier New
Zealand Limited, Cameron and Company Limited,
Matariki Forests Australia Pty Limited, Matariki
Forestry Group and Matariki Forests

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the
Registrant’s June 30, 2005 Form 10-Q

10.32 Agreement for the Sale and Purchase of Assets, dated
July 15, 2005, between Rayonier New Zealand Limited,
as seller, and Matariki Forests, as purchaser

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the
Registrant’s June 30, 2005 Form 10-Q

10.33 Description of Rayonier 2006 Performance Share Award
Program*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s December 14, 2005 Form 8-K

10.34 Five Year Revolving Credit Agreement among Rayonier
Inc., Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc., and Rayonier Forest
Resources, L.P. as borrowers, and the lenders and issuing
banks from time to time parties thereto

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Registrant’s August 10, 2006 Form 8-K

12 Statements re computation of ratios Filed herewith

21 Subsidiaries of the registrant Filed herewith

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm

Filed herewith

24 Powers of attorney Filed herewith

31.1 Chief Executive Officer’s Certification Pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) and pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

31.2 Co-Principal Financial Officer’s Certification Pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14-(a) and pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

31.3 Co-Principal Financial Officer’s Certification Pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14-(a) and pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

32 Certification of Periodic Financial Reports Under
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Furnished herewith

* Management contract or compensatory plan.



EXHIBIT 12

RAYONIER INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(Unaudited, thousands of dollars)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Earnings:
Income from continuing operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $171,083 $207,795 $160,063 $ 53,104 $ 53,742
Add:

Income tax expense (benefit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,055 (16,948) (33,649) 6,083 15,735
Amortization of capitalized interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,004 1,876 2,408 2,501 2,531

192,142 192,723 128,822 61,688 72,008

Adjustments to earnings for fixed charges:
Interest and other financial charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48,905 46,961 46,718 48,738 62,383
Interest factor attributable to rentals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 636 722 476 288 823
Capitalized interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,020 — — — —

50,561 47,683 47,194 49,026 63,206

Earnings as adjusted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $242,703 $240,406 $176,016 $110,714 $135,214

Fixed Charges:
Fixed charges above . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 50,561 $ 47,683 $ 47,194 $ 49,026 $ 63,206

Ratio of earnings as adjusted to total fixed charges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.80 5.04 3.73 2.26 2.14



EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF RAYONIER INC.
As of 12/31/2006

Name of Subsidiary
State/Country of
Incorporation/Organization

Forestal Rayonier Chile Ltd Delaware
Matariki Forests New Zealand
Matariki Forestry Group New Zealand
Rayonier Australia Pty Ltd. South Australia
Rayonier Canterbury, LLC Delaware
Rayonier China Limited Delaware
Rayonier Distribution Corp. Delaware
Rayonier Far East Ltd. Delaware
Rayonier Foreign Sales Corporation U.S. Virgin Islands
Rayonier Forest Management, Inc. Delaware
Rayonier Forest Operations, LLC Delaware
Rayonier Forest Resources, L.P. Delaware
The Rayonier Foundation New York
Rayonier HB Limited New Zealand
Rayonier Industries Ltd. New York
Rayonier International Financial Services Limited New Zealand
Rayonier International Wood Products, LLC Delaware
Rayonier Minerals, LLC Delaware
Rayonier New Zealand Limited New Zealand
Rayonier New Zealand Services Company Delaware
Rayonier NZ Management Limited New Zealand
Rayonier Performance Fibers, LLC Delaware
Rayonier Properties, LLC Delaware
Rayonier Texas, L.P. Texas
Rayonier Timberlands Management, LLC Delaware
Rayonier TRS Holdings Inc. Delaware
Rayonier TRS North Timber, LLC Delaware
Rayonier TRS South Timber, LLC Delaware
Rayonier Wood Procurement, LLC Delaware
Rayonier Wood Products, LLC Delaware
RLA Trading Corporation Delaware
Southern Wood Piedmont Company Delaware
TerraPointe LLC Delaware
TerraPointe Services Inc. Delaware



EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-52857 on Form S-3, Amendment No. 1 to
Registration Statement No. 333-114858 on Form S-4, and in Registration Statement Nos. 333-129175 and 333-129176 on
Forms S-8 of our reports dated February 26, 2007, relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedules of Rayonier Inc. and subsidiaries and management’s report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31,
2006.

Jacksonville, Florida
February 26, 2007



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, W. L. Nutter, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2007

/s/ W. L. NUTTER

W. L. Nutter
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer, Rayonier Inc.



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Hans E. Vanden Noort, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2007

/s/ HANS E. VANDEN NOORT

Hans E. Vanden Noort
Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer, Rayonier Inc.



EXHIBIT 31.3

CERTIFICATION

I, Carl E. Kraus, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2007

/s/ CARL E. KRAUS

Carl E. Kraus
Senior Vice President, Finance, Rayonier Inc.



EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION

The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that
to our knowledge:

1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rayonier Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2006 (the
“Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

February 27, 2007

/s/ W. L. NUTTER /s/ HANS E. VANDEN NOORT /s/ CARL E. KRAUS

W. L. Nutter Hans E. Vanden Noort Carl E. Kraus
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer

Senior Vice President, Finance

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been
provided to Rayonier and will be retained by Rayonier and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.







Send certifi cates for transfer and address changes to The 
Bank of New York, Receive and Deliver Department, PO Box 
11002, Church Street Station, New York, NY 10286-1002.

Investor Relations Program
For questions concerning your common shares other than 
those noted above, write or call the Investor Relations 
Department, Rayonier, 50 North Laura Street, Jacksonville, 
FL 32202. Telephone, 904-357-9100. You may also e-mail us 
at investorrelations@rayonier.com.

Additional copies of this Annual Report and copies of 
Rayonier’s Form 10-K (without exhibits) are available, at no 
charge, upon request from the Investor Relations Department 
noted above. You may also request these materials by calling 
toll free, 800-RYN-7611.

In order to reduce costs and expedite the delivery of 
information to shareholders, Rayonier does not automatically 
mail quarterly reports to shareholders. You can listen to a 
recording of our most recent fi nancial results and request 
a copy by fax or mail, by calling 800-RYN-7611. Quarterly 
results are available the same day they are announced.

Web Sites
Visit us online at www.rayonier.com for more information 
about our businesses, products and services, and governance 
practices as well as to access our 2006 Annual Report, press 
releases, earnings and dividend news, SEC fi lings, and 
information on upcoming events.

For information on transfer agent-related services, including 
frequently asked questions, visit The Bank of New York’s Web 
site at www.stockbny.com.

Annual Meeting
The Annual Meeting of Rayonier Shareholders will be held at 
4 p.m., Thursday, May 17, 2007, at the Omni Hotel, 245 Water 
Street, Jacksonville, FL.
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 Corporate Headquarters
Rayonier 
50 North Laura Street
Jacksonville, FL 32202
904-357-9100
www.rayonier.com

About Your Shares
Rayonier common shares are listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange under the ticker symbol RYN. 

Shareholders of Record
Rayonier had 11,589 shareholders of record as of March 1, 
2007.

Common Stock Activity
   Composite 

 High Low Volume 000s Dividend

2006
Fourth Quarter 42.19 37.68 18804 $.47
Third Quarter 40.78 36.45 24213 .47
Second Quarter 47.50 36.15 35381 .47
First Quarter 46.07 39.70 18421 .47

2005*
Fourth Quarter 41.68 34.00 23582 $.47
Third Quarter 38.65 34.79 25405 .41
Second Quarter 36.67 32.27 26015 .41
First Quarter 33.97 29.01 36550 .41
* Restated to refl ect the October 17, 2005 three-for-two stock split.

Dividend Reinvestment
The Rayonier Inc. Automatic Dividend Reinvestment and Cash 
Payment Plan is available to all registered shareholders. 
For information on how to participate, contact The Bank of New 
York, 800-659-0158. Outside the U.S., call collect, 
212-815-3700.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
For essential services such as change of address, lost 
certifi cates or dividend checks, or change in registered 
ownership, write or call The Bank of New York, Shareholder 
Relations Department, PO Box 11258, Church Street Station, 
New York, NY 10286-1258. Telephone, 800-659-0158. 
Outside the U.S., call collect, 212-815-3700. You may also 
e-mail them at shareowners@bankofny.com.

Please include your name, address, account number and 
telephone number with all correspondence.
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